
---- ----

Health Innovation Subcommittee 

Richard Corcoran 
Speaker 

Monday, March 27, 2017 
12:30 PM-3:00PM 

Mashburn Hall 

Marylynn Magar 
Chair 



Start Date and Time: 

End Date and Time: 

Location: 

Duration: 

Committee Meeting Notice 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

Health Innovation Subcommittee 

Monday, March 27, 2017 12:30 pm 

Monday, March 27, 2017 03:00pm 

Mashburn Hall (306 HOB) 

2.50 hrs 

Consideration of the following bill(s): 

HB 569 Medical Records by Fitzenhagen 

HB 579 Payment of Health Care Claims by Hager 

HB 877 Health Insurer Authorization by Harrison 

HB 1077 Trauma Services by Trumbull 

HB 1191 Medication Synchronization by Cruz 

Pursuant to rule 7 .11, the deadline for amendments to bills on the agenda by non-appointed members shall 
be 6:00p.m., Friday, March 24, 2017. 

By request of the Chair, all committee members are asked to have amendments to bills on the agenda 
submitted to staff by 6:00p.m ., Friday, March 24, 2017. 

NOTICE FINALIZED on 03/23/2017 4:06PM by Ellerkamp.Donna 

03/23/2017 4:06:51PM Leagis ® Page 1 of 1 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 569 Medical Records 
SPONSOR(S): Fitzenhagen 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 826 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee Siples 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

Under both federal and state law, a health care facility or health care practitioner is authorized to charge a 
patient for the costs associated with the reproduction of the patient's medical records. Federal law provides 
that a reasonable , cost-based fee may be charged . Florida law specifies the fee that certain health care 
facilities may charge. However, it does not specify the fee that health care practitioners may charge but 
provides that it may be no more than the actual cost of copying, including labor costs . Additionally, the 
Department of Health (DOH) and regulatory boards are authorized to specify a fee by administrative rule . 

HB 569 establishes guidelines for fees a licensed health care facility and a health care practitioner may charge 
for the reproduction of patient medical records, aligning Florida law with federal law. 

The bill repeals the current statutory fee a licensed health care facility may charge for the reproduction of 
medical records and authorizes a licensed facility to determine the charge for production of such records. 
However, the charge for production of physical copies or for the digital scanning of such records and reports 
may not exceed a reasonable fee based on the actual costs of copying, including labor, supplies, and postage. 

A licensed health facility may charge a flat fee of no more than $6.50 to provide an electronic copy of patient 
records and reports that are maintained electronically. The flat fee includes all labor, supplies, and applicable 
postage. The bill authorizes a health care practitioner to include the cost of labor and postage in its fee for 
reproducing or for the digital scanning of medical records. The bill also provides a health care practitioner the 
option of charging a flat fee of no more than $6.50 for providing an electronic copy of patient records and 
reports that are maintained electronically. The flat fee includes all labor, supplies, and applicable postage. 

In addition to current persons having access to medical records, the bill authorizes a licensed facility to release 
copies of patient records and reports to the patient's attorney. The bill authorizes a health care practitioner to 
release copies of medical records or reports to a patient's guardian, curator, attorney, or personal 
representative, or in the absence of such person, to the next of kin of a decedent or the parent of the minor, or 
to any other person designated in writing by the patient. 

The bill repeals the authority of the regulatory boards or the DOH to promulgate rules establishing a fee for the 
reproduction of medical records or reports . 

The bill may have an indeterminate, insignificant fiscal impact on the DOH, and no fiscal impact on local 
government. 

The bill provides that the act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Present Situation 

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act 

The federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), enacted in 1996, protects 
personal health information (PH1). 1 In 2000, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 
promulgated privacy rules which established national standards to protect medical records and other 
PHI. 2 These rules address, among other things, the use and disclosure of an individual's PHI. 

Only certain entities are subject to HIPAA's provisions . These "covered entities" include: 

• Health plans; 
• Health care providers; 
• Health care clearinghouses; and 
• Business associates of any of the above.3 

HIPAA requires the disclosure of an individual 's PHI to the individual who is the subject of the PHI 
information or his or her personal representative ,4 upon his or her request. 5 Under HIPAA, if an 
individual requests a copy of his or her PHI or a summary or explanation of such information, a covered 
entity may charge a reasonable, cost-based fee, provided the fee includes only the cost of: 

• Labor for copying the PHI , whether in paper or electronic form ; 
• Supplies for creating the paper copy or electronic media if the individual requests that the 

electronic copy be provided on portable media; 
• Postage, when the individual has requested the copy, or summary or explanation , be mailed; 

and 
• Preparing an explanation or summary of the PHI.6 

The fee may not include costs associated with verification ; documentation; searching for and retrieving 
personal health information; maintaining systems; or recouping capital for data access, storage, or 
infrastructure or other costs listed above, even if such costs are authorized by state law. 7 

A covered entity may charge individuals a flat fee for all requests for electronic copies of PHI 
maintained electronically, inclusive of all labor, supplies, and any applicable postage. The flat fee may 
not exceed $6.50.8 The flat fee is an option for entities that do not want to go through the process of 

1 Pub. L. No. 104-191 {1996). Protected health information includes all individually identifiable health information held or transmitted by 
a covered entity or its business associate. 
2 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Health Information Privacy, available at https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for
~rofess ional s/privacylindex.html {last visited March 23, 2017). The rules were modified in 2002 . 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office for Civil Rights, Summary of the HIPAA Privacy Rule, {last rev. May 2003), 
available at https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/privacysummarv.pdf. 
4 Supra, FN 2. A personal representative is generally a person with authority under state law to make health care decisions on behalf of 
an individual. 
5 Supra , FN 3. HIPAA limits the access to psychotherapy notes, certain lab results, and information compiled for legal proceedings. A 
covered entity may also deny access to personal health information in certain situations, such as when a health care practitioner 
believes access could cause harm to the individual or others. 
6 45 C.F.R. s. 164.524(c)(4). 
7 

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Individuals' Right under HIPAA to Access their Health Information 45CFR§ 164.524, 
available at https://www.hhs.gov/hipaa/for-professionals/privacy/qu idance/access/#maximumflatfee (last visited March 23, 2017). 
8 ld. 
STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS PAGE: 2 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



calculating actual or average allowable costs for requests for electronic copies of PHI maintained 
electronically. 

A covered entity must inform an individual of the approximate fees to be charged , in advance of 
completing the request. 9 Access to the individual 's personal health records must be provided in a form 
or format requested by the individual if it is readily producible in such form or format, and must 
generally be provided within 30 days of the request. 10 Under HIPAA, a covered entity must generally 
obtain an individual's written authorization to disclose PHI; however, there are circumstances in which a 
covered entity may release records without authorization .11 

In general, HIPAA privacy rules preempt any state law that is contrary to its provisions.12 However, if 
the state law is more stringent, the state law will apply. 

Access to Medical Records in Florida 

Medical Records Held by Licensed Facilities 

Licensed hospitals, ambulatory surgical centers, and mobile surgical centers must timely provide a true 
and correct copy of a patient's records in its possession upon the request of the patient for such 
records, in writing , after the patient's discharge.13 The records may also be released to the patient's 
guardian, curator, or personal representative, or in the absence of one of those persons, to the next of 
kin of a decedent or the parent of the minor, or to any other person designated in writing by such 
patient. 

The fee a licensed facility may charge for the reproduction of medical records is determined by 
statute. 14 For reproduction of paper records, the fee is limited to $1.00 per page, plus sales tax and 
actual postage. A licensed facility may charge no more than $2.00 for a non-paper record. A fee of up 
to $1.00 may be charged for each year of records requested. These charges apply to all records 
furnished directly from the licensed facility or by a copy service on behalf of the facility. If a patient 
requests medical records so that he or she can continue receiving medical care, a licensed facility may 
not charge a patient for copying or searching for the records.15 A licensed facility must also allow a 
patient to review his or her original records in a manner that will ensure records will not be damaged, 
destroyed, or altered. 

Although patient medical records are confidential, licensed facilities may disclose patient medical 
records without the patient's consent in certain circumstances, such as pursuant to a subpoena, to 
facility personnel involved in the care or treatment of the patient, or to certain state agencies required to 
review patient medical records to fulfill a statutory obligation. 16 

Medical Records Held by Health Care Practitioners 

A licensed health care practitioner17 who provides care or treatment to an individual must provide a 
copy of the patient medical records it has in its possession to the patient upon the request of the patient 

9 Supra, FN 2. 
10 45 C.F.R. s . 164.524. 
11 Supra, FN 3. For example, PHI may be released without a patient's authorization for public health activities, law enforcement 
p

2
urposes, or for certain victims of abuse, neglect, or domestic violence. 
45 C.F.R. s. 160.203. 

13 S. 395 .3025 , F .S. This does not apply to facilities that primarily provide psychiatric care or certain clinical records created at any 
licensed facility concerning certain mental health or substance abuse services. 
14 S. 395 .3025(1 ), F.S. 
15 ld . 
16 S. 395.3025(4), F.S. 
17 A health care practitioner is any person licensed under ch . 457, F.S., (acupuncture); ch. 458 , F.S., (medical practice); ch. 459, F.S., 
(osteopathic medicine); ch . 460 , F.S., (chiropractic medicine); ch. 461 , F.S ., (podiatric medicine); ch . 462 , F.S., (naturopathy); ch. 463, 
F.S., (optometry); ch . 464, F.S., (nursing); ch. 465 , F.S. , (pharmacy); ch . 466, F.S. , (dentistry, dental hygiene, and dental laboratories); 
ch . 467 , F.S., (midwifery); part I, part II , part Ill , part V, part X, part XIII , or part XIV of ch. 468, F.S., (speech language pathology and 
STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



or his or her legal representative. 18 The patient's medical records must be released without delay for 
legal review. 

Although patient medical records are confidential, a practitioner may disclose patient medical records 
without the patient's consent in certain circumstances, such as pursuant to a subpoena, to a person 
who has furnished such care or treatment with the patient's consent, or to a regional poison control 
center for the purpose of treating and managing a poison episode.19 

Although Florida law does not specify the fee a health care practitioner may charge for the reproduction 
of patient medical records, it does provide that a practitioner may charge no more than the actual costs 
of copying, including reasonable staff time, or the amount specified in administrative rule by the 
appropriate regulatory board, or the Department of Health (DOH) if there is no board. This applies 
regardless of whether it is a paper record or the record is made available for digital scanning.20 The 
Board of Medicine (Allopathic Board) and the Board of Osteopathic Medicine (Osteopathic Board) have 
promulgated rules related to the fees its licensees may charge for the duplication of patient medical 
records. 

Florida Board of Osteopathic Medicine Rule 

The Osteopathic Board promulgated a rule that limits the fee an osteopathic physician may charge to 
$1.00 per page for the first 25 pages, and no more than 25 cents for each subsequent page, regardless 
of the requestor. 21 The rule further requires that a physician must comply with a patient's written 
request for records within 30 days of such request unless, there are circumstances beyond the 
physician 's control that prevents such compliance. The rule authorizes a physician to charge the actual 
cost for reproducing certain documents, such as x-rays and other special kinds of records.22 Actual 
costs include the materials, supplies, labor, and overhead costs associated with such duplication. 

Florida Board of Medicine Rule 

The Allopathic Board promulgated a rule that encourages allopathic physicians to provide patients with 
a copy of their medical records free of charge, especially if the patient is disadvantaged.23 However, the 
Allopathic Board recognizes that the cost to reproduce some medical records may be financially 
burdensome on the physician and therefore, limits the fee that may be charged to a patient or 
governmental entity for medical records to $1.00 per page for the first 25 pages, and no more than 25 
cents for each subsequent page. For all other entities, a physician may charge up to $1.00 per page. 
The rule authorizes a physician to charge the actual cost for reproducing certain documents, such as x
rays and other special kinds of records. 24 Actual costs include the materials, supplies, labor, and 
overhead costs associated with such duplication. 

In 2012, the Allopathic Board proposed an amendment to its rule to address the costs of reproduction 
of medical records which were stored in electronic format. 25 The Allopathic Board issued proposed 
language in May 2013, which would have authorized a fee of $1 .00 per page, regardless of format in 
which the medical records were stored. The Allopathic Board held nine public hearings between June 

audiology, nursing home administration, occupational therapy, respiratory therapy, dietetics and nutrition practice, athletic trainers, or 
orthotics, prosthetics, and pedorthics); ch. 478, F.S., (electrolysis); ch. 480, F.S ., (massage practice); part Ill or part IV of ch . 483, F.S. , 
(clinical laboratory personnel or medical physicists); ch. 484, F.S ., (dispensers of optical devices and hearing aids); ch. 486, F.S., 
\~hysical therapy practice); ch. 490, F .S., (psychological services); or ch. 491, F .S., (clinical, counseling, and psychotherapy services). 

S. 456.057, F.S. In lieu of copies of certain medical records related to psychiatric or psychological treatment, a practitioner may 
release a report of examination and treatment. 
19 S. 456.057(7)-(9) F.S. 
20 S. 456.057(17), F.S. 
21 Rule 64815-15.003, F.A.C. 
22 ld. 
23 Rule 6488-10.003, F.A.C. 
24 ld. 
25 38 Fla . Admin. Reg. 61 (October 30, 2012), available at https://www.flrules.org/Gateway!View notice.asp?id=12212705 (last visited 
March 25, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS PAGE: 4 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



2013 and January 2015, and subsequently published a notice of change to the proposed rule in March 
2015.26 The notice of change indicated that based on a written inquiry by the Joint Administrative 
Procedures Committee, the Board needed to revise its Statement of Estimated Regulatory Costs to 
require legislative ratification.27 The notice of change also indicated that overhead costs were deleted 
from the definition of actual costs, postage was added to the definition of overhead costs, and a 
statement was added that accessing medical records through a patient portal does not constitute 
reproduction of medical records. Four petitions challenging the proposed rule as an invalid exercise of 
delegated legislative authority were filed with the Division of Administrative Hearings (DOAH) in 
response.28 

The petitioners alleged the proposed rule increased the costs of reproducing records, violated HIPAA 
which limits the charge to the actual cost of producing copies of medical records, violated s. 
457.057(17), F.S., which limits the charge to the actual cost of copying records, and creates a 
distinction based on the medium in which the copies are produced, was arbitrary and capricious, and 
failed to consider less costly alternatives that substantially accomplish the statutory objectives. A 
hearing on the merits of the case was held in September 2015. 

DOAH upheld the proposed rule, finding that the petitioners failed to present evidence that the 
proposed rule was an invalid exercise of delegated legislative authority. Specifically, the court held that 
s. 457.057(17), F.S., allows a practitioner to charge no more than the actual cost of copying records or 
the amount specified in administrative rule by the appropriate board, or department when there is no 
board. Therefore, the Board was acting pursuant to its delegated legislative authority. Further, the court 
held that the evidence presented failed to establish that the Board exceeded its grant of rulemaking 
authority, that the proposed rule was vague, and that the rule is an invalid exercise of delegated 
legislative authority or is arbitrary or capricious. 29 The decision was appealed to the First District Court 
of Appeals. 

In Au~ust 2016, the Board filed a Motion to Close Case and Relinquish Jurisdiction in the appellate 
case. 0 According to the motion, the Board determined that the proposed rule should be withdrawn and 
the existing rule repealed based on guidance issued by the U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services that clarified the fees that may be charged for the reproduction of medical records under 
HIPAA. In September 2016, the court denied the motion with leave to refile. Oral arguments were held 
on March 21, 2017. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 569 repeals the current fee for reproduction of medical records set by statute and authorizes a 
licensed facility to determine the charge for production of such records in a manner consistent with 
federal law. However, the charge for production of physical copies or for the digital scanning of such 
records and reports may not exceed a reasonable fee based on the actual costs of copying, including: 

• The labor required for copying such records and reports, whether on paper or in electronic 
format. Such labor is limited to the labor for creating and delivering the records or reports in the 

26 41 Fla . Admin Reg . 49 (March 12, 2015), available at https://www.flrules.org/Gateway!View notice.asp?id=15773963 (last visited 
March 25, 2017). 
27 Legislative ratification of agency rules is required if the proposed rule will likely have an adverse impact on economic growth, private 
sector job creation, or private sector investment in excess of $1 million in the aggregate within 5 years of implementation; is likely to 
have an adverse effect on business competitiveness, productivity, or innovation in excess of $1 million in the aggregate within 5 years 
of implementation; or is likely to increase regulatory costs, including transactional costs in excess of $1 million in the aggregate within 5 
~ears of implementation. 

8 The cases were filed by Daniel R. Fernandez (DOAH Case No. 15-1774RP), Dax J. Lonetto, Sr., PLLC (DOAH Case No.15-
1175RP), Florida Justice Association (DOAH Case No.15-1778RP), and Florida Consumer Action Network, Inc. (DOAH Case No. 15-
1794RP). The four cases were consolidated into DOAH Case No. 15-1774-RP. The court granted BACTES Imaging Solutions, Inc., 
HealthPort Technologies, LLC and the Florida Medical Association permission to intervene in the case. 
29 Daniel R. Fernandez, eta!. v. Department of Health, Board of Medicine, Case No. 15-77 4RP (DOAH Dec. 8, 2015 ). 
30 On file with the Health Innovation Subcommittee. 
STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS PAGE: 5 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



format requested or agreed upon by the requestor and does not include the cost of reviewing 
the request or searching for, retrieving, and otherwise preparing the records and reports for 
copying; 

• Supplies used to create a paper copy, or the electronic media necessary to furnish an electronic 
copy on a portable media device; and 

• Postage, if the records are to be mailed at the request of the requestor. 

A facility or entity operating on its behalf may charge a flat fee of no more than $6.50 to provide an 
electronic copy of patient records and reports that are maintained electronically. The flat fee includes all 
labor, supplies, and applicable postage. The fee may not include: 

• Costs associated with the maintenance of systems or data; 
• Capital for data storage and maintenance; 
• Labor associated with complying with the HIPAA privacy rule and other applicable laws; 
• Administrative costs; 
• Costs associated with outsourcing responses to individual requests for patient records and 

reports; and 
• Other costs not associated with the provision of patient medical records. 

The bill authorizes a health care practitioner, or a business operating on behalf of the health 
practitioner, to release copies of medical records or reports to the patient that is the subject of such 
medical records or report. Medical records and reports may also be released to a patient's attorney. 

The bill authorizes a health care practitioner to include in its charge for reproducing medical records, 
the cost of postage. The bill also provides the health care practitioner the option of charging a flat fee of 
no more than $6.50 for providing an electronic copy of patient records and reports that are maintained 
electronically. The flat fee includes all labor, supplies, and applicable postage. This aligns state law with 
federal law. 

In addition to current persons having access to medical records, the bill authorizes a licensed facility to 
release copies of patient records and reports to the attorney of a patient. 

The bill repeals the authority of the regulatory boards or the Department of Health to promulgate rules 
establishing a fee for the reproduction of medical records or reports . 

The bill provides that the act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 395.3025, F.S., relating to patient and personnel records; copies; examination . 
Section 2: Amends s. 456.057, F.S., relating to ownership and control of patient records; report or 

copies of records to be furnished; disclosure of information. 
Section 3: Provides that the act shall take effect upon becoming law. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

To the extent that state entities that provide health care services charge for reproduction of medical 
records, the entities may receive revenue from providing copies of medical records and reports. 

STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 6 



2. Expenditures: 

The Department of Health may incur an insignificant negative fiscal impact to repeal the rules 
related to the fees that may be charge for the reproduction of medical records. To the extent that 
state entities that provide health care services charge for reproduction of medical records, the 
entities may lose revenue if the fee charged includes costs that are not allowed under the 
provisions of the bill. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

If a facility or health care practitioner charges a copying fee that is higher than what is allowable under 
the bill for the reproduction of patient records, this may have a negative economic impact on that facility 
or health care practitioner. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill repeals the rulemaking authority of the regulatory boards and the Department of Health to 
establish fees for the reproduction of medical records, which is no longer necessary as the bill defines, 
in statute, the fees that may be charged . 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h0569.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 7 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 569 2017 

1 A bill to be entit led 

2 An act relating to medical records; amending s . 

3 395 .3025, F.S. ; revising provisions relating to the 

4 reproduction of patient reports o r records by a 

5 hospital, ambulatory surgical center , or mobile 

6 surgical facility ; providing that the fee for 

7 reproduction may not exceed certain specified costs; 

8 authorizing licensed facilities to charge a specified 

9 flat fee for an elec troni c copy of patient records; 

10 amending s . 456.057 , F.S.; revising provisions 

11 relating to the reproduction of pat ient reports or 

12 records by a health care practitioner or records owner 

13 to include businesses operating on behalf of such 

14 practitioner or records owner; providing that the fee 

15 for reproduction may not exceed certain specified 

16 costs or a specified flat fee ; removing rulemaking 

17 authority of a board or department to determine the 

18 cost of reproduction of patient reports or records; 

1 9 providing an effective date . 

20 

21 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State o f Florida: 

22 

23 Section 1 . Subsection (1) of sect ion 395 . 3025 , Florida 

24 Statutes , is amended to read : 

25 395 . 3025 Patient and personnel records ; copies ; 

Page 1 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0569-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 569 2017 

26 examination.-

27 (1 ) (a) Any licensed facility shall, upon written request, 

28 and only after discharge of the patient , furnish, in a timely 

29 manner, without delays for legal review, to any person admitted 

30 therein for care and treatment or treated thereat, or to any 

31 such person's guardian, curator , attorney, or personal 

32 representative, or in the absence of one of those persons, to 

33 the next of kin of a decedent or the parent of a minor, or to 

34 anyone designated by such lis ted persons person in writ ing, a 

35 true and correct copy of all patient records and reports, 

36 including X rays, and insurance information concerning such 

37 person, which records are in the possess i on of the licensed 

38 facility, provided the person requesting such records agrees to 

39 pay a charge , to be determined by the licensed facility. The 

40 exclusive charge for furnishing physical copies of patient 

41 records and reports or making the records and reports available 

42 for digital scanning pursuant to this section may not exceed a 

43 reasonable fee based on the actual cost of copying , inc l uding 

44 the cost of : 

45 1. Labor r equired for copying the patient records and 

46 reports requested by the person , whether on paper or in 

47 electronic form. Labor required f or copying such records and 

48 reports is limited to the labor for creating and delivering the 

49 electronic copy or paper copy in the format requested or agreed 

50 upon by the requestor and does not include the cost of reviewing 

Page 2 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0569-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 569 2017 

51 the request and searching for , retrieving , and otherwise 

52 preparing the records and reports for copying ; 

53 2 . Supplies used to create a paper copy or if requested , 

54 the electronic media necessary to furn i sh an electronic copy on 

55 a portable media device ; and 

56 3 . Postage , if the person requests that the records and 

57 reports be mai l ed . 

58 (b) A licensed facility , or a business operating on behalf 

59 of such facility , may charge a flat fee of no more than $6.50 

60 for a request for an electronic copy of patient records and 

61 reports maintained electronica l ly , inclus i ve of all l abor , 

62 suppl i es , and applicable postage . Such fe e may not include costs 

63 associated with updates to or maintenance of systems and data , 

64 capital for data storage and maintenance , labor associated with 

65 ensuring compliance with 45 C . F . R. s . 164.524 and other 

66 applicable laws , administrative costs , other costs associated 

67 with outsourcing the response to indivi dual requests for pat i ent 

68 records and reports , and other costs not included in this 

69 subsection may include sales tax and actua l postage , and , elEeept 

70 for nonpaper records that are subject to a charge not to exceed 

71 $2 , may not exceed $1 per page . A fee of up to $1 may be cha r ged 

72 for eaeh year of records requested. These charges shall apply to 

73 all records furnished , whether directly fr om the facility or 

74 from a copy service provi ding these services on behalf of the 

75 facility . However , a patient whose records are copied or 

Page 3 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0569-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 569 2017 

76 searched for the purpose of continuing to receive medical care 

77 is not required to pay a charge for copying or for the search . 

78 The licensed facility shall further allow any such person to 

79 examine the original records in its possession, or microforms or 

80 other suitabl e reproductions of the records, upon such 

81 reasonable terms as shall be imposed to assure that the records 

82 will not be damaged , destroyed , or a l tered. 

83 Section 2. Subsection (17) of section 456 . 057, Fl orida 

84 Statutes, is amended to read: 

85 456 . 057 Ownership and control of patient records; report 

86 or copies of records to be furnished; disclosure of 

87 information.-

88 (17) A hea l th care practitioner or records owner, or a 

89 bus iness operating on beha lf of such practitioner or owner, that 

90 furnishes furnishing copies of reports or records or makes 

91 making the reports or records available for digita l scanning 

92 pursuant to this section to a patient, patient's guardian , 

93 curator , attorney , or personal representative, or in the absence 

94 of such person, to the next of kin of a decedent or the parent 

95 of a minor , or to anyone designated by such listed persons in 

96 writi ng, shal l charge no more than the actual cost of copyi ng, 

97 including reasonable staff time, and postage for requests for 

98 physical copies , or a flat fee of no more than $6.50 for a 

99 request for an electroni c copy of patient records and reports 

100 maintained electronically , inclusive of labor, supplies, and 

Page 4 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0569-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 569 

101 applicable postage or the amount specified in administrative 

102 rule by the approp ria te board, or the department ·,Jhen there is 

103 no board. 

2017 

104 Sect i on 3 . This act shall take effect upon becoming a law. 

Page 5 of 5 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0569-00 



llllllllllllllll llllllllllll 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 569 (2017) 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE ACTION 

ADOPTED (Y/ N) 

ADOPTED AS AMENDED (Y/ N) 

ADOPTED W/ 0 OBJECTION (Y/N) 

FAILED TO ADOPT 

WITHDRAWN 

OTHER 

(Y/ N) 

(Y / N) 

1 Committee / Subcommittee hearing bill: Health Innovation 

2 Subcommittee 

3 Representative Fitzenhagen offered the following: 

4 

5 Amendment 

6 Remov e lines 31-103 and insert : 

7 such person's guardian, curator , or personal representative, or 

8 in the absence of one of those persons, to the nex t of kin of a 

9 decedent or the parent of a minor, or to anyone designated by 

10 such listed persons person in writing, a true and correct copy 

11 of all patient records and reports, including X ray s, and 

1 2 insurance information concerning such person, which records are 

13 in the possession of the licensed facility , prov ided the person 

14 requesting such records agrees to pay a charge, to be determined 

15 by the licensed facility. The exclusive charge for furnishing 

16 physical copies of patient records and reports or making the 

861613 - h0569-line31 . docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:03:38 PM 

Page 1 of 6 



11 11111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 569 (2017) 

17 records and reports available for digital scanning pursuant to 

18 this section may not exceed a reasonable fee based on the actual 

19 cost of copying, including the cost of: 

20 1. Labor required for copying the patient records and 

21 reports requested by the person, whether on paper or in 

22 electronic form. Labor required for copying such records and 

23 reports is limited to the labor for creating and delivering the 

24 electronic copy or paper copy in the format requested or agreed 

25 upon by the requestor and does not include the cost of reviewing 

26 the request and searching for, retrieving, and otherwise 

27 preparing the records and reports for copying; 

28 2. Supplies used to create a paper copy or if requested, 

29 the electronic media necessary to furnish an electronic copy on 

3 0 portable media; 

31 3. Postage, if the person requests that the records and 

32 reports be mailed; and 

33 4. Preparing an explanation or summary of the patient 

34 records, if agreed to by the person requesting the records. 

35 (b) In lieu of calculating the labor costs individually 

36 for each request, a licensed facility, or a business operating 

37 on behalf of such facility, may develop a schedule of costs for 

38 labor based on the average labor costs to fulfill standard types 

39 of requests, so long as the labor costs included in the schedule 

40 are limited pursuant to subparagraph (a)1. 

861613 - h0569-line31.docx 

Published On: 3/24/2017 6:03:38 PM 

Page 2 of 6 



111 1111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 569 (2017) 

41 (c) A licensed facility, or a business operating on behalf 

42 of such facility, may charge a flat fee of no more than $6.50 in 

43 lieu of calculating the actual costs pursuant paragraph (a) , for 

44 a request for an electronic copy of patient records and reports 

45 maintained electronically, inclusive of all labor, supplies, and 

46 applicable postage. Such fee may not include costs associated 

47 with updates to or maintenance of systems and data, capital for 

48 data storage and maintenance, labor associated with ensuring 

49 compliance with 45 C.F.R. s. 164.524 and other applicable laws, 

50 administrative costs, other costs associated with outsourcing 

51 the response to individual requests for patient records and 

52 reports, or other costs not included in this subsection may 

53 include sales taJc and actual postage, and, except for nonpaper 

54 records that are subject to a charge not to exceed $2, may not 

55 exceed $1 per page. A fee of up to $1 may be charged for each 

56 year of records requested. These charges shall apply to all 

57 records furnished, whether directly from the facility or from a 

58 copy service providing these services on behalf of the facility. 

59 However, a patient whose records are copied or searched for the 

60 purpose of continuing to receive medical care is not required to 

61 pay a charge for copying or for the search. The licensed 

62 facility shall further allow any such person to examine the 

63 original records in its possession, or microforms or other 

64 suitable reproductions of the records, upon such reasonable 

861613 - h0569-line3l.docx 

Published On: 3 /2 4 / 2017 6:03:38 PM 

Page 3 of 6 



llllllllllllllllllllllllllll 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No . HB 569 (2017) 

65 terms as shall be imposed to assure that the records will not be 

66 damaged, destroyed, or altered. 

67 Section 2. Subsection (17) of section 456.057, Florida 

68 Statutes, is amended to read: 

69 456.057 Ownership and control of patient records; report 

70 or copies of records to be furnished; disclosure of 

71 information. -

72 (17) (a) A health care practitioner or records owner, or a 

73 business operating on behalf of such practitioner or owner, that 

74 furnishes furnishing copies of reports or records or makes 

75 making the reports or records available for digital scanning 

76 pursuant to this section to a patient, patient's guardian, 

77 curator, or personal representativ e, or in the absence of such 

78 person, to the next of kin of a decedent or the parent of a 

79 minor , or to anyone designated by such listed persons in 

80 writing, shall charge no more than the actual cost of: 

81 1. Labor required for copying the patient records and 

82 reports requested by the person whether on paper or in 

83 electronic form. Labor required for copying such records and 

84 reports is limited to the labor for creating and deliv ering the 

85 electronic copy or paper copy in the format requested or agreed 

86 upon by the requestor and does not include the cost of reviewing 

87 the request and searching for, retrieving, and otherwise 

88 preparing the records and reports for copying; ineluding 

89 reasonable staff time, 

861613 - h0569-line31.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:03:38 PM 

Page 4 of 6 



90 

1111111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 569 (2017) 

2. Supplies used to create a paper copy or if requested, 

91 the electronic media necessary to furnish an electronic copy on 

92 portable media; 

93 3. Postage, if the person requests that the records and 

94 reports be mailed; and 

95 4. Preparing an explanation or summary of the patient 

96 records, if agreed to in advance by the person requesting the 

97 

98 

records. 

(b) In lieu of calculating the labor costs individually 

99 for each request, the health care practitioner or records owner, 

100 or business operating on behalf of such practitioner or owner, 

101 may develop a schedule of costs for labor based on the average 

102 labor costs to fulfill standard types of requests, so long as 

103 the labor costs included in the schedule are limited pursuant to 

104 subparagraph (a)1. 

105 (c) A health care practitioner or records owner, or 

106 business operating on behalf of such practitioner or owner, may 

107 charge a flat fee of no more than $6.50, in lieu of calculating 

108 the actual costs pursuant to paragraph (a) , for a request for an 

109 electronic copy of patient records and reports maintained 

110 electronically, inclusive of labor, supplies, and applicable 

111 postage. Such fee may not include costs associated with updates 

112 to or maintenance of systems and data, capital for data storage 

113 and maintenance, labor associated with ensuring compliance with 

114 45 C.F.R. s. 164.524 and other applicable laws, administrative 

861613 - h0569-line31.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:03:38 PM 

Page 5 of 6 



1111111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 569 (2017) 

115 costs, other costs associated with outsourcing the response to 

116 individual requests for patient records and reports, or other 

117 costs not included in this subsection or the amount specified in 

118 administrative rule by the appropriate board, or the department 

119 \:hen there is no board. 

861613 - h0569-line31.docx 

Published On: 3/24/2017 6:03:38 PM 

Page 6 of 6 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 579 Payment of Health Care Claims 
SPONSOR(S): Hager 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 102 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee Tuszynski 

2) Insurance & Banking Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

The American Medical Association (AMA) reports that health care providers lose a significant amount of 
administrative time and revenue due to denied claims. In its most recent National Insurer Report Card, the 
AMA reported that major insurers deny up to 29 percent of claims. Denials of claims can cost providers 
thousands of dollars annually. 

Claims can be denied both before and after a service or treatment has been provided through a denial of 
preauthorization requests, denial of claims for payment, or retroactive denial of payment. Claims may be 
denied for many reasons: incorrect diagnosis code, an incomplete claim submission, a determination that a 
service is not medically necessary, or insured eligibility issues. For example, an insured may seek a service 
from a provider prior to that individual 's effective date of coverage or after coverage has been terminated. 

In the instance of a retroactive denial, the provider may have already verified that the patient was covered, 
provided services based on that verification, and in some cases already received payment. Retroactive denials 
can result in the provider or the consumer covering the loss, despite the verified eligibility. 

HB 579 amends ss. 627.6131 and 641.3155, F.S., to prohibit a health insurer or health maintenance 
organization (HMO) from retroactively denying a claim at any time because of insured ineligibility, if the insurer 
or HMO verified the eligibility of the insured at the time of treatment and provided an authorization number. 

The bill has an indeterminate negative fiscal impact on the Statewide Medicaid Managed Care Program, a 
negative fiscal impact on fully-insured HMO plans in the State Group Insurance Plan, and no apparent fiscal 
impact on local government. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0579.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Denial of Claims 

According to the American Medical Association (AMA), health care providers lose a significant amount 
of administrative time and revenue due to denied claims. In its most recent National Insurer Report 
Card, the AMA reports that major insurers deny up to 29 percent of claims. 1 A study by the Medical 
Group Management Association found the cost to rework and resubmit a denied claim is approximately 
$25.2 

Potential Financial Impact of Denials on Providers* 

Denied claims per physic ian per month 44 

Rework cost per clai m $25 

Rework cost per month $1 '1 00 

Annual rework cost $13, 200 

*Thi s exa mple assumes 370 visits per month, one cla im line per claim, and a 
denial rate of 12 percent 

Claims can be denied both before and after a service or treatment has been provided through a denial 
of preauthorization requests, denial of claims for payment, and retroactive denial of payment. Claims 
may be denied for many reasons: an incorrect diagnosis code, an incomplete claim submission, a 
determination that a service is not medically necessary, or insured eligibility issues. For example, an 
insured may seek a service from a provider prior to that individual's effective date of coverage or after 
coverage has been terminated. Under state and federal laws, denied claims may be appealed.3 

Insurers and health maintenance organizations (HMOs) may routinely conduct a claims audit to verify 
the appropriateness and accuracy of the payment of claims. After an audit, if an insurer or HMO 
determines there is an issue with the claim or eligibility of the insured, it may retroactively deny a claim 
for a preauthorized service and try to recoup payment from the provider. 

In the instance of a retroactive denial, the provider may have already verified that the patient was 
covered, provided services based on that verification, and in some cases already received payment. 
Retroactive denials can result in the provider or the consumer covering the loss, despite the verified 
eligibility. 

Exchange Plans and Premium Tax Credits 

The federal Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA) guarantees access to coverage and 
mandates certain essential health benefits and other requirements. 4 To address affordability issues, 
federal premium tax credits and cost-sharing subsidies are available to assist eligible low and 

1 Marting , R. The Cure for Claims Denials, American Academy of Family Physicians, Family Practice Management, 2015 Mar
Apr;22(2):7 -10, available at: http://www.aafp.org /fpm/2015/0300/p7 .pdf (last accessed March 23, 2017). 
2 ld .; Graham T., You might be losing thousands of dollars per month in 'unclean ' claims. MGMA Connex. 2014;14(2):37-38 
3 S. 627 .6141 , F.S . 
4 The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (Pub. Law No. 111-148) was enacted on March 23, 2010. The Health Care and 
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (Pub. Law No. 111-152), which amended several provisions of the PPACA, was enacted on 
March 30, 2010. 
STORAGE NAME: h0579.HIS PAGE: 2 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



moderate-income individuals to purchase qualified health plans (QHPs) on a state or federal 
exchange.5 In Florida , 1 ,588,628 individuals enrolled through the federal exchange received a premium 
tax credit for plan year 2016.6 

Under PPACA, insurers and HMOs must provide a grace period of at least three consecutive months 
before cancelling the policy or contract of a federally subsidized enrollee who is delinquent if the 
enrollee previously paid 1-month's premium. 7 During the first month of the grace period , the insurer 
must pay all appropriate claims for services provided. For the second and third months, an insurer may 
review claims and notify providers that may be affected that an enrollee has lapsed in his or her 
payment of premiums and there is a possibility the insurer may deny the payment of claims incurred 
during the second and third months.8 According to a 2014 survey, 48 percent of providers not 
participating with any PPACA exchange products cited concerns about financial liability during the 
grace period as a reason for their decision.9 

Regulation of Insurance in Florida 

The Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) licenses and regulates the activities of insurers, HMOs, and 
other risk-bearing entities.10 The Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) regulates the quality of 
care provided by HMOs under part Ill of ch. 641, F.S. Before receiving a certificate of authority from the 
OIR, an HMO must receive a Health Care Provider Certificate from AHCA. 11 

Florida 's Prompt Payment Laws 

Florida's prompt payment laws govern payment of provider claims submitted to insurers and HMOs, 
including Medicaid managed care plans, in accordance with ss. 627.6131 and 641.3155, F.S., 
respectively. 12 These provisions detail the rights and responsibilities of insurers, HMOs, and providers 
for the payment of claims. An insurer or HMO has 12 months after payment is made to a provider to 
make a claim for overpayment against the provider, if the provider is licensed under ch. 458, F.S., 
(physicians), ch. 459, F.S., (osteopaths), ch. 460, F.S. , (chiropractors), ch. 461 , F.S., (podiatrists), or 
ch . 466, F.S., (dentists). For all other types of providers, an insurer or HMO has up to 30 months after 
such payment to make a claim for overpayment. 13 The statutes provide a process and timeline for 
providers to pay, deny, or contest the claim. The statutes also prohibit an insurer or HMO from 
retroactively denying a claim because of the ineligibility of an insured or subscriber more than one year 
after the date the claim is paid. 14 

51n general , individuals and families may be eligible for the premium tax credit if their household income for the year is at least 100 
percent but no more than 400 percent of the federal poverty line for their family size. For residents of one of the 48 contiguous states or 
Washington , D.C., the following illustrates when household income would be at least 100 percent but no more than 400 percent of the 
federal poverty line in computing your premium tax credit for 2017 : 
$12,060 (100%) up to $48,240 (400%) for one individual ; $16,240 (100%) up to $64,960 (400%) for a family of two; and 
$24,600 (100%) up to $98,400 (400%) for a family of four. U.S. Department of Health & Human Services, Office of the Assistant 
Secretary for Planning and Evaluation , Poverty Guidelines, available at: https://aspe.hhs.qov/poverty-guidelines (last accessed March 
25, 2017). 
6 U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Office of the Assistant Secretary for Planning and Evaluation, Health Insurance 
Marketplace Premiums After Shopping, Switching, and Premium Tax Credits, 2015-2016 (Apr. 12, 2016), available at 
https://aspe.hhs.qov/system/files/pdf/198636/MarketplaceRate.pdf (last accessed Mar. 23, 2017). 
7 Example of grace period : Premium is not paid in May. Premium payments are made in June and July, but May remains unpaid , the 
grace period would end July 31 . Coverage would be cancelled retroactively to the last day of May. See 
https://www.healthcare.gov/apply-and-enroll/health-insurance-qrace-period/ (last accessed Mar. 23, 2017); 45 C.F .R. s. 155.430. 
8 45 C.F.R. s. 156.270 
9 Tracy Gnadinger, Health Policy Brief: The Ninety-Day Grace Period, (Oct. 16, 2014) available at: 
http://healthaffairs.org/blogl2014/1 0/17/health-policy-brief-the-ninety-day-grace-period/ (last accessed March 23, 2017). 
10 S. 20.121(3), F.S. 
11 S. 641 .21(1), F.S. 
12 The prompt pay provisions apply to HMO contracts and major medical policies offered by individual and group insurers licensed 
under ch . 624, F.S ., including preferred provider policies and an exclusive provider organization, and individual and group contracts that 
only provide direct payments to dentists. 
13 SS . 627 .6131 and 641 .3155, F.S., provide exceptions to this time limit in cases relating to fraud . 
14 SS . 627.6131(11) and 641 .3155(10), F.S 
STORAGE NAME: h0579.HIS PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Grace Periods 

The federal regulation governing grace periods for federally subsidized policies or contracts does not 
affect policies or contracts of individuals who are not enrolled in an exchange QHP or who are enrolled 
in an exchange QHP and do not receive a subsidy. The grace period for these individual policies or 
contracts is governed by Florida law, 15 which varies by the duration of the premium payment interval. 
During the grace period, the policy or contract stays in force, and the insurer or HMO must affirm that 
an individual is insured, even when the premium payment is late and remains unpaid during the grace 
period . If the insurer or HMO does not receive the full payment of the premium by the end of the grace 
period, coverage terminates as of the grace period start date and the insurer or HMO may retroactively 
deny any claims incurred during the grace period. 

Florida's Statewide Medicaid Managed Care Program 

The Florida Medicaid program is a partnership between the federal and state governments. In Florida, 
AHCA oversees the Medicaid program, while the Department of Children and Families (DCF) conducts 
Medicaid eligibility determinations. 16 

The Statewide Medicaid Managed Care (SMMC) program consists of the Managed Medical Assistance 
(MMA) program and the Long-term Care (LTC) program. 17 AHCA contracts with managed care plans 
to provide services to eligible recipients. The MMA program covers medical and acute care services for 
plan enrollees. Most Florida Medicaid recipients who are eligible for the full array of Medicaid benefits 
are enrolled in an MMA plan. The LTC program covers nursing facility and home and community-based 
services to eligible adults. 

Medicaid managed care plans are responsible for paying claims in accordance with federal and state 
law and contractual requirements, including s. 641.3155, F.S., 18 which allows HMOs to deny a claim 
retroactively because of insured or subscriber ineligibility up to one year after the date of payment of 
the claim. 

The Florida Medicaid Provider General Handbook and Florida Medicaid service-specific coverage 
policies and handbooks, incorporated by reference in the SMMC contract, require providers to verify 
each recipient's eligibility each time they provide a service. Although an enrollee may have eligibility on 
file at the time a service was authorized, the enrollee may have subsequently become ineligible. 

Section 409.913(1)(e), F.S., defines "overpayment" to include any amount that is not authorized to be 
paid by the Medicaid program whether as a result of inaccurate or improper cost reporting, improper 
claiming, unacceptable practices, fraud, abuse, or mistake. Section 409.907, F.S., prohibits AHCA from 
demanding repayment from a provider in any instance in which the Medicaid overpayment is 
attributable to error of DCF in eligibility determination. 

Section 1903(d)(2)(C) of the Social Security Act states, "When an overpayment is discovered, which 
was made by a State to a person or other entity, the State shall have a period of 1 year in which to 
recover or attempt to recover such overpayment before adjustment is made in the Federal payment to 
such State on account of such overpayment. Except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (D), the 

15 SS. 627.608 and 641.31(15), F.S.; The grace period of an individual policy must be a minimum of 7 days for weekly premium; 10 
days for a monthly premium; and 31 days for all other periods. The grace period of a HMO contract must be at least 10 days. For group 
policies, if cancellation is due to nonpayment of premium, the insurer may not retroactively cancel the policy to a date prior to the date 
that notice of cancellation was provided to the policyholder unless the insurer mails notice of cancellation to the policyholder prior to 45 
days after the date the premium was due. Such notice must be mailed to the policyholder's last address as shown by the records of the 
insurer and may provide for a retroactive date of cancellation no earlier than midnight of the date that the premium was due. Section 
627 .6645, F.S. ; 45 C.F.R. s. 155.735, provisions relating to the termination of Small Business Health Options Program (SHOP) 
enrollment or coverage obtained through an exchange . 
16 

Department of Children and Families, Medicaid, available at: http://www.myflfamilies.com/service-programs/access-florida-food
medical-assistance-cash/medicaid (last accessed March 24, 2017). 
11 Part IV of ch. 409, F.S. 
18 S. 409.967(2)U), F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0579.HIS PAGE : 4 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



adjustment in the Federal payment shall be made at the end of the one year period, whether or not 
recovery was made." This law requires states to return the federal matching portion on overpayments 
made by the state or the health plan, which could include payments retroactively denied. 

Effect of Proposed Language 

HB 579 amends ss. 627.6131 and 641.3155, F.S., to prohibit a health insurer or HMO from 
retroactively denying a claim at any time because of insured ineligibility, if the insurer or HMO verified 
the insured's eligibility at the time of treatment and provided an authorization number. 

The bill provides certainty of payment for insureds and providers who have received authorization 
numbers from insurers and HMOs. However, the bill prevents insurers and HMOs from pursuing 
overpayments or payments for non-covered services revealed during a claims audit if the insurer or 
HMO provided an authorization number. For example, if an insurer authorized treatments X and Y for 
an eligible insured and the provider provides treatment X, Y, and Z, and treatment Z is not covered by 
the insurer or HMO, the bill would prevent the insurer from recouping the overpayment for the 
uncovered service, which may not be discovered until a claims audit is completed . 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: 
Section 2: 
Section 3: 

Amends s. 627.6131, F.S., relating to payment of claims. 
Amends s. 641.3155, F.S., relating to prompt payment of claims. 
Provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

The inability for SMMC plans to recoup overpayments from providers in cases of retroactive 
denials, combined with the federal requirement to return the federal matching portion of 
overpayments, results in an indeterminate negative fiscal impact to the Medicaid program. 

The bill would have a significant negative fiscal impact on the State Group Health Insurance 
Program's (SGHI) fully insured plans. Initial estimates on impact range from a $0.07 increase per 
member, per month for the Capital Health Plan (CHP) HMO, to an annual impact of up to $1.4 
million for the Florida Health Care Plans (FHCP). SGHI contracts allow for an equitable adjustment 
to contracts in the middle of a plan-year if a statute or rule creates an impact of $500,000 or more. 
It does not appear that the bill would have such an impact on CHP or FHCP, but the potential exists 
for a negative fiscal impact, based on claim history provided by FHCP. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h0579.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 5 



2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

The bill will reduce unanticipated obligations on patients and loss of revenue on providers by 
eliminating the ability of a health insurer or HMO to recoup or deny the payment of a claim for a 
previously authorized treatment. This creates financial liability for a health insurer or HMO that provides 
authorization for an individual who is later deemed ineligible for coverage by preventing recoupment of 
overpayment due to retroactive denial. 

Federal regulations preempt state and local laws relating to claim payment for federally subsidized 
products purchased on the exchange. This bill would not apply to such claims. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

To ensure that the Medicaid program can continue to seek return of payment from providers and meet 
the obligation to return federal matching funds, the bill should clarify the program's ability to recoup 
overpayment. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not Applicable . 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

Not Applicable. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h0579.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE : 6 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 579 2017 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to the payment o f health care cla ims; 

3 amending s. 627.6131, F.S.; prohibiting a health 

4 insurer from retroactively denying a claim under 

5 speci fied circumstances ; amending s. 641 . 3155 , F.S.; 

6 prohibiting a health maintenance organization from 

7 retroactively denying a claim under specified 

8 circumstances; providing an effecti ve date. 

9 

1 0 Be It Enacted by the Legislature o f the State of Florida: 

11 

12 Section 1. Subsection (11) of section 627.6131 , Florida 

13 Statutes , is amended to read: 

14 627 . 6131 Payment of claims. -

15 (11) A health insurer may not retroactively deny a claim 

16 because of insured ineligibility~ 

17 (a) At any time, if the health insurer verified the 

18 eligibility of an insured at the time of treatment and provided 

19 an authorization number . 

20 (b) Mo re than 1 year after the date of payment o f the 

21 claim. 

22 Section 2. Subsection (10) of section 641 .3155, Florida 

23 Statutes, is amended t o read : 

24 64 1. 3155 Prompt payment of claims.-

25 (10) A health maintenance organization may not 

Page 1 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0579-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 579 2017 

26 retroactive l y deny a c l aim because of subscriber ineligibil ity~ 

27 (a) At any time , i f the hea l th ma i ntenance organization 

28 ve ri f i ed the el i g i b ility of a n insured at the t i me of t reatme n t 

29 and provi d e d an authorization numbe r. 

30 (b) More than 1 ye ar afte r the date o f payment of t he 

31 cla i m. 

32 Section 3. This act sha l l t ake e ff ect July 1 , 2017 . 

Page 2 of 2 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0579-00 



1111111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 579 (2017) 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE ACTION 

ADOPTED (Y/ N) 

ADOPTED AS AMENDED (Y / N) 

ADOPTED W/ 0 OBJECTION 

FAILED TO ADOPT 

WITHDRAWN 

OTHER 

(Y/N) 

(Y / N) 

(Y/N) 

1 Committee / Subcommittee hearing bill: Health Innovation 

2 Subcommittee 

3 Representative Hager offered the following: 

4 

5 Amendment (with title amendment) 

6 Remove lines 19-29 and insert: 

7 an authorization number. This paragraph applies to policies 

8 entered into or renewed on or after January 1, 2018. 

9 (b) More than 1 year after the date of payment of the 

10 claim. 

11 Section 2. Subsection (10) of section 641.3155, Florida 

12 Statutes, is amended to read: 

13 641.3155 Prompt payment of claims. -

14 (1) A health maintenance organization may not 

15 retroactively deny a claim because of subscriber ineligibility~ 

302421 - h0579-line 19.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:04:54 PM 

Page 1 of 2 



111 11111111111111 111111 11111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 579 (2017) 

16 (a) At any time, if the health maintenance organization 

17 verified the eligibility of a subscriber at the time of 

18 treatment and provided an authorization number. This paragraph 

19 applies to contracts entered into or renewed on or after January 

20 1, 2018. This paragraph does not apply to Medicaid managed care 

21 plans pursuant to part IV of chapter 409. 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

T I T L E A M E N D M E N T 

Remove lines 5-8 and insert : 

specified circumstances; applying to policies entered into or 

renewed on or after January 1, 2018; amending s. 641.3155, F . S.; 

prohibiting a health maintenance organization from retroactively 

denying a claim under specified circumstances; apply ing to 

contracts entered into or renewed on or after January 1, 2018; 

e x empting Medicaid managed care plans pursuant to part IV of 

chapter 409, F . S . ; providing an effectiv e date. 

302421 - h0579-line 19 . docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:04:54 PM 

Page 2 of 2 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 877 Health Insurer Authorization 
SPONSOR(S): Harrison 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee Tuszynski 

2) Appropriations Committee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 

BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

Insurers and health maintenance organizations (HMO) use many cost containment strategies to manage 
medical and drug spending and utilization. For example, plans may place utilization management requirements 
on certain procedures and therapies and on the use of certain drugs on their formulary. These requirements 
can include limiting the quantity of a drug that they will cover over a certain period of time, requiring enrollees 
to obtain prior authorization from their plan before filling a certain prescription or obtaining a certain treatment 
(prior authorization), or requiring enrollees to first try a preferred drug to treat a medical condition before 
obtaining an alternate drug to treat the condition (fail-first or step therapy). 

Notification is currently not required if an insurer or HMO modifies any prior authorization guidelines or any 
timeline for processing prior authorization . Florida does not have any statute or rule regulating the use of fail
first or step therapy. 

HB 877 amends s. 627.42392, F.S., to revise criteria for prior authorization forms, requirements for prior 
authorization information, restrictions on prior authorization procedures, and timeframes for prior authorization 
request approval or denial. 

The bill also creates s. 627.42393, F.S, which requires a health insurer or HMO to publish on its website, and 
provide in writing, a procedure for an insured and health care provider to request an exception to a fail-first 
protocol. The bill requires timeframes for the authorization or denial of a fail-first protocol exception request and 
also details situations in which a fail-first protocol exception request must be granted, including when a 
preceding prescription drug or medical treatment is: 

• Contraindicated or will likely cause an adverse reaction; 
• Expected to be ineffective; 
• In the same pharmacologic class or same mechanism of action to a drug or treatment previously 

received by the insured that lacked efficacy or effectiveness; or 
• Not in the insured's best interest because use of such a drug is expected to cause a significant barrier 

to the insured's adherence or compliance with a plan of care, worsen a medical condition that exists 
simultaneously but independent of the condition under treatment, or decrease the ability to achieve or 
maintain his or her ability to perform daily activities. 

The bill does not have a fiscal impact on state or local government. 

The bill has an effective date of July 1, 2017 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Background 

Health Insurance 

Health insurance is the insurance of human beings against bodily injury or disablement by accident or 
sickness, including the expenses associated with such injury, disablement, or sickness. 1 Individuals 
purchase health insurance coverage with the purpose of managing anticipated expenses related to 
health or protecting themselves from unexpected medical bills or large health care costs. Managed 
care is the most common delivery system for medical care today by health insurers. 2 Managed care 
systems combine the delivery and financing of health care services by limiting the choice of doctors and 
hospitals.3 In return for this limited choice, however, medical care is less costly due to the managed 
care network's ability to control health care services. Some common forms of managed care are 
preferred provider organizations4 (PPO) and health maintenance organizations5 (HMO). 

Preferred Provider Organization 

A PPO is a health plan that contracts with providers, such as hospitals and doctors, for an alternative or 
reduced rate of payment to create a provider network. PPO plan members generally see specialists 
without prior referral or authorization from the insurer. Generally, the member is only responsible for the 
policy co-payment, deductible, or co-insurance amounts if covered services are obtained from network 
providers. However, if a member chooses to obtain services from an out-of-network provider, those out
of-pocket costs likely will be higher. An insurer that offers a PPO plan must make its current list of 
preferred providers available to its members. 

Health Maintenance Organization 

An HMO is an organization that provides a wide range of health care services, including emergency 
care, inpatient hospital care, physician care, ambulatory diagnostic treatment and preventive health 
care, pursuant to contractual arrangements with preferred providers in a designated service area. The 
network is made up of providers who have agreed to supply services to members at pre-negotiated 
rates. Traditionally , a member must use the HMO's network of health care providers in order for the 
HMO to pay for covered services. The use of a health care provider outside of the network generally 
results in the HMO limiting or denying the payment of benefits for such services.6 

Pharmacy Benefit Managers 

Advances in pharmaceuticals have transformed health care over the last several decades. Many health 
care problems are prevented, cured, or managed effectively using prescription drugs. As a result, 
national expenditures for prescription drugs have grown from $121 billion in 2000 to $324.5 billion in 

1 S. 624.603, F.S. 
2 Florida Department of Financial Services, Health Insurance and Health Maintenance Organizations, A Guide for Consumers, available 
at: http://www.myfloridacfo.com/Division/Consumers/understandingCoverage/Guides/documents/HealthGuide.pdf (last visited March 
23, 2017). 
3 ld . 
4 S. 627.6471 , F.S. 
5 Part I of chapter 641 , F .S . 
6 Section 641 .31 (38), F.S. , creates an exception to this general rule. It authorizes an HMO to offer a point-of-service benefit. The 
benefit, offered pursuant to a rider, enables a subscriber to select, at the time of service and without referral, a nonparticipating provider 
for a covered service. The HMO may require the subscriber to pay a reasonable co-payment for each visit for services provided by a 
nonparticipating provider. 
STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS PAGE: 2 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



2016.7 Health plan sponsors, which include commercial insurers, private employers, and government 
plans, such as Medicaid and Medicare, spent $277 billion on prescription drugs in 2015, while 
consumers paid $45.5 billion out-of-pocket for prescription drugs that year.8 

Health plan sponsors contract with pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) to provide specified services, 
which may include developing and managing pharmacy networks, developing drug formularies, 
providing mail order and specialty pharmacy services, rebate negotiation, therapeutic substitution, 
disease management, utilization review, support services for physicians and beneficiaries, and 
processing claims.9 Payments for the services are established in contracts between health plan 
sponsors and PBMs. 1° For example, contracts will specify how much health plan sponsors will pay 
PBMs for brand name and generic drugs. These prices are typically set as a discount off the average 
wholesale price11 for brand-name drugs and maximum allowable cost price for generic drugs, plus a 
dispensing fee. 12 

Office of Insurance Regulation 

The regulatory oversight of insurance companies is generally reserved to the states. In Florida, the 
Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR), within the Department of Financial Services (DFS), regulates 
insurers and other risk bearing entities, including licensing, rates, policy forms, market conduct, claims, 
issuance of certificates of authority, solvency, viatica! settlements, premium financing, and 
administrative supervision, as provided under the Florida Insurance Code (Code ). 13 

All persons who transact insurance in the state must comply with the Code.14 OIR has the power to 
collect, propose, publish, and disseminate any information relating to the subject matter of the Code, 15 

and may investigate any matter relating to insurance. 16 

The Code requires health insurers and HMOs to provide an outline of coverage or other information 
describing the benefits, coverages, and limitations of a policy or contract. This may include an outline of 
coverage describing the principal exclusions and limitations of the policy. 17 

Cost Containment in Health Insurance 

Insurers use many cost containment strategies to manage medical and drug spending and utilization. 
For example, plans may place utilization management requirements on certain procedures and 
therapies and on the use of certain drugs on their formulary. These requirements can include limiting 
the quantity of drug that they will cover over a certain period of time, requiring enrollees to obtain prior 
authorization from their plan before filling a prescription (prior authorization), or requiring enrollees to 
first try a preferred drug to treat a medical condition before obtaining an alternate drug for that condition 
(fail-first or step therapy). 

7 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, National Health Expenditure Data, Historical, available at: 
https:/ /www. ems .g ov/Research-Statistics-Data-a nd-S ystems/S tatistics-Trends-and
Reports/NationaiHealthExpendData/NationaiHealthAccountsHistorical.html {last accessed March 23 , 2017). 
8 ld. 
9 Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability, Legislature Could Consider Options to Address Pharmacy Benefit 
Manager Business Practices, Report No. 07-08 (Feb. 2007), available at: 
http://www.oppaqa.state.fl.us/MonitorDocsiReports/pdf/0708rpt.pdf (last visited March 23, 2017). 
10 ld . 
11 Average wholesale price is the retail list price (sticker price) or the average price that manufacturers recommend wholesalers sell to 
p

2
hysicians, pharmacies and others, such as hospitals. 
Supra , FN 9. 

13 S. 20.121 (3)(a)1 ., F.S. The OIR's commissioner is the agency head for purposes of final agency action , and its rulemaking body is 
the Financial Services Commission , consisting of the Governor and the Cabinet. 
14 S. 624.11, F.S. 
15 S. 624.307{4), F.S. 
16 S. 624.307(3), F.S. 
17 S. 627 .642, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Prior Authorization 

Under prior authorization, a health care provider is required to seek approval from an insurer before a 
patient may receive a specified diagnostic or therapeutic treatment or specified prescription drugs 
under the plan. For example, most insurers or PBMs will have a preferred drug list (POL), which is an 
established list of one or more prescription drugs within a therapeutic class deemed clinically equivalent 
and cost effective. Prior authorization would limit an insured's ability to obtain another drug within the 
therapeutic class that is not part of the POL without the insurer or PBM authorizing that drug. 

Section 627.42392, F.S., requires health insurers and HMOs to use an approved form 18 for prior 
authorization determinations, if they do not provide an electronic prior authorization process. This form 
can be no longer than 2 pages and at a minimum must include: 

• Sufficient patient information to identify the member, date of birth, full name, and Health Plan ID 
number; 

• Provider name, address and phone number; 
• The medical procedure, course of treatment, or prescription drug benefit being requested, 

including the medical reason therefor, and all services tried and failed; 
• Any laboratory documentation required; and 
• An attestation that all information provided is true and accurate. 

Rule 690-161.010, F.A.C., details the guidelines for a prior authorization form and rule 690-161.011, 
F.A.C., incorporates by reference and requires the use of Form OIR-82-218019 by insurers and HMOs, 
which do not provide an electronic process for prior authorization. 

Notification is currently not required if the insurer or HMO modifies prior authorization guidelines. In 
addition , there is no statutory timeline for processing prior authorizations. 

Fail-first Protocols 

In some cases, plans require an insured to try one drug first to treat his or her medical condition before 
they will cover another drug for that condition . For example, if Drug A and Drug B both treat a medical 
condition, a plan may require doctors to prescribe the most cost effective drug, Drug A, first. If Drug A 
does not work for a beneficiary, then the plan will cover Drug B. This form of cost containment is 
commonly called step therapy. Step therapy is also known as fail-first as the insurer restricts coverage 
of expensive therapies unless patients have already failed treatment with a lower-cost alternative . 

Researchers report that there is mixed evidence on the impact of step therapy policies. 20 A review of 
the literature found that there is little good empirical evidence for or against cost savings and utilization 
reduction .21 Some studies suggest that step therapy policies have been effective at reducing drug costs 
without increasing the use of other medical services,22 while other studies have found that step therapy 
can increase total utilization costs over time because of increased inpatient admissions and emergency 
department visits.23 

In Florida, there is no law or rule regulating fail-first protocols or step therapy. 

18 Rule 690-161 .011 , F.A.C. 
19 Form OIR-82-2180, available at: https://www.flru les.org/gateway/readRefFi le.asp?refld=7606&filename=Form%2001R-B2-2180.docx 
~last accessed March 25, 2017). 

0 Rahul K. Nayak and Steven D. Pearson, The Ethics Of 'Fail First': Guidelines and Practical Scenarios for Step Therapy Coverage 
Policies, Health Affairs 33, No.10 (2014):1779-1785. 
21 Motheral , B.R., Pharmaceutical Step Therapy Interventions: A Critical Review of the Literature, Journal of Managed Care Pharmacy 
17, no. 2 (2011) 143-55, available at: http://www.jmcp.org/doilpdf/1 0.18553/jmcp .2011.17.2.143 (last accessed March 22, 2017). 
22 Supra, FN 20 at pg . 1780. 
23 ld . 
STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS PAGE: 4 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Effect of Proposed Language 

Prior Authorization 

HB 877 amends s. 627.42392, F.S., to revise criteria for prior authorization forms, requirements for 
prior authorization information, restrictions on prior authorization procedures, and timeframes for prior 
authorization request approval or denial. 

The bill defines an "urgent care situation" as when the standard timeframe to treat an insured's injury or 
condition would seriously jeopardize the insured's life, health or ability to regain maximum function 
based on a prudent layperson's judgement or subject the insured to severe pain that cannot be 
adequately managed, based on the opinion of the treating health care provider. The bill defines 
"utilization review entity" as a person who reviews and determines whether to authorize or deny a prior 
authorization request for a health insurer. 

The bill adds "utilization review entity" to the list of entities that must use Form OIR-82-2180 if they do 
not provide an electronic prior authorization process. The bill requires that the form not require 
information that is not necessary for the determination of medical necessity of or coverage for a 
requested medical procedure, treatment, or drug. The type of information that is not necessary for 
such determination is not identified in the bill. 

The bill requires a health insurer, PBM, or utilization review entity to provide detailed descriptions of 
requirements to obtain prior authorization in easily understandable language and prior authorization 
forms in writing or electronic format upon request and on a publicly accessible website. 

The bill restricts a health insurer, PBM, or utilization review entity from making changes to or 
implementing any new requirements to for prior authorization. Any changes or restrictions must be 
available on a publicly accessible website at least 60 days before implementation or provided in writing 
to policyholders and health care providers affected by the changes. Written notice must be electronic 
or by another means agreed to by the insured or health care provider, at least 60 days before the 
changes are implemented. The bill exempts the expansion of health care services from this 
requirement. Such notice will inform insureds and policyholders about the changes to the prior 
authorization process in a timely manner. 

The bill requires a health insurer, PBM, or utilization review entity to authorize or deny a request and 
notify the patient and the patient's treating health care provider within 3 business days of receiving a 
completed prior authorization form for non-urgent care situations or 24 hours for urgent care situations. 
This provision ensures timely resolution of prior authorization requests with minimal delays in 
treatment. 

These new requirements will add to the administrative burdens of health insurers, PBMs, and utilization 
review entities. However, the changes add consumer protections for those who must request prior 
authorization by reducing the amount of information that must be provided to request prior 
authorization, increasing the amount of plain-language information that must be provided to consumers, 
restricting the ability to change procedures without public or written notice, and setting timelines for 
authorization or denial of a prior authorization request. 

STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 5 



Fail-First Protocols 

HB 877 creates s. 627.42393, F.S, which requires an insurer to publish on its website, and provide in 
writing, a procedure for an insured and health care provider to request an exception for a fail-first 
protocol. The bill removes "a managed care plan as defined in s. 409.962(9)" from the definition of 
"health insurer" in s. 627.42392, F.S., as that cross-reference is obsolete. The bill defines: 

• "Fail-first protocol" to mean a written protocol that specifies the order in which certain medical 
procedures, courses of treatment, or prescription drugs must be used to treat an insured's 
condition. 

• "Health insurer" to mean the same ass. 627.42392, F.S., which means an authorized insurer 
offering health insurance as defined in s. 624.603 or a health maintenance organization as 
defined ins. 641.19(12). 

• "Preceding prescription drug or medical treatment" to mean a medical procedure, course of 
treatment, or prescription drug that must be used pursuant to a health insurer's fail-first protocol 
as a condition of coverage under a health insurance policy or a health maintenance contract to 
treat an insured's condition. 

• "Protocol exception" to mean a determination by a health insurer that a fail-first protocol is not 
medically appropriate or indicated for treatment of an insured's condition and the health insurer 
authorizes the use of another medical procedure, course of treatment, or prescription drug 
prescribed or recommended by the treating health care provider for the insured's condition. 

The bill requires an insurer to publish on its website and provide in writing to an insured a procedure for 
an insured and health care provider to request a protocol exception. This procedure must include: 

• A description of the manner in which an insured or health care provider may request a protocol 
exception; 

• The manner and timeframe in which the health insurer is required to authorize or deny a 
protocol exception request or respond to an appeal to a health insurer's authorization or denial; 
and 

• Conditions in which the protocol exception request must be granted. 

The bill requires health insurers to authorize or deny a protocol exception request within 3 business 
days for non-urgent care situations and 24 hours for urgent care situations. The bill requires an 
authorization to specify the medical procedure, course of treatment, or prescription drug and for a 
denial to include a detailed written explanation of the reason for denial including the rationale 
supporting the denial and the appeal procedure. 

The bill requires a health insurer to grant a protocol exception request if a preceding prescription drug 
or medical treatment is: 

• Contraindicated or will likely cause an adverse reaction or physical or mental harm to the 
insured; 

• Expected to be ineffective, based on the medical history of the insured and the clinical evidence 
of the characteristics of the preceding prescription or medical treatment; 

• In the same pharmacologic class or same mechanism of action to a drug or treatment 
previously received by the insured that lacked efficacy or effectiveness or adversely effected the 
insured; or 

• Not in the insured's best interest because use of such drug is expected to cause a significant 
barrier to the insured's adherence or compliance with a plan of care, worsen a medical condition 
that exists simultaneously but independent of the condition under treatment, or decrease the 
ability to achieve or maintain his or her ability to perform daily activities. 

STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 6 



The bill also authorizes an insurer to request a copy of relevant documentation from the insured's 
medical record in support of a protocol exception request. 

These changes will add to the administrative burdens of an insurer, but will add consumer protections 
similar to the prior authorization changes. These changes increase the amount and accessibility of 
information available to the insured and his or her health care provider, setting timelines for 
authorization or denial of a protocol exception request, and detailing conditions in which a protocol 
exception request must be granted. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: 
Section 2: 
Section 3: 

Amends s. 627.42392, F.S, relating to prior authorization. 
Creates s. 627.42393, F.S., relating to fail-first protocols . 
Provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

The increased notice, information provision requirements, and timeframe requirements will have an 
indeterminate negative fiscal impact on health insurers, PBMs, and utilization review entities due 
increased administrative costs and workload . 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not Applicable. The bill does not affect local government. 

STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 7 



2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

Not Applicable. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h0877.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 8 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 877 2017 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to health insure r authorization ; 

3 amending s . 627 . 42392 , F.S.; revising and providing 

4 definitions; revising criteria for prior authorization 

5 forms ; requiring health insurers and other persons 

6 acting on behalf of health insurers to provide the 

7 manner , requirements , restrictions , and any changes 

8 for insureds and health care providers to request for 

9 and obtain prior authorizations ; specifying such 

10 requirements do not apply to expansion of health care 

11 services coverage ; providing timeframe t o respond to 

12 pr i or authorizat i on requests; creating s. 627 . 42393 , 

13 F.S .; providing definitions; requiring health insurers 

14 to provide a procedure to obta i n protocol exceptions 

15 on its website and in writing; providing information 

16 that must be included in the procedure ; providing a 

17 timeframe in which health insurers must make a 

18 determination to protocol exception requests; 

19 providing notificat ion requirements for such 

20 determination ; providing circumstances in which health 

21 insurers must grant a protocol exception request; 

22 authorizing health insurer s to request for certain 

23 medical records ; providing an effect i ve date . 

24 

25 Be It Enacted by the Legislature o f the State of Florida : 

Page 1 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 877 2017 

26 

27 

28 

Sect i on 1 . 

to read : 

Secti on 627 . 42392 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

29 62 7. 42392 Prio r a u thor i za t ion .-

30 (1 ) As used in this sect i on , the term: 

31 (a) " Hea l t h insurer" means an authorized in s ure r o fferi ng 

32 health i nsu r a n ce as de fi n e d ins . 624 . 603 , a managed eare p l an 

33 a s d e fi ned i ns . 409 . 962(9) , o r a hea l t h maintenance 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

4 9 

50 

organi zation as def i ned ins. 641 . 19(12 ) . 

(b) " Ur gent ca r e s i t u ations " has the same me aning as in s. 

627.42393 . 

(c) " Util ization review enti ty " mean s a person who reviews 

and de t e r mines whether t o a utho r ize or deny a prior 

authorizat i on reques t f or a hea l th insurer. 

(2) No t wi thstand i ng any ot her provision o f l aw , effective 

J a nuary 1 , 2017 , or s i x (6) mont h s a f te r the e ffect i ve da t e o f 

the rule adopt i ng the p ri o r au t ho ri zation form , whichever i s 

later , a health insu r e r, er a pharmacy benefits ma n ager on 

behalf of the hea l th insurer , or a ut il izat i on r eview entity , 

wh i ch does not provide an elec t ron i c pr io r authoriz a t i o n process 

for use by its cont r acted prov i ders , shal l o nly use the prior 

authorization fo rm that has been approved by the Fi nanc i al 

Servi c es Commission for grant i ng a pr i or authorizat i on f or a 

med i ca l procedure , course of t re atment , o r prescript i on drug 

benef i t . Such form may n ot exceed two pages in length , exc lud i ng 

Page 2 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 877 2017 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

60 

61 

62 

63 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

any instructions o r guiding documentation, and must include all 

clini ca l documentation necessary for the health insurer to make 

a decision . At a minimum , the form must include: (1) sufficient 

patient information to identify the member , date of birth , full 

name, and Health Plan ID number ; (2) provider name, address and 

p hone number ; (3) the medical procedure, course of treatment, or 

prescription drug benefit being requested , including the medical 

reason therefor , and all services tried and failed; (4) any 

laboratory documentation required ; and (5) an attestation that 

all information provided is true and accurate . The form, whether 

in electronic or paper format , may not require information that 

is not necessary for the determination of medical necessity of , 

or coverage for , the requested medi ca l procedure, course of 

treatment, or prescript i on drug. 

(3) The Financial Services Commission in consultation with 

the Agency for Health Care Administration shall adopt by rule 

guidelines for all prior authorization f o rms which ensure the 

general uniformity of such f orms . 

( 4) Electronic prior authorization approvals do not 

70 preclude benefit verif ication or medical review by the insurer 

71 under either the medical or pharmacy benefits . 

72 (5) A health insurer, a pharmacy benefits manager on 

73 behalf of the health insurer , or a utilization review entity 

74 must provide the following information in writing or in 

75 electronic format upon request , and on a publicly accessible 

Page 3 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 877 2017 

76 

77 

78 

79 

80 

81 

82 

83 

84 

85 

86 

87 

88 

89 

Internet website: 

(a) Detailed descriptions of requirements and restrictions 

to obtain prior author i zation for coverage of a medical 

procedure, course of treatment , or prescription drug in clear , 

easily understandable language. Clinica l criteria must be 

described in language easi l y understandable by a health care 

provi der . 

(b) Prior autho r ization forms. 

(6) A hea l th i nsure r, a pharmacy benef i ts manager on 

behalf of the hea lth insurer, or a utilizat i on review entity may 

not implement any new requirements or restrictions or make 

changes to existing requirements or restrictions to obtain prior 

authorizat i on unless: 

(a) The changes have been available on a public l y 

90 access i b l e Internet website at least 60 days before the 

91 implementation of the changes. 

92 (b ) Policyholders and health care providers who are 

93 affected by the new requirements and restrictions or changes to 

94 the requirements and restrict i ons are provi ded with a written 

95 notice of the changes at l east 60 days before the changes are 

96 implemented. Such not i ce ma y be delivered electronically o r by 

97 o ther means as ag r eed to by the insured or health care provider . 

98 

99 This subsection does not apply to expansion of hea l th care 

100 services coverage . 

Page 4 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 877 2017 

101 

102 

103 

104 

105 

106 

107 

108 

109 

110 

111 

112 

113 

114 

115 

116 

117 

118 

(7) A hea lth insurer, a pharmacy benefits manager on 

behalf of the health insurer , or a util ization review ent i ty 

must authorize or deny a prior authorization request and notify 

the patient and the patient ' s treating health care provider of 

the decision within : 

(a) Three business days of obtaining a completed p ri or 

authorization form for non - urgent care situations. 

(b) Twenty-four hours of obtaining a completed prior 

authorization form for urgent care situations . 

Section 2 . Section 627.42393 , Florida Statutes , is created 

to read : 

627 . 42393 Fail - first protocols . -

(1) As used in this section, the term : 

(a) " Fail - first protocol " means a wri tten protocol that 

specifies the order in which certain medical procedure , course 

of treatment, or prescription drug must be used to treat an 

insured ' s condition . 

(b) "Health insurer " has the same meaning as provided in 

119 s . 627.42392 . 

120 (c) " Preceding prescription drug or medical treatment " 

121 means a medical procedure , course of treatment, or prescript i on 

122 drug that must be used pursuant to a health insurer ' s fail - first 

123 protocol as a condition of coverage unde r a hea lth insurance 

124 policy or a health ma i ntenance contract to treat an insured ' s 

125 condition . 

Page 5 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 877 2017 

126 (d) "Protocol exception " means a determination by a health 

127 insurer that a fail - first p r otocol is not medica l ly appropriate 

128 or indicated for treatment of an insured's condition and the 

129 health insurer authorizes the use of another medical procedure, 

130 course of treatment , or prescription drug prescribed or 

131 recommended by the treating health care provi der for the 

132 insured's condition. 

133 (e) "Urgent care situation " means the standard time frame 

134 to treat the insured 's injury or condition would : 

135 

136 

137 

138 

139 

140 

141 

14 2 

143 

144 

145 

146 

147 

148 

149 

150 

1. Seriously jeopardize the insured's life, health, or 

ability to regain maximum function based on a prudent 

layperson ' s judgment; or 

2. Subject the insured to severe pain that cannot be 

adequately managed , based on the opini on of the treat ing health 

care provider. 

(2) A health insurer must publish on its website, and 

provide to an insured in writing , a procedure for an insured and 

health care provider to request a protocol exception. The 

procedure must include: 

(a) A description of the manner in which an insured or 

health care provider may request a protocol exception. 

(b) The manner and timeframe in which the health insurer 

is required to authorize or deny a protocol exception request or 

respond to an appeal to a health i nsurer 's authorization or 

denial of a request. 

Page 6 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

151 

152 

153 

154 

155 

156 

157 

158 

159 

160 

161 

162 

163 

164 

165 

166 

167 

168 

169 

170 

171 

172 

173 

174 

175 

HB 877 

(c) Conditions in which the protocol exception request 

must be granted. 

(3) (a) The health insurer must authorize or deny a 

protocol exception request or respond to an appeal to a health 

insurer's authorization or denial of a request within : 

1. Three business days of obta ining a completed prior 

authorization form for non-urgent ca re situations. 

2. Twenty-four hours of obtaining a completed prior 

authorization form for urgent care situations. 

2017 

(b) An authorization of the request must specify the 

approved medical procedure, course of treatment, o r prescription 

drug benefits. 

(c) A denial of the request must include a detailed, 

written explanation of the reason for the denial, the clinical 

rationale that supports the denial , and the procedure to appeal 

the health insurer's determination. 

(4) A health insurer must grant a protocol exception 

request if: 

(a) A preceding prescription drug or medical treatment is 

contraindicated or will likely cause an adverse reaction or 

physical or mental harm to the insured; 

(b) A preceding prescription drug is expected to be 

ineffective, based on the medical history of the insured and the 

clinical evidence o f the characteristi cs of the preceding 

prescription drug or medical treatment; 

Page 7 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

HB 877 

17 6 (c) The insured has previously received a preceding 

177 prescription drug or medical treatment that is in the same 

178 pharmacologic class or has the same mechanism of action, and 

179 such drug or treatment lacked efficacy or effectiveness or 

180 adversely effected the i nsured ; or 

2017 

181 (d) A preceding prescription drug or medical treatment is 

182 not in the best interest of the insured because the insured ' s 

183 use o f such drug or treatment is expected to: 

184 1. Cause a significant barrier to the insured's adherence 

1 85 to or compliance with the insured ' s plan of care ; 

186 2 . Worsen an insured ' s medical condition that exists 

187 simultaneously but independently with the condition under 

188 treatment; or 

1 89 3 . Decrease the insured ' s abi lit y to achieve or maintain 

190 his or her ability to perform daily activities . 

1 91 (5) The health insurer may request a copy of relevant 

192 documentation from the i nsured ' s medical record in support of a 

1 93 protocol exception request. 

194 Section 3 . This act shall take effect July 1, 2017. 

Page 8 of 8 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb0877-00 



111 11111111111111111111 11111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 877 (2017) 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE ACTION 

ADOPTED (Y/ N) 

ADOPTED AS AMENDED 

ADOPTED W/ 0 OBJECTION 

FAILED TO ADOPT 

WITHDRAWN 

OTHER 

(Y/ N) 

(Y / N) 

(Y / N) 

(Y / N) 

1 Committee / Subcommittee hearing bill: Health Innovation 

2 Subcommittee 

3 Representativ e Harrison offered the following: 

4 

5 Amendment {with title amendment} 

6 Remove ev ery thing after the enacting clause and insert: 

7 Section 1. Section 627 . 42393, Florida Statutes, is created 

8 to read : 

9 

10 

11 

627.42393 Fail-first protocols.-

(1) As used in this section, the term: 

(a) "Fail-first protocol" means a written policy that 

12 specifies the order in which a certain medical procedure, course 

13 of treatment, or prescription drug must be used to treat an 

14 insured's condition. 

657 3 69 - h0877-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 /2 017 6:05 : 54 PM 

Page 1 of 5 



15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

37 

38 

11111111111111111111111 11111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 877 (2017) 

(b) "Health insurer" means an authorized insurer offering 

health insurance as defined ins. 624.603 or a health 

maintenance organization as defined ins. 641.19(12). 

(c) "Preceding prescription drug or medical treatment" 

means a medical procedure, course of treatment, or prescription 

drug that must be used to treat an insured's condition pursuant 

to a health insurer's fail-first protocol as a condition of 

coverage under a health insurance policy or a health maintenance 

contract. 

(d) "Protocol exception" means a determination by a health 

insurer that a fail-first protocol is not medically appropriate 

or indicated for treatment of an insured's condition and the 

health insurer authorizes the use of another medical procedure, 

course of treatment, or prescription drug prescribed or 

recommended by the treating health care provider. 

(e) "Urgent care situation" means the standard timeframe 

to treat the insured's injury or condition would, based on the 

opinion of a treating health care provider: 

1. Seriously jeopardize the insured's life, health, or 

ability to regain maximum function; or 

2. Subject the insured to pain that cannot be adequately 

managed. 

(2) A health insurer must publish on its website, and 

provide to an insured in writing, the procedure for an insured 

657369 - h0877-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 /2 4/2017 6:05:54 PM 

Page 2 of 5 



39 

40 

41 

42 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

1111111111111111111 1111 11111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE/SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 877 (2017) 

or health care provider to request a protocol exception. The 

procedure must include: 

(a) A description of the manner in which an insured or 

health care provider may request a protocol exception. 

(b) The manner and timeframe in which the health insurer 

is required to authorize or deny a protocol exception request or 

respond to an appeal of a health insurer's authorization or 

denial of a request . 

(c) Conditions in which the protocol exception request 

must be granted. 

(3) (a) The health insurer must authorize or deny a 

50 protocol e x ception request or respond to an appeal of an 

51 authorization or denial of a request within: 

52 1. Three business days of obtaining a completed protocol 

53 e xception request for a non-urgent care situation. 

54 2. Twenty-four hours of obtaining a completed protocol 

55 exception request for an urgent care situation. 

56 (b) An authorization of a protocol exception request must 

57 specify the approv ed medical procedure, course of treatment, or 

58 prescription drug benefits . 

59 (c) A denial of a protocol exception request must include 

60 a detailed, written e xplanation of the reason for the denial, 

61 the clinical rationale that supports the denial, and the 

62 procedure to appeal the determination . 

657369 - h0877-strike . docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6 : 05 : 54 PM 

Page 3 of 5 



63 

111 1111111111 1111111111 11111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 877 (2017) 

(4) A health insurer must grant a protocol exception 

64 request if: 

65 (a) A preceding prescription drug or medical treatment is 

66 contraindicated or likely to cause an adverse reaction or 

67 physical or mental harm to the insured; 

68 (b) A preceding prescription drug or medical treatment is 

69 expected to be ineffective, based on the medical history of the 

70 insured and the clinical evidence of the characteristics of the 

71 preceding prescription drug or medical treatment; or 

72 (c) The insured has previously received a preceding 

73 prescription drug or medical treatment that is in the same 

74 pharmacologic class or has the same mechanism of action, and 

75 such drug or treatment lacked efficacy or effectiveness or 

76 adversely affected the insured. 

77 (5) The health insurer may request a copy of relevant 

78 documentation from the insured's medical record in support of a 

79 protocol exception request. 

80 Section 2. This act shall take effect July 1, 2017. 

81 

82 

83 T I T L E A M E N D M E N T 

84 Remove everything before the enacting clause and insert: 

85 An act relating to fail-first protocols; creating s. 627.42393, 

86 F.S.; providing definitions; requiring health insurers to 

87 prov ide a procedure to obtain protocol exceptions on its website 

657369 - h0877-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:05:54 PM 

Page 4 of 5 



111 1111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 877 (2017) 

88 and in writing; prov iding information that must be included in 

89 the procedure; providing a timeframe in which health insurers 

90 must make a determination to protocol exception requests; 

91 providing notification requirements for such determination; 

92 providing circumstances in which health insurers must grant a 

93 protocol e x ception request; authorizing health insurers to 

94 request for certain medical records; providing an effective date 

657369 - h0877-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:05:54 PM 

Page 5 of 5 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 1077 Trauma Services 
SPONSOR(S): Trumbull 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 746 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee Siples 

2) Health Care Appropriations Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

The Department of Health (DOH) is responsible overseeing of the statewide inclusive trauma system which ensures 
that all injured trauma victims have access to the resources needed for care and treatment. Currently, DOH 
designates trauma centers in regional trauma services areas, but may designate no more than 44 trauma centers in 
the state, to ensure access to trauma services. Over the years , there has been extensive litigation related to DOH's 
apportionment of trauma centers needed in a particular trauma service area, as well as litigation related to the 
designation of specific hospitals as trauma centers. 

HB 1077 restructures how trauma centers are designated in the state by: 

• Eliminating the statewide limit on the number of trauma centers; 
• Eliminating trauma service areas and trauma regions; 
• Eliminating DOH's responsibility to set the standards for trauma centers or perform the necessary site 

surveys to ensure compliance with the standards; 
• Authorizing DOH to designate a hospital as a trauma center if it holds a certificate of verification issued by a 

national trauma accreditation body, completes a DOH-approved application, and provides copies of certain 
documents submitted to and received from the national trauma accreditation body; and 

• Allowing DOH to only deny an application for designation for failure to submit required application materials. 

Current provisional and verified trauma centers must obtain the certificate of verification by July 1, 2022, to maintain 
designations. DOH may take action against a trauma center if it fails to maintain its certification or the standards 
required to obtain the certificate of verification. DOH may also revoke a trauma center designation if it fails to 
provide or withholds the information it supplied to the national trauma center accreditation body. 

The bill requires DOH to coordinate the development of a state trauma plan to serve as the basis for the statewide 
inclusive trauma system. The plan must be updated by December 31 of every odd year. 

The bill prohibits more than one trauma agency in a county. The bill grandfathers the trauma agencies that exist 
before July 1, 2018. The bill requires trauma agencies, which serve regional areas or counties, to submit a regional 
trauma plan biennially rather than every 5 years as required in existing law. The bill requires all emergency medical 
services providers to submit and obtain approval of their trauma transport protocol, regardless of whether it operates 
in conjunction with a trauma agency that has DOH-approved trauma transport protocols. 

The bill will have a significant, positive indeterminate fiscal impact on DOH and no fiscal impact on local 
governments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Current Situation 

Florida Trauma System 

The regulation of trauma centers in Florida is governed by Part II of Chapter 395, F.S., and 
administered by the Department of Health (DOH) by rule in chapter 64J-2, F.A.C. A trauma center is a 
type of hospital that provides trauma surgeons, neurosurgeons, and other surgical and non-surgical 
specialists and medical personnel, equipment, and facilities for immediate or follow-up treatment of 
severely injured patients who have sustained a single or multisystem injury due to blunt or penetrating 
means or burns. As part of the state trauma system plan, DOH is required to establish trauma regions 
which cover all geographical areas of the state and have boundaries that align with the state's seven 
Regional Domestic Security Task Force regions.1 These regions may serve as the basis for the 
development of department-approved local or regional trauma plans. 

Florida Trauma Service Areas, Agencies and Regions 

Florida's trauma system is comprised of seven trauma regions and nineteen trauma service areas 
(TSAs). The trauma system also includes local and regional trauma agencies, but at any one time there 
have been four agencies in existence -the North Central Florida Trauma Agency, Hillsborough County 
Trauma Agency, Palm Beach Trauma Agency and Broward County Trauma Agency. The impact of 
trauma agencies in the current trauma system is unknown. The seven trauma regions, which match the 
Regional Domestic Security Task Force regions established by the Department of Law Enforcement 
(FDLE) pursuant to s. 943.0312(1 ), F.S., are illustrated below.2 

1 S. 395.4015, F.S., 

)/29/2013 

Trauma Centers 

+ Levell 

0 Levelll 

+ Level II an<! Pediatric 

+ Pediatric 

R Provisionalleve l ll 

lorida De-partment of Hcatth 
tviSI()t'l of Emef"geney Preparednea.s and Community Suppon 0 
ureau of Eme-rgency MedlC&I OverStgnl 

• 
50 100 200 Miles 

2 Florida Department of Health , Division of Emergency Preparedness and Community Support, Bureau of Emergency Medical 
Oversight, Trauma Centers, March 29, 2013 (on file with Health and Human Services Committee staff). 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 2 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Florida is divided into nineteen TSAs, detailed below: 3 

Alachua, Bradford, Columbia, Dixie, Gilchrist, 
Hamilton, Lafayette, Levy, Putnam, Suwannee, 

Union 

For purposes of medical response times, the TSAs are designed to provide the best and fastest 
services to the state's population. Each TSA should have at least one Level I or Level II trauma center 
and there may be no more than 44 trauma centers in the state.4 Each Levell and Levell I trauma center 
must be capable of annually treating a minimum of 1 ,000 and 500 patients, respectively, with an injury 
severity score of 9 or greater.5 A Level II trauma center in a county with a population of more than 
500,000 must have the capacity to care for 1,000 patients per year.6 Currently, TSA 17 (Collier) is not 
directly covered by a trauma center.7 

DOH is required to apportion, by rule, the number of trauma centers needed for each TSA.8 

Additionally, DOH is required to adopt rules based on standards for verification of trauma centers based 
on national guidelines, to include those established by the American College of Surgeons (ACS) 
entitled "Hospital and Pre-hospital Resources for Optimal Care of the Injured Patient" and standards 
specific to pediatric trauma centers are to be developed in conjunction with the DOH Division of 
Children 's Medical Services.9 

3 S. 395.402(4)(a), F.S. 
4 S. 395.402(4}(b) and (c), F.S. 
5 S. 395.402(1 }, F.S. 
6 ld. 
7 Florida Department of Health , Amended Trauma Service Area Assessment, January 6, 2016, page 23, available at 
www.floridahealth .gov/licensing-and-regulation/trauma-system/ documents/trauma-area-service-assessment.pdf (last visited on March 
7, 2017). 
8 S. 395.402(4)(b}, F.S ., and Rule 64J-2 .010, F.A.C. 
9 S. 395.401(2}, F.S., and Rule 64J-2 .011 , F.A.C. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



A trauma agenci0 develops a plan for its local and regional trauma services system. The plan, which 
must be submitted to DOH for approval, must include: 

• The organizational structure of the trauma system; 
• Prehospital care management guidelines for triage and transportation of trauma cases; 
• The flow patterns of trauma cases and transportation system design and resources; 
• The number and location of needed trauma centers based on local needs, population, and 

location and distribution of resources; 
• Data collection regarding system operation and patient outcomes; 
• Periodic performance evaluation of the trauma system and its components; 
• The use of air transport services within the jurisdiction of the trauma agency; 
• Public information and education about the trauma system; 
• Emergency medical services communication system usage and dispatching; 
• The coordination and integration between the trauma center and other acute care hospitals; 
• Medical control and accountability; and 
• Quality control and system evaluation. 

Florida only has one regional trauma agency and three local trauma agencies. Although, by rule, 11 

trauma agency boundaries are to be aligned with the Regional Domestic Security Task Force regions, 
none of regional or local trauma agencies have boundaries that align with these regions.12 

Trauma Centers 

A hospital may receive a designation as a Levell, Level II, pediatric, or provisional trauma center if 
DOH verifies that the hospital is in substantial compliance with s. 395.4025, F.S. , and the relevant 
trauma center standards.13 A trauma center may have more than one designation; for example, Sacred 
Heart Hospital in Pensacola carries both a Level II and a pediatric trauma center designation. As of July 
29, 2016, the following hospitals are designated trauma centers: 14 

Level II Bay 

Level II Pinellas 

Level II Manatee 

Level II Pasco 

10 A trauma agency is a DOH-approved agency established and operated by one or more counties, or a DOH-approved entity with 
which one or more counties contract, for the purpose of administering an inclusive regional trauma system. (S . 395.4001 ( 11 ), F .S.) 
11 Rule 64J-2.007, F.A.C. 
12 Supra, FN 7, at pg . 5. 
13 The trauma center standards are provided in DH Pamphlet 150-9 and codified in Rule 64J-2.011 , F.A.C. The standards were last 
updated in January 2010. 
1 Florida Department of Health , Florida Trauma Centers, available at http://www.floridahealth .gov/licensinq-and-requlation/trauma
system/ documents/traumacenterlistinq2016.pdf (last visited on March 7, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 4 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Kendall Regional Medical Center 
Lakeland Regional Medical Center, Inc. Level II Polk 

Lawnwood Medical Center, Inc. 
Level II St. Lucie 

Lawnwood Regional Medical Center & Heart Institute 
Lee Memorial Health System Level II Lee 

Marion Community Hospital, Inc. Ocala Regional Medical Center/ 
Level II Marion 

West Marion Community 
North Broward Hospital District 

Levell Broward 
Broward Health Medical Center 
North Broward Hospital District 

Level II Broward 
Broward Health North 

Orlando Health, lnc.(Orlando Regional Medical Center) Levell Orange 
Orange Park Medical Center Provisional Level II Clay 

Osceola Regional Medical Center Level II Osceola 
Sacred Heart Health System, Inc. Level II I Pediatric Escambia 

Sarasota Memorial Hospital Level II Sarasota 
Shands Jacksonville Medical Center, Inc. 

Levell Duval 
Shands Jacksonville/ UF Health Jacksonville 
Shands Teaching Hospital and Clinics, Inc. 

Levell Alachua 
Shands UF (Gainesville) 

South Broward Hospital District 
Levell Broward 

Memorial Regional Hospital 
St. Joseph's Hospital , Inc. Level II I Pediatric Hillsborough 

St. Mary's Medical Center, Inc. Levell Palm Beach 
Tallahassee Memorial Healthcare, Inc. Level II Leon 

The Public Health Trust of Miami-Dade County, Florida 
Jackson Health System Levell Miami-Dade 

Jackson Memorial Hospital I Ryder Trauma Center 
Variety Children's Hospital, Inc. 

Pediatric Dade 
Nicklaus Children's Hospital 

A provisional trauma center is a hospital that has been verified to be in substantial compliance with the 
requirements ins. 395.4025, is approved by DOH to operate as a provisional Levell, Level II or 
pediatric trauma center, and has applied to be a verified trauma center.15 A hospital that is granted 
provisional status operates as a provisional trauma center for up to one year while DOH conducts an in
depth review and a provisional onsite survey prior to deciding to approve or deny verification. 16 

Currently, there is one provisional Levell trauma center, Kendal Regional Medical Center in Miami , and 
two provisional Level II trauma centers, Jackson South Community Hospital in Miami and Orange Park 
Medical Center in Orange Park. 

A Level I trauma center serves as a resource facility to Level II trauma centers, pediatric trauma 
referral-centers, and general hospitals through shared outreach, education, and quality-improvement 
activities. 17 A Level I trauma center must have: 18 

• A minimum of five qualified trauma surgeons, assigned to the trauma service, with at least two 
trauma surgeons available to provide in-hospital trauma services and backup trauma coverage 
24 hours a day, when summoned. 

• Twelve surgical specialties and eleven non-surgical specialties. These specialties must be 
available to provide in-hospital trauma services and backup trauma coverage 24 hours, when 
summoned. 

15 S. 395.4001(10}, F.S. 
16 S. 395.4025(3), (5) , and (6) , F.S. 
17 S. 395.4001(6)(b), F.S. 
18 Florida Department of Health , Trauma Center Standards, Pamphlet 150-9, January 2010 , pages 2.1-2.38, available at 
http:/ /www.floridahealth.gov/licensinq-and-requlation/trauma-system/ documents/traumacntrstandpamphlet150-9-2009rev1-14-1 O.pdf 
(last visited on March 7, 2017}. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 5 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



• Formal research and education programs for the enhancement of both adult and pediatric 
trauma care. 

A Level II trauma center serves as a resource facility to general hospitals through shared outreach , 
education, and quality improvement activities.19 A Level II trauma center must have:20 

• A minimum of five qualified trauma surgeons, assigned to trauma service, with at least two 
trauma surgeons available to arrive promptly to the trauma center to provide trauma services 
within 30 minutes from inside or outside of the hospital, and backup trauma coverage 24 hours 
a day, when summoned. 

• Nine surgical specialties and nine non-surgical specialties available to provide trauma services 
and arrive promptly to provide trauma coverage 24 hours a day, when summoned. 

In contrast to the requirements of a Level I or Level II trauma center, a pediatric trauma center must 
have:21 

• A minimum of five qualified trauma surgeons22
, assigned to the trauma service, with at least two 

trauma surgeons available to provide trauma services and backup trauma coverage 24-hours a 
day, when summoned. If the trauma medical director is not a pediatric surgeon, then at least 
one of the five must be a pediatric surgeon. 

• Ten surgical specialties and eight non-surgical specialties available 24 hours a day to arrive 
promptly when summoned. 

• Formal research and education programs for the enhancement of pediatric trauma care. 

All trauma centers are required to submit quality indicator data to the Florida Trauma Registry.23 

Florida Trauma System Reforms 

During the 2003-2004 legislative interim, the Florida Senate's Committee on Home Defense, Public 
Security, and Ports conducted a study to review Florida's hospital response capacity and examine the 
disparity of available trauma centers across the state.24 The study recommended adopting the borders 
of the seven Regional Domestic Security Task Force regions as the state trauma regions and 
maintaining the nineteen TSAs.25 

Following the interim study, numerous bills were filed during the 2004 Legislative Session to amend the 
trauma system. Senate Bill 1762 (2004) was the only law enacted following that Session. 26 The law 
required the boundaries of the trauma regions to be coterminous with the boundaries of the Regional 
Domestic Security Task Force regions established within FDLE. The law included a grandfather clause 
to allow the delivery of trauma services coordinated with a trauma agency pursuant to a public or 
private agreement established before July 1, 2004. DOH was also directed to complete an assessment 

19 S. 395.4001(7}(b), F.S. 
20 Supra , FN 18 at pages 3.2-3.33. 
21 ld. at pages 4.2-4.36 
22 A trauma surgeon is required to be board certified or a trauma surgeon actively participating in the certification process within a 
specified timeframe may fill the requirement for pediatric surgery if the following conditions are met: 

• The trauma medical director attests in writing that the substitute trauma surgeon has competency in the care of pediatric 
trauma; and 

• A hospital grants privileges to the trauma surgeon to provide care to the injured child. 
23 S. 395.404(1 )(a), F.S. 
24 The Florida Senate, Committee on Home Defense, Publ ic Security, and Ports, Hospital Response Capacity, Report Number 2004-
148, available at http:/larchive.flsenate.gov/data/Publications/2004/Senate/reports/interim reports/pdf/2004-148hp.pdf (last visited on 
March 7, 2017). 
25 1d. at page 11 . 
26 Ch. 2004-259, Laws of Fla. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 6 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



of the effectiveness of the trauma system and report its findings to the Governor and Legislature by 
February 1, 2005. The assessment included:27 

• Consideration of aligning trauma service areas within the trauma region boundaries as 
established in July 2004. 

• Review of the number and level of trauma centers needed for each TSA to provide a statewide, 
integrated trauma system. 

• Establishment of criteria for determining the number and level of trauma centers needed to 
serve the population in a defined TSA or region . 

• Consideration of a criterion within trauma center verification standards based on the number of 
trauma victims served within a service area . 

• Review of the Regional Domestic Security Task Force structure to determine whether 
integrating the trauma system planning with interagency regional emergency and disaster 
planning efforts is feasible and to identify any duplication of effort between the two entities. 

In conducting the assessment and subsequent annual reviews, the law required DOH to consider the 
following :28 

• The recommendations made as a part of the regional trauma system in plans submitted by 
regional trauma agencies. 

• Stakeholder recommendations. 
• Geographical composition of an area to ensure rapid access to trauma care. 
• Historical patterns of patient referral and transfer in an area . 
• Inventories of available trauma care resources, including professional medical staff. 
• Population growth characteristics. 
• Transportation capabilities , including ground and air transport. 
• Medically appropriate ground and air travel times. 
• Recommendations of the Regional Domestic Security Task Force. 
• The actual number of trauma victims currently being served by each trauma center. 
• Other appropriate criteria . 

In February 2005, DOH submitted the report to the Legislature, which included the findings of an 
assessment conducted by a group of researchers from the University of South Florida and the 
University of Florida. The report made numerous recommendations, including a recommendation to 
amend the TSAs to align them with the Regional Domestic Security Task Force regions. To date, the 
Legislature has not amended the structure of the trauma system to incorporate the recommendations of 
the report. 

In 2013, the Legislature passed, and the Governor signed into law, House Bill 1159 which , among other 
provisions, amended s. 395.4025{14), F.S. , to require DOH to designate a hospital in an area with 
limited access to trauma center services as a Level II trauma center if the hospital provided a valid 
certificate of trauma center verification from the ACS. 29 An area with limited access to trauma center 
services is defined by the following criteria: 

• The hospital is located in a TSA with a population greater than 600,000 persons but a 
population density of less than 225 persons per square mile; 

• The hospital is located in a county with no verified trauma center; and 
• The hospital is located at least 15 miles or 20 minutes travel time by ground transport from the 

nearest verified trauma center. 

27 S. 395.402(2), F.S . 
28 S. 395.402(3), F.S. 
29 S. 3, ch . 2013-153, Laws of Fla . 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE : 7 



Florida Trauma System Administrative Rule Challenge and Associated Litigation 

In 2011, four not-for-profit hospitals30 challenged DOH approval of new trauma centers in Pasco,31 

Manatee,32 and Clal3 counties by initiating a formal challenge to Rule 64J-2.01 0, F.A.C. ("the Rule"). 
The Rule sets the number of trauma centers in the state at 42 and apportions to each TSA the number 
of trauma centers permitted therein.34 The hospitals argued that, since the Rule was promulgated in 
1992, substantial amendments to part II of chapter 395, F.S., effectively repealed and invalidated the 
Rule. In addition, the hospitals argued that 2004 amendments to s. 395.4015, F.S., required DOH to 
establish trauma regions coterminous with the boundaries of the seven Regional Domestic Security 
Task Force regions established ins. 943.0312, F.S. However, the Rule establishes 19 TSAs that are 
not coterminous with the seven regions. Lastly, the hospitals argued that the 2005 assessment found 
that it would be feasible to reduce the TSAs to match the seven regions, yet the Rule was never 
amended to adopt this recommendation. In July 2011, due to the rule challenge, DOH initiated a special 
study using national trauma experts and state and local stakeholders to develop evidenced-based 
guidelines to be used by DOH in the determination of new trauma center locations. 

In September 2011, the Division of Administrative Hearings (DOAH) issued an administrative order 
finding that the Rule was invalid, as alleged. DOH appealed the ruling and the State Surgeon General 
suspended the special study and the planning efforts of the trauma program until the rule challenge and 
resulting litigation was resolved. DOH continued the trauma program's application , verification, and 
quality assurance activities pending the outcome of the appeal. 

On November 30 , 2012, the First District Court of Appeal held that the Rule was an invalid exercise of 
delegated legislative authority, finding: 35 

• The trauma statutes were substantially amended in 2004, yet the rule remained unchanged 
since 1992. As such , the rule continues to implement outdated provisions of the statutes, 
without implementing any of the enumerated statutes. 

• DOH has not updated the rule to conform to the 2004 amendments or the 2005 Assessment. 
• The rule does not implement the 2004 amendment to section 395.4015, which governs state 

regional trauma planning and trauma regions. 
• Both the pre-and post-2004 versions of the statute require DOH to establish trauma regions that 

"cover all geographic areas of the state." However, the 2004 amendment requires that the 
trauma regions both "cover all geographical areas of the state and have boundaries that are 
coterminous with the boundaries of the regional domestic security task forces established under 
s. 943.0312. " 

• Because the rule continues to set forth nineteen trauma service areas that are not coterminous 
with the boundaries of the seven regional domestic security taskforces, it does not implement 
the changes in the 2004 version of section 395.4015, F.S. 

Instead of appealing the decision, DOH initiated the rulemaking process to develop an inclusive, 
sustainable trauma system that distributes trauma centers throughout the state. The rulemaking 
process is discussed in detail below. 

In May 2016, Shands Jacksonville Medical Center, Inc. , d/b/a UF Health Jacksonville, challenged 
DOH's approval of Orange Park Medical Center, Inc., as a provisional Level II trauma center. 36 At the 
time of submission of its intent to establish a Level II trauma center in October 2015 and throughout the 

30 Bayfront Medical Center in St. Petersburg , Tampa General Hospital , St. Joseph's Hospital in Tampa , and Shands Jacksonville. 
31 Blake Medical Center in Bradenton . 
32 Regional Medical Center Bayonet Point in Hudson. 
33 Orange Park Medical Center in Orange Park. 
34 For example, Rule 64J-2 .010(3), F.A.C., limits the number of trauma centers in TSA 9 (Pasco, Pinellas) to 3 and in TSA 16 (Palm 
Beach) to 2. 
35 See Department of Health v. Bayfront Medical Center, 2012 WL 5971201 (Fia .App. 1 Dist.) . 
36 Shands Jacksonville Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a UF Health Jacksonville v. Department of Health, DOAH Case No. 16-3369 (Jan. 27, 
2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 8 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



application and review process, TSA 5, where Orange Park Medical Center is located, was allocated 
one trauma center for the area.37 In 2015, DOH proposed an amendment to the rule governing the 
allocation of trauma centers that would have increased the number of trauma centers in TSA 5 to two, 
but the proposed rule was challenged and eventually withdrawn by DOH. 38 The rule had not been 
adopted at the time DOH approved Orange Park Medical Center to operate as a provisional Level II 
trauma center. The court ultimately ruled that the provisional Level II trauma center designation was 
awarded in error because there was not a slot available in TSA 5, and DOH relied on an unadapted rule 
that permitted DOH to accept a letter of intent regardless of whether there was a slot available in the 
affected TSA. 39 

Rulemaking Process to Amend the Rule on Apportionment of Trauma Centers 

In December 2012, DOH held its first rule development workshop to gather input from the trauma 
system providers and partners on how the Rule could be amended to ensure an inclusive trauma 
system in Florida. At least 10 rulemaking workshops were held through 2013 in an effort to reach 
agreement, but no consensus on rule language was reached. 

A negotiated rulemaking proceeding was held on January 23, 2014, to draft a mutually acceptable 
proposed rule addressing the appropriate distribution of trauma centers in Florida. No consensus on 
draft rule language was reached at the meeting. Subsequently, DOH published a Notice of Proposed 
Rule on February 3, 2014, which detailed substantive changes to the Rule governing the allocation of 
trauma centers in the TSAs. The final rule was adopted on July 29, 2014. Although a number of cases 
were filed challenging the validity of the rule, an administrative law judge upheld the validity of rule. 40 

In May 2015, DOH sought to amend the trauma system rules and held a workshop on the proposed 
changes. The workshop included a discussion of the changes, including changes to the allocation of 
trauma centers in two TSAs in northeast Florida and two TSAs in south Florida. An additional workshop 
was held in August 2015, to discuss issues related to guidelines for triage and trauma center standards. 
In December 2015, DOH withdrew proposed amendments to rule 64J-2.010, F.A.C., which specifically 
addressed the allocation of the trauma centers. 

In February 2016, DOH once again published a proposed rule amendment impacting the allocation of 
trauma centers among the TSAs. DOH held a rule hearing in March 2016, on the proposed 
amendment, which again changed the allocation of trauma centers in two TSAs in northeast Florida 
and two TSAs in south Florida. Challenges to the rule were filed with DOAH by The Public Health Trust 
of Miami-Dade County, which operates the Jackson Memorial Health System, Broward County, which 
operates three trauma centers, and Shands Jacksonville Medical Center, Inc., d/b/a UF Health of 
Jacksonville. On April 12, 2016, DOH withdrew the rule; and with that withdrawal, the plaintiffs' 
challenges were moot. 

In June and July 2016, DOH held a series of workshops in Tallahassee, West Palm Beach, and 
Orlando to work with stakeholders on proposed amendments to the trauma rules, again addressing the 
allocation of trauma centers. On September 26, 2016, DOH published proposed amendments to the 
trauma rule and held a rule hearing. Several hospitals filed petitions with DOAH to determine the 
validity of the proposed rules .41 The primary concern of this litigation, as with previous litigation, is the 
allocation of trauma centers, as well as the methodology used by DOH to determine the allocation. A 

37 Rule 64J-2.01 0, F.A.C. TSA 5 includes Baker, Clay, Duval, Nassau, and St. John's County. 
38 See below for further discussion of the rulemaking process. 
39 Supra, FN 36. 
40 ld. 
41 According to the DOAH's website, there are active rule challenges by St. Joseph's Hospital , Inc., d/b/a St. Joseph's Hospital 
(Tampa); Bayfront HMA Medical Center, LLC, d/b/a Bayfront Heath- St. Petersburg; Lee Memorial Health System, d/b/a Lee Memorial 
Hospital ; Florida Health Sciences Center, Inc., d/b/a Tampa General Hospital; and Shands Jacksonville Medical Center, Inc. d/b/a U.F. 
Hospital Jacksonville. Intervenors include JFK Medical Center Limited Partnership, d/b/a JFK Medical Center (Atlantis); The Public 
Health Trust of Miami-Dade County, Florida, d/b/a Jackson South Community Hospital; and Orange Park Medical Center, Inc. d/b/a 
Orange Park Medical Center (last viewed March 25, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 9 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



hearing on the rule challenge was held January 10 through 13, 2017, and a recommended order has 
notyetbeenissued. 

American College of Surgeons (ACS) 

The ACS is a scientific and educational association of surgeons established in 1913.42 ACS works to 
improve the quality of care for the surgical patient by setting high standards for surgical education and 
practice. ACS does not designate trauma centers; instead, it verifies the presence of the resources 
listed in a book, "Resources for Optimal Care of the Injured Patient, "43 which is recognized as a guide to 
develop trauma centers in the United States. ACS site surveyors use the book to review trauma 
centers. Currently, ACS is the only national trauma accreditation body to offer verification services. 

According to ACS, the consultation and verification process helps hospitals to evaluate and improve 
trauma care by providing an objective, external review of a trauma center's resources and performance. 
A team of ACS trauma experts complete an on-site review of a hospital to assess relevant features of a 
trauma program, including commitment, readiness, resources, policies, patient care, and performance 
improvement. The fee for the initial verification consultation is $18,000,44 and the annual fee ranges 
from $17,000 to $34,000 depending on the level of verification the hospital holds.45 The certification 
process is voluntary and only those trauma centers that have successfully completed a verification visit 
are awarded a certificate. 46 ACS awards Level I through IV verifications:47 

• A Level I facility is a regional resource trauma center that is a tertiary care facility central to the 
trauma system. The facility must have the capability of providing leadership and total care for 
every aspect of injury, from prevention through rehabilitation, and must have the depth of 
resources and personnel. A Level I center is usually a university-based teaching hospital due to 
the large number of personnel and resources required for patient care, education, and research. 

• A Level II facility may not be able to provide the same comprehensive care as a Level I trauma 
center and more complex injuries may need to be transferred to a Level I center. The Level II 
trauma center is required to provide initial definitive trauma care regardless of the severity of the 
injury. A Level II trauma center may be an academic institution or a public or private community 
facility located in an urban, suburban, or rural area. 

• A Level Ill facility is required to provide prompt assessment, resuscitation, emergency 
operations, and stabilization for a patient, arrange for possible transfer to another facility that 
can provide definitive care, and maintain transfer agreements and standardized treatment 
protocols. General surgeons are required in a Level Ill trauma center. A Level Ill trauma center 
is generally not appropriate in urban or suburban areas with adequate Level I or Level II 
resources. 

• A Level IV facility provides advanced trauma life support before a patient is transferred to 
another facility for additional care. A Level IV trauma center is located in a remote area where 
no higher level of care is available and the trauma center serves as the de facto primary care 

42 American College of Surgeons, History of the American College of Surgeons, available at https://www.facs.org/about
acs/archives/acshistorv (last visited on March 7. 2017). 
43 A copy of this publication is on file with Health Innovation Subcommittee staff. 
44 If the consultation is for a Level II Pediatric with a Levell or II Adult, the total fee is $21,500. Additional fees may apply if other visits 
are needed. The cost of the initial consultation will increase to $19,000 in July 2018. See ACS , Fees and Invoices, available at 
https://www.facs.org/quality-programs/trauma/vrc/fees (last visited on March 9, 2017). 
45 The fees will increase in July 2019, and will range from $19,000 to $38,000. See ACS, Fees and Invoices, available at 
https://www.facs.org/qualitv-programs/trauma/vrc/fees (last visited on March 9, 2017). 
46 As of March 28, 2014, ACS verifies trauma centers in 47 states. The hospitals with ACS verification in Florida are Blake Medical 
Center in Bradenton (Level II trauma center), Jackson Memorial Hospital in Miami (Level I trauma center), Kendall Regional Medical 
Center in Miami (Levell I trauma center), Lawnwood Regional Medical Center in Fort Pierce (Level II trauma center), Ocala Regional 
Medical Center (Levell I trauma center) , Tampa General Hospital (Levell trauma center), and Tampa General Hospital Children 's 
Medical Center (Level I and pediatric trauma center). See American College of Surgeons, Searching for Verified Trauma Centers, 
available at: https://www.facs.org/search/trauma-centers (last visited on March 7. 2017). 
47 American College of Surgeons, Description of Hospital Levels, available at: http://www.facs.org/trauma/hospitallevels.pdf (last visited 
on March 7, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 10 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



provider. Such a facility may be a clinic rather than a hospital and a physician may not be 
available. 

According to DOH, several of the trauma centers in this state have started or completed ACS 
verification.48 Three trauma centers have scheduled on-site visits and seven have scheduled 
consultation visits for 2017.49 

In February 2013, the ACS Committee on Trauma (COT), at the request of the State Surgeon General, 
conducted a system consultation and review of Florida's trauma system. The final report from ACS was 
released to the DOH in May 2013. The following are some of the priority recommendations contained in 
the report: 50 

• Appoint a new Florida Trauma System Advisory Council to provide input to policy development 
for the trauma system. 

• Revise immediately the Florida trauma system plan to address key issues necessary for the 
further development of the regional and statewide trauma system.51 

• Use the Regional Domestic Security Task Force regions as the TSA regions, which will enable 
the integration of trauma centers with emergency medical services, disaster preparedness, and 
other regional activities. 

• Revise the distribution method of the trauma center fund to ensure designated trauma centers 
receive level-appropriate support for the "cost of readiness ." 

• Conduct an assessment of the current trauma system to inform decisions regarding the location 
and level of new trauma center designations. 

• Establish a transparent, broadly accepted process for future provisional trauma center 
designation based upon both capacity and trauma system need. 

• Impose a moratorium on any new provisional or verified trauma center designation until new 
processes are in place. 

• Evaluate the content, implementation, and method of enforcement of trauma transport protocols 
to assure uniformity and efficiency of patient flow both within trauma regions as well as 
statewide.52 

Trauma Transport Protocols 

Emergency medical service (EMS) providers must transport trauma alert victims53 to approved trauma 
centers, except as provided for in either a DOH-approved trauma transport protocol54 of the local or 
regional trauma agency, or if none exists, the DOH-approved trauma transport protocol of the EMS 
provider. A local or regional trauma agency55 may develop a uniform trauma transport protocol that is 
applicable to all licensed EMS providers operating within its geographical area. 

48 Department of Health , 2017 Agency Bill Analysis for HB 1077, (February 14, 2017), on file with the Health Innovation Subcommittee. 
49 ld . 
50 American College of Surgeons Committee on Trauma, Trauma Systems Evaluation and Planning Committee, Trauma System 
Consultation Report-State of Florida, Tallahassee, FL, February 2-5, 2013, available at http://www.floridahealth.gov/licensing-and
requlation/trauma-system/ documentslfl-report-final-5-6-13.pdf (last viewed on March 7, 2017). 
51 On March 3, 2014 and updated on April21, 2015, the DOH released the State Trauma System Plan , a document that laid out 
strategic priorities for the Florida trauma system based, in part, on the priority recommendations from the ACS, and set goals to be 
achieved by December 31, 2016. The Plan focused on tasks associated with developing Regional Trauma Agencies statewide and 
establishing benchmarking and ensuring data quality for performance improvement. The Plan is available at 
http://www.floridahealth.gov/licensinq-and-regulation/trauma-system/ documents/state-trauma-system-plan-final .pdf. (last visited on 
March 7, 2017). 
52 Supra, FN 50 at pages 12-14. 
53 A trauma alert victim is a person who has incurred a single or multiple injury due to blunt or penetrating means or burns, who requires 
immediate medical intervention or treatment, and who meets one or more of the adult or pediatric scorecard criteria established by 
DOH by rule . S. 395.4001(12), F.S. 
54 A trauma transport protocol is a document that describes the policies, processes, and procedures governing the dispatch of veh icles, 
triage, prehospital transport, and interfacility trauma transfer of trauma victims. 
55 A trauma agency is a DOH-approved agency established or operated by one or more counties, or a DOH-approved entity with which 
one or more counties contract to administer an inclusive regional trauma center. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 11 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



In a TSA in which air ambulance services are available, the trauma transport protocol may not permit 
an EMS provider to transport outside the TSA. However, if there is no air ambulance service available 
and there is no agreement between adjacent local or regional trauma agencies, an EMS provider must 
transport a patient with life-threatening injuries to the most appropriate trauma center as defined by 
DOH-approved trauma transport protocols. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 1077 redesigns the process by which trauma centers are designated by repealing the statewide 
limitation on the number of trauma centers, eliminating the regional trauma service areas, repealing 
DOH's duty to set standards for designation, and requiring trauma centers seeking designation to meet 
standards established by a national trauma accreditation body. Under the bill, DOH is responsible for 
planning, coordinating, and overseeing the statewide trauma system. Those duties include: 

• Designating trauma centers; 
• Publ ishing and maintaining a state trauma plan ; 
• Establishing and maintaining a statewide trauma registry to monitor, evaluate, and enforce the 

requirements of the state trauma plan; 
• Soliciting input from stakeholders and subject matter experts for the enhancement of a 

coordinated approach to the care of trauma victims, including the movement of a trauma victim 
through the system of care and the defined role of acute care hospitals; and 

• Actively fostering provision of trauma care and serving as a catalyst for improvements in the 
outcomes and treatment of trauma patients in an inclusive trauma system. 

The bill repeals a requirement that DOH coordinate with the Agency for Health Care Administration, the 
Board of Medicine, and the Board of Nursing to develop guidelines, standards, and rules related to an 
inclusive trauma system. The bill also repeals the designation of TSAs. 

Designation of Trauma Centers 

The bill eliminates the statewide limit on the number of trauma centers, as well as the limit on the 
number of trauma centers that may be located in each of the 19 TSAs. 

The bill repeals the current system of designating trauma centers and establishes a new procedure. 
The verification process for which DOH is currently responsible will shift from DOH to a national trauma 
center accreditation body. A hospital seeking verification must pay for any fees associated with 
obtaining such verification. 

Any hospital may apply for designation as a trauma center if it submits an application to DOH which 
includes: 

• The name and physical address of the hospital; 
• The name, telephone number, and e-mail address of the hospital 's chief executive officer, 

trauma medical director, and trauma program manager. Level I trauma center applicants must 
include information for both adult and pediatric services; 

• A list of all trauma victim-related interfacility transfer agreements with other designated trauma 
centers, acute care hospitals, burn centers, and rehabilitation facilities; 

• A description of the hospital's trauma surge capacity in the event of a natural disaster or mass 
casualty event; 

• A copy of the application materials submitted to the national trauma center accreditation bodi6 

for verification as a trauma center; 

56 The bill defines "national trauma center accreditation body" as an organization with optimal trauma center accreditation standards, 
approved by DOH, that publishes national guidelines for trauma center verification , has an active national trauma center verification 
program that has verified trauma centers in at least 25 states, and is not affiliated with any entity that is engaged in the delivery of 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 12 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



• 

• 

A copy of reports and evaluations issued to the hospital by the national trauma center 
accreditation body relating to verification as a trauma center; and 
The certificate of trauma center verification.57 

DOH will designate a hospital as a trauma center upon receipt of a completed application for 
designation as a trauma center and a valid certificate of trauma center verification. The designation as 
a Level I, Level II, or pediatric trauma center must correspond to the certificate of trauma center 
verification. DOH may only deny an application if it is missing any of the required information listed 
above. 

If a hospital has received provisional or verified status as a trauma center before July 1, 2016, it may 
continue its current operation as such, but must obtain a certificate of trauma center verification by July 
1, 2022, to maintain its designation as a trauma center by DOH. 

DOH may take corrective action against a trauma center, including revocation of the designation, if the 
trauma center fails to maintain its certification or the standards required to obtain verification from the 
national trauma center accreditation body as determined by DOH, its subcontractor, or the national 
trauma center accreditation body. A trauma center's designation is not valid if it does not hold a 
certificate of trauma center verification or the standards required to obtain verification from the national 
trauma center verification . DOH may also revoke a trauma center's designation if it fails to provide or 
withholds the information it supplied to any national trauma center accreditation body, at any time. 

The bill abolishes DOH's responsibility to determine the number of trauma centers needed, to conduct 
a review of an applicant for designation as a trauma center to determine if the hospital has the critical 
elements required for a trauma center, to have a review team of out of state experts58 perform onsite 
visits of provisional trauma centers, to grant provisional status to a trauma center awaiting full approval, 
and adopt rules for the procedure and process by which it will select trauma centers. 

The bill retains but relocates provisions that require a designated trauma center to accept all trauma 
victims regardless of race , sex, creed , or ability to pay, and prohibits a hospital or other facility from 
representing itself as a trauma center unless it has been designated as such by DOH. 

Trauma Funding 

The bill retains the eligibility of designated trauma centers to receive state funds, in equal amounts, 
when such funds are appropriated. However, the bill repeals a requirement that the trauma center 
comply with all DOH rules that ensure high quality trauma services. 

State Trauma Plan 

The bill requires DOH to coordinate the development of the state trauma plan , which serves as the 
basis for the statewide inclusive trauma system. The bill repeals requirements for the establishment of 
trauma regions based on the regions established by FDLE for the Regional Domestic Security Task 
Force. DOH is responsible for updating the state trauma system plan by December 31 of each odd 
numbered year. 

health care services. The accreditation body must have standards relating to facilities, trauma system integration , equipment, staffing , 
physician response requirements , interfacility transfer, education, and performance improvement. Currently, only the American College 
of Surgeons meets these criteria . 
57 The bill defines "certificate of trauma center verification" as the documentation issued by a national trauma center accreditation body 
that certifies a hospital's compliance with published standards for the administration of trauma care and the treatment of injured 
~atients. 
8 Under s. 395.402(5), F.S ., these out of state experts are considered agents of DOH and are exempt from civil liability for actions 

taken within the scope of the authority and responsibility assigned by DOH. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 13 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Trauma Agency Plans 

To operate as a trauma agency, DOH must approve a trauma agency plan submitted by the entity. The 
bill retains many of the requirements for the trauma agency plan that exist under current law for a local 
and regional trauma agency· plan. However, the trauma agency plan required under the bill does not 
require the number and location of needed trauma centers based on local needs, population, and 
location and distribution of resources. In addition to the requirements in current law, the trauma agency 
plan must include: 

• An annual performance evaluation of the trauma system, rather than the nonspecific periodic 
evaluations are required in current law; 

• A uniform trauma transport protocol or approved trauma transport protocols from each 
emergency medical services provider in the geographic area served by the trauma agency, that 
incorporates all trauma centers and resources required to implement an inclusive trauma 
system; and 

• A list of all participating healthcare facilities, organizations, and emergency medical services 
providers. 

DOH must approve the trauma agency application within 120 days after notifying the developer of the 
trauma agency plan that the plan is complete. Under the bill, a trauma agency plan is not subject to the 
provisions of law that govern the approval or denial of applications. Under s. 120.60, F.S., an agency 
must approve or deny an application for a license59 within 90 days of receipt of a completed application; 
and if it is not acted on within the 90 days, the license application is approved. Since the trauma agency 
plan is not a license, the trauma agency plan is not considered approved without department approval. 

After the initial submission of a trauma system plan, a trauma agency must submit an updated plan by 
July 1 of each even-numbered year, which is more often than every five years as mandated under 
current law. The trauma agency plan must be consistent with the state trauma plan and must 
coordinate trauma care on a county level. 

The bill allows a coordinated delivery of trauma services established before July 1, 2018, to continue in 
accordance with the public and private agreements and operational procedures previously established 
and in accordance with law. 

The bill prohibits DOH from designating more than one trauma agency per county. 

Trauma Transport Protocols 

The bill requires each EMS provider license applicant to submit and obtain approval of its trauma 
transport protocol, regardless of whether the applicable trauma agency has DOH-approved trauma 
transport protocols. A trauma patient must be transported to the most appropriate trauma center as 
defined by DOH-approved trauma transport protocols. The trauma transport protocols are no longer 
limited by whether there is an air ambulance available, as they are under current law. 

Public records 

Under current law, DOH has a public records exemption for all patient care, transport, or treatment 
records or reports, or patient care quality assurance proceedings, records, or reports obtained or made 
pursuant to its responsibility to plan, coordinate, and oversee the trauma system in this state.60 The bill 

59 A "license" is defined as a franchise, permit, certification , registration , charter, or similar form of authorization required by law, but 
does not include a license required primarily for revenue purposes when issuance of the license is merely a ministerial act. S. 
120.52(10}, F.S . 
60 S. 395.4025(10), F.S. The sections of law covered by this provision include ss. 395.3025(4)(f), 395.401 , 395.4015, 395.402 , 395.403, 
395.404, 395.4045, 395.405, 395.50, and 395.51, F.S. 
STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS PAGE: 14 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



clarifies that emergency medical service transport and treatment records obtained by DOH are exempt, 
but does not expand the existing public records exemption. 

Rulemakinq Authority 

The bill repeals various grants of DOH's rulemaking authority located in the statutes relating to the 
trauma system. Currently, DOH has authority under s. 395.405, F.S., to adopt rules related to trauma 
care and therefore, the elimination of these individual , specific grants of rulemaking authority does not 
affect DOH's ability to adopt any necessary rules . 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Amends s. 395.40, F.S., relating to legislative findings and intent. 
Section 2: Amends s. 395.4001, F.S., relating to definitions. 
Section 3: Amends s. 395.401, F.S. , relating to trauma services system plans; approval of trauma 

centers and pediatric trauma centers; procedures; renewal. 
Section 4: Amends s 395.4015, F.S. , relating to state regional trauma planning; trauma regions. 
Section 5: Repeals s. 395.402, F.S., relating to trauma service areas; number and locations of trauma 

centers. 
Section 6: Amends s. 395.4025, F.S., relating to trauma centers; selection ; quality assurance; records. 
Section 7: Amends s. 395.403, F.S., relating to reimbursement of trauma centers. 
Section 8: Amends s. 395.4036, F.S., relating to trauma payments. 
Section 9: Amends s. 395.404, F.S., relating to review of trauma registry data; report to central 

registry; confidentiality and limited release. 
Section 10: Amends s. 395.4045, F.S. , relating to emergency medical service providers; trauma 

transport protocols; transport of trauma alert victims to trauma centers; interfacility transfer. 
Section 11: Amends s. 395.405, F.S. , relating to rulemaking. 
Section 12: Amends s. 395.50 , F.S., relating to quality assurance activities of trauma agencies. 
Section 13: Amends s. 320.0801 , F.S.; relating to additional tax on certain vehicles. 
Section 14: Amends s. 408.036, F.S.; relating to projects subject to review; exemptions. 
Section 15: Amends s. 409.975, F.S.; relating to managed care plan accountability. 
Section 16: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

DOH projects a reduction in expenditures of $1 ,348,641 through fiscal year 2022-2023, under the 
bill , since it will not be responsible for reviewing applications, performing site reviews, and providing 
a defense for litigation regarding apportionment and designation of trauma centers. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 15 



2. Expenditures: 

None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

Hospitals that are designated trauma centers, as well as hospitals seeking to be designated as a 
trauma center, will incur costs associated with obtaining and maintaining the certificate of trauma center 
verification. 

An unlimited number of new trauma centers may result in decreased patient volume and income for 
existing trauma centers or for trauma centers in close proximity to one another. 

Consumers may have more choices on where to seek emergency medical services. Increased 
competition may affect the cost and quality of care for consumers. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

None. 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect municipal or county governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

The bill provides DOH sufficient rulemaking authority to implement its provisions. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

None. 

STORAGE NAME: h1077.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

PAGE: 16 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to trauma se r v i ces ; amending s . 

3 395 . 40 , F . S .; provi ding duties of the Department o f 

4 Health re l at i ng to the coordinat i on and oversight of a 

5 statewide inclus i ve t r auma system; deleting 

6 legi s l at i ve f i ndings and intent ; amend i ng s . 395.4001 , 

7 F . S .; providi ng and revising defini tions ; amending s. 

8 395 . 401, F.S .; designating statewide , rather t han 

9 l oca l and reg i onal trauma agencies ; requi ri ng a trauma 

10 agency to submi t p l ans to the department ; revising 

11 minimum components for trauma agency plans ; requir i ng 

12 the department to establi sh mi nimum requirements for a 

13 trauma age ncy to conduct annual performance 

14 eva l uations and submit results t here f rom to the 

15 department ; prohi b i ting the designation of mo r e than 

16 one trauma agency per county ; amending s. 395 . 4015 , 

17 F.S.; requ i ring the department to coordinate the 

18 development of a state trauma system plan ; requ i ring 

19 periodi c updates of the plan ; repealing s . 395.402 , 

20 F . S ., re l ating to trauma service areas and the number 

21 a n d location o f trauma centers ; amending s. 395.4025 , 

22 F.S . ; requiring certain hospitals to obtain 

23 verificat i on from a nat i onal trauma center 

24 verification body to be designated by the department ; 

25 providing for contents of an application for 

Page 1 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

26 designation; providing criteria for designation ; 

27 deleting provisions relating to the extension of 

28 provisional sta tus of applicants for state-approved 

29 trauma centers; conforming provisions to changes made 

30 by the act; providing sanctions for withholding 

31 certa in information; requiring the department to adopt 

32 rules; amending s. 395.403 , F.S.; revising eligibility 

33 provisions for certain hospitals to receive funding as 

34 a trauma center from the Emergency Medical Services 

35 Trust Fund; amending s. 395.4036 , F.S.; revising 

36 provis i ons for distribution of funds in the Emergency 

37 Medical Services Trust Fund to trauma centers; 

38 amending s. 395 .404, F.S.; revising reporting 

39 requirements to the trauma regist ry data system 

40 maintained by the department; amending s . 395 .4 045 , 

41 F.S.; revising requirements relating to trauma 

42 transport protocols ; amending s . 395.50 , F.S.; 

43 deleting a provis i on relating to admission of certain 

44 patient records into evidence in a civil or 

45 administrative action involving the department; 

46 amending s. 320.0801 , F.S.; conforming cross -

47 references and de l eting an obsolete provision ; 

48 amending ss. 395 . 405 , 408.036, and 409 . 975 , F. S .; 

49 conforming cross-references ; providing an effective 

50 date . 

Page 2 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

51 

52 Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State o f Fl o rida : 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

5 8 

5 9 

60 

61 

62 

6 3 

64 

65 

66 

67 

68 

69 

7 0 

71 

72 

7 3 

74 

75 

Section 1. Section 395.40 , Florida Statutes , is amended to 

read : 

395 . 40 Department duties Legislative findings and intent.

(1) The Legislature finds that there has been a lack of 

timely access to trauma care due to the state ' s fragmented 

trauma system. This finding is based on the 1999 Trauma System 

Report on Timely Access to Trauma Care submitted by the 

department in response to the request of the Legislature. 

(2) The Legislature finds that it is necessary to plan for 

and to establish an inclusive trauma system to meet the needs of 

trauma victims. An " inclusive trauma system" means a system 

designed to meet the needs of all injured trauma victims ·,;ho 

require care in an acute care setting and into which every 

health care provider or facility Hith resources to care fo r the 

injured trauma victim is incorporated. The Legislature deems the 

benefits of trauma care provided Hithin an inclusive trauma 

system to be of vital s i gnificance to the outcome of a trauma 

victim. 

(3) It is the intent of the Legislature to place Primary 

responsibility for the p l anning , coordination, and oversight 

establishment of a statewide inclusive trauma system shall 

reside with the department. The department shall : 

Page 3 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

76 (1) Des ignate trauma centers in the state. 

77 (2) Publish and update a statewide trauma plan in 

78 accordance with s. 395 .401 5. 

79 (3) Establish and maintain a statewide trauma registry for 

80 monitoring, evaluating , and enforcing the requirements of the 

81 state ' s inclusive trauma system. 

82 (4) Solicit input from stakeholders and subject matter 

83 experts for the enhancement of a coordinated approach to the 

84 care of trauma victims . Considerations shall include the 

85 movement of the trauma victim through the system of care and 

86 defined roles for acute care hospitals. 

87 (5) Actively foster the provision of trauma care and serve 

88 as a catalyst for improvements in the outcomes and treatment of 

89 trauma patients in an inclusive trauma system undertake the 

90 implementation of a statewide inclusive trauma system as funding 

91 is available. 

92 ( 4) The Legislature finds that significant benefits are to 

93 be obtained by directing the coordination of activities by 

94 several state agencies, relative to access to trauma care and 

95 the provision of trauma care to all trauma victims. It is the 

96 intent of the Legislature that the department, the Agency for 

97 Health Care Administration, the Board of Hedicine, and the Board 

98 of Nursing establish interagency teams and agreements for the 

99 development of guidelines, standards, and rules for those 

100 portions of the inclusive state trauma system within the 

Page 4 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T 

HB 1077 

101 statutory authority of each agency . This coordinated approach 

102 '.Jill provide the necessary continuum of care for the trauma 

1 03 victim from injury to final hospital discharge. The department 

104 has the leadership responsibility for this activity. 

105 (5) In addition , the agenc i es listed in subsection (4) 

10 6 should undertake to: 

1 07 (a) Estab l ish a coordinated methodology for monitoring , 

108 evaluating , and enforcing the requirements of the state ' s 

109 inclusive trauma system Hhich recognizes the interests of each 

11 0 agency . 

111 (b) Develop appropriate roles for t r auma agencies , to 

112 assist in furthering the operat i on of trauma systems at the 

V E S 

2017 

113 regional level . This should include issues of system evaluat i on 

114 as >Jel l as managed care . 

115 (c) Deve l op and submit app r opriate requests for waivers of 

116 

117 

11 8 

11 9 

120 

121 

122 

123 

124 

125 

federal requirements which Hill fac i litate the del i very o f 

trauma care . 

(d) Develop crite ri a that will become the future bas i s for 

consultat i on between acute care hospita l s and trauma centers on 

the ca r e of trauma victims and the mandatory transfer of 

appropr i ate trauma victims to trauma centers . 

(e) Develop a coordinated approach to the care of the 

trauma v i ctim. This shall include the movement of the trauma 

victim through the system of ca r e and the i dentification of 

medical responsibility for each phase of care for out of 

Page 5 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

126 hospital and in hospital trauma care. 

127 (f) Require the medical director of an emergency medical 

128 services provider to have medical accountability for a trauma 

129 victim during interfacility transfer. 

130 (6) Furthermore, the Legislature encourages the department 

131 to actively foster the provision of trauma care and serve as a 

132 catalyst for improvements in the process and outcome of the 

133 provision of trauma care in an inclusive trauma system. Among 

134 other considerations, the department is required to: 

135 (a) Promote the development of at least one trauma center 

136 in every trauma service area. 

137 (b) Promote the development of a trauma agency for each 

138 trauma region. 

139 (c) Update the state trauma system plan by February 2005 

140 and at least annually thereafter. 

141 

142 

Section 2 . 

to read: 

Section 395 .4 001 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

143 395 .4 00 1 Definitions.-As used in this part, the term: 

14 4 ( 1) "Agency " means the Agency for Health Care 

145 Administrat ion . 

146 (2) " Certificate of trauma center verification " means 

147 documentation issued by a national trauma center accreditation 

148 body that certifies a hospital's compl iance with published 

149 standards f or the administration of trauma care and the 

150 treatment o f injured patients. 

Page 6 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

151 .ill_-f-2+ "Charity care" or " uncompensated trauma care " means 

152 that portion of hospital charges reported to the agency for 

153 which there is no compensation , other than restricted or 

154 unrestricted revenues provided to a hospital by local 

155 governments or tax districts regardless of method of payment , 

156 for care provided to a patient whose family income for the 12 

157 months preceding the determination is less than or equal to 20 0 

158 percent of the federal poverty level, unless the amount of 

159 hospital charges due from the pat i ent exceeds 25 percent of the 

160 annual family income . However, in no case shall the hospital 

161 charges for a patient whose family income exceeds four times the 

162 federal poverty leve l for a family of four be considered 

163 charity . 

164 

165 

(4)-f-3+ "Department " means the Department of Health. 

(5) "Designated " means approved by the department to 

166 operate as a Level I, Level II , or pediatric trauma center based 

167 on verificat i on by a national trauma center accred i tation body. 

168 ( 6 ) "Inc l usive trauma system" means a system des i gned to 

169 meet the needs of all injured trauma v i ctims who require care in 

170 an acute - care setting and into which every health care provider 

171 or facility with the resources to care for the injured trauma 

172 victim is incorporated. 

173 J..2l-t4+ "Interfacility trauma transfer " means the transfer 

174 of a trauma victim between two f acil ities licensed under this 

175 chapter, pursuant to this part. 

Page 7 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions . 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

17 6 (8)+&+ "International Classification Injury Severity 

177 Score" means the statistical method for computing the severity 

178 o f injuries sustained by trauma patients. The International 

179 Classification Injury Severity Score shall be the methodology 

180 used by the department and trauma centers to report the severity 

181 of an injury. 

182 (9)-f# "Level I trauma center " means a trauma center that: 

183 (a) Has formal research and education programs for the 

184 enhancement of trauma care; Is ver ified by the department to be 

185 in substantial compl iance with Level I trauma center arra 
186 pediatric trauma center standardsT and has been designated 

187 approved by the department to operate as a Level I trauma 

188 center . 

189 (b) Serves as a resource facility to Level II trauma 

190 centers, pediatric trauma centers, and general hospitals through 

191 shared outreach, education, and quality improvement activities. 

192 (c) Participates in an inclusive system of trauma care, 

193 including providing leadership, system evaluation, and quality 

194 improvement activities. 

195 

196 

197 

198 

199 

200 

JJ:.Ql-+-+-l- "Level II trauma center" means a trauma center 

that: 

(a) Is verified by the department to be in substantial 

compliance with Level II trauma center standards and has been 

designated approved by the department to operate as a Level II 

trauma center or is designated pursuant to s. 395.4025(14). 

Page 8 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

201 (b) Serves as a resource faci li ty to genera l hospitals 

202 through shared outreach , education , and quality improvement 

203 activities . 

204 (c) Participates i n an inclusive system of trauma care . 

205 (11 )--f-8+ " Local funding contribution " means local 

206 mun i cipal , county , or tax distr i ct funding exclus i ve of any 

207 pat ient - specific funds received pursuant to ss . 154.301-154 . 316 , 

208 priva t e foundation funding , or public or private grant fund i ng 

209 of a t least $150 , 000 received by a hospita l or health care 

210 system that operates a trauma center . 

211 (12) "Nat i onal trauma center accreditation body " means an 

212 organization with optimal trauma c enter accred i tation standa r ds , 

213 approved by the department , that publishes nationa l guidelines 

214 for trauma center verification , has an active nat i onal trauma 

215 center verification program that has verif i ed trauma center s in 

216 at least 25 states , and is no t aff iliated with any entity that 

217 is engaged in the delivery of health care services. The 

218 accreditation body shall have standards re l at ing to f acilities , 

219 trauma system i n tegrat i on , equipment , staffing, physician 

220 response requirements, interfacility transfer , educati on , and 

221 performance improvement. 

222 (13 ) -f-9-+- " Pediat ri c trauma center" means a hospi tal tha t is 

223 verified by the department to be in substantial compliance with 

224 pediatric trauma center standards published by the accrediting 

225 body as established by rule of the department and has been 

Page 9 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

226 designated approved by the department to operate as a pediatric 

227 trauma center. 

228 (10) " Provisional trauma eenter " means a hospital that has 

229 been verified by the department to be in substantial eompl i anee 

230 with the requirements ins . 395 . 4025 and has been approved by 

231 the department to operate as a provisional Level I trauma 

232 eenter , Level II trauma eenter , or ped i at r ie trauma eenter . 

233 (14 )-f-1-±+ " Trauma agenc y " means an entit y establ ished and 

23 4 ope rated b y one or more counties and approved by the department 

235 a depa r tment approved ageney established and operated by one or 

236 more eounties , or a department approved entity r.vith Hh i eh one or 

237 more eounties eontraet , for the purpose of admini stering an 

238 inclusive regional trauma system . 

239 (1 5 ) -tl-2+ " Trauma alert v ictim" means a person who has 

240 incurred a single or mu ltisystem injury due t o blunt or 

241 penetra t ing means or burns , who requires i mmedi ate medical 

242 intervention o r treatment , and who meets one or more of the 

243 adult or pediatric scorecard criteria establ i shed by the 

24 4 department by rule. 

245 (1 6) -f-l--3-t " Trauma caseload volume " means the number of 

246 trauma patients reported by designated individual trauma centers 

247 to the Trauma Registry and validated by the depa rtment. 

248 ll:..ll-f-l-4-l-- " Trauma center " means a hospital that has been 

249 designated verified by the department to be in substant i al 

250 eomplianee Hith the requirements in s . 395 . 4025 and has been 

Page 10 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

251 approved by the departmen t to operate as a Level I trauma 

252 center , Level II trauma center , or pediatric trauma center,-er 

253 is designated by the department as a Level II trauma center 

254 pursuant to s. 395 . 4025(14). 

255 (18) +1:-5-+- "T rauma patient" means a person who has incurred 

256 a physical i njury or wound caused by trauma and has accessed a 

257 trauma center . 

258 (19)-f-1-6-+- "T rauma scorecard " means a statewide methodology 

259 adopted by the department by rul e under wh i ch a person who has 

260 incurred a traumatic injury is graded as to the severity of his 

261 or he r inj uries or illness and which methodology is used as the 

262 basis for making destination decis i ons . 

263 (20) +!:--+-t- "Trauma transport protocol " means a document 

264 which describes the policies, processes, and procedures 

265 governing the dispatch of vehicle s, the triage , prehospital 

266 transport, and i nterfaci li ty trauma transfer of trauma v ictims. 

26 7 flll_-f-1-&-t- " Trauma victim" means any person who has incurred 

268 a s i ngle or multisystem i njury due to blunt or penetrating means 

269 or burns and who requires immedi ate medi ca l intervention o r 

270 treatment . 

271 (22) " Ve rified" means a hospital has received a 

272 cert ificate of ve ri f i cation is sued by a national trauma cente r 

273 accreditation body and maintains compliance with all standards 

274 set forth as a condition of receiving t he certificate . 

275 Section 3 . Section 395 . 40 1, Florida Statutes , is amended 

Page 11 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

276 to read : 

277 395.401 Trauma agencies services system plans; approval of 

278 trauma centers and pediatric trauma centers ; procedures ; 

279 rene',val.-

280 

281 

282 

283 

284 

285 

286 

287 

288 

289 

290 

291 

292 

293 

294 

295 

296 

297 

298 

299 

300 

( 1) (a) ?:_ The loca l and regional trauma agency agenc i es 

shall plan , implement , and evaluate trauma services systems , in 

accordance with this section and ss . 395 . 4015 , 395 . 404 , and 

395.4045 , which consist of organized patterns of readiness and 

response services based on public and private agreements and 

operat ional procedures . The department shall establish , by ru l e , 

processes and procedures for establishing a trauma agency and 

obtaining its approval from the department . 

(b) A The local and regional trauma agenc y agencies shall 

develop and submit to the department the trauma agency plan 

plans for local and regional trauma services systems . The plans 

must include , at a minimum, the fo l lowing components: 

1 . The organizational structure of the trauma system. 

2. Prehospital care management guidelines for triage and 

transportation of trauma cases. 

3. Flow patterns of trauma cases and transportation system 

design and resources , including air transportation services , 

provision f or interfacility trauma transfer , and the prehospital 

transportation of trauma victims. The trauma agency sha l l plan 

for the devel opment of a system of transportati on of trauma 

alert victims to trauma centers where the distance or time to a 

Page 12 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

301 trauma center or transportation resources is in the best 

302 interest of the diminish access by trauma alert victims. 

303 4. The number and location of needed trauma centers based 

304 on lo ca l needs, population, and location and distribution of 

305 resources. 

306 4 .~ Data collection regarding system operation and 

307 pat ient outcome. 

308 5.~ Annual Periodic performance evaluations evaluation of 

309 the trauma system and its components . 

310 6.+. The use of air transport services wi thin the 

311 jurisdiction of the local trauma agency. 

312 7 .~ Public informat i on and education about the trauma 

313 system . 

314 8 .~ Emergency medical services communication system usage 

315 and dispatching . 

316 9 .~ The coordinat i on and integration between the trauma 

317 center and other acute care hospitals . 

318 10.~ Medical control and accountability. 

319 1 1 .~ Quality cont rol and system evaluation. 

320 12. A uniform trauma transport protocol , or app r oved 

321 trauma transport protocols fr om each emergency medical service 

322 provider in the geographic area served by the trauma agency , 

323 that incorporates all trauma centers and other resources 

324 required to implement an i nclusive trauma system. 

325 13. List of a ll participating healthcare facilities , 

Page 13 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

326 organi zati ons , and emergency medical providers. 

327 (c) The department shall recei ve applications plans for 

328 the implementation of inclusive trauma systems from trauma 

329 agencies . The application shall be limited to the trauma agenc y 

330 plan and information about the plan's developer. The depa rtment 

331 shall may approve o r deny not approve trauma agency plans based 

332 on the conformance of the plan with this section and ss. 

333 395 . 4015, 395 . 404, and 395 . 4045 and the rules and definitions 

334 adopted by the department pursuant to those sections. 

335 Notwithstanding s . 120 . 60 , the department shall approve or deny 

336 the applications disapprove the plans within 120 days after ~ 

337 date the plans are submitted to the department notifies the 

338 developer o f the trauma agency plan that the p lan is complete . 

339 For the purposes of s. 120.60, the plans do not constitute 

340 licensure and are not considered approved in the absence of 

341 department approval. The department shall , by rule, provide an 

342 application process for establishing a trauma agency. The 

343 application must, at a minimum, provide requirements for the 

344 trauma agency plan submitted for revie·,J , a process for revievJing 

345 the application for a trauma agency, a process for revie',Jing the 

346 trauma transport protocols for the trauma agency , and a process 

347 for reviewing the staffing requirements for the agency. 

348 (d) The department shall , by rule , establish minimum 

349 requirements for a trauma agency to conduct an annual 

350 performance evaluation and submit the results to the department . 

Page 14 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

351 (e)+frt A trauma agency ma y shall not operate unless the 

352 department has approved the loca l or regional trauma services 

353 system plan o f the agency. 

354 (e) The department may grant an e1cception to a portion of 

355 the rules adopted pursuant to this section or s. 395 .4 015 if the 

356 local or regional trauma agency proves that, as defined in the 

3 5 7 rules, compliance Hith that requirement vwuld not be in the best 

358 interest of the persons served 'iJithin the affected local or 

359 regional trauma area. 

360 ( f ) A local or regional trauma agency may implement a 

36 1 trauma care system only if the system meets the minimum 

362 standards set forth in the rules for implementation established 

363 by the department and if the plan has been submitted to, and 

364 approved by, the department. At least 60 days before the local 

365 or regional trauma agency submits the plan for the trauma care 

366 system to the department, the local or regional trauma agency 

367 shall hold a public hearing and give adequate notice of the 

368 public hearing to all hospitals and other interested parties in 

369 the area to be included in the proposed system. 

370 (g ) Local or regional trauma agenc i es may ente r into 

371 contracts for the purpose of implementing the local or regional 

372 plan. If local or regional agencies contract ·,v ith hospitals for 

373 trauma services, such agencies must contract only Hith hospitals 

374 ·.vh i ch are verified trauma centers. 

375 l!l+ftt A Local or regional trauma agency agencies 

Page 15 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

376 providing service for more than one county shall , as part o f 

377 their formation , establish interl ocal agreements between o r 

378 among the several counties in the t rauma regional system. 

379 Jsl+±+ This section doe s not restrict the a uthori ty o f a 

380 hea lth care facility to provide service fo r wh i ch it has 

381 received a li cense pursuant to t h i s chapter . 

382 (j) Any hospital \Jhich is verified as a trauma center 

383 shall accept all trauma victims that are appropriate for the 

384 facility regardless of race, oe1E, creed, or ability to pay . 

385 ( lc ) It is unla'.:ful for any hospital or other facility to 

386 hold itself out as a trauma center unless it has been so 

387 verified or designated pursuant too. 395.4025(14). 

388 (h) +±+ A county , upon the recommendations of the local or 

389 regional trauma agency, may adop t ordinances gove rn ing the 

390 t ransport of a patient who is receiving care in the field fr om 

391 prehospital emergency medical personnel when the patient meets 

392 specific cr i ter ia for trauma, burn, o r pediatric centers adopted 

393 by a the local or regional trauma agency . These o rdinances must 

394 be consistent with s . 395.4 045 , ordinances adopted under s . 

395 401.25(6) , and~ the local or regional trauma agency system plan 

396 and, to the fur thest poss i b l e extent, must ensure that 

397 individual pati ents rece ive appropriate medical care while 

398 protecting the interest s of the community at large by ma king 

399 maximum use of available emergency medica l care resources . 

400 lll+m+ A trauma agency plan shall be The local or regional 

Page 16 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

401 trauma agency shall, consistent with the state regional trauma 

402 system plan , coordinate trauma care at the county level, and 

403 othenJise facilitate arrangements necessary to develop an 

404 inclusive a trauma services system. 

405 lil+rrt After the submission of the i nitial trauma system 

406 plan , each trauma agency shall, every even- numbered ~ year, 

407 submit to the department by July 1 for approval an updated plan 

408 that i dentifies the changes, if any , to be made in the plan 

409 regional trauma system. 

410 (k) +e+ This section does not preclude a local or regional 

411 trauma agency from adopt i ng trauma care system protocols 

412 standards. 

413 (2) The delivery of trauma servi c es in coordination with a 

414 trauma agency established before July 1, 20 18, may continue in 

415 accordance with the public and private agreements and 

416 operational procedures entered into as provided i n this section. 

417 (3) The department shall designate only one trauma agency 

418 in any single county . 

419 (2) The department shall adopt, by rule, standards for 

420 verification of trauma centers based on national guidelines, 

421 including those established by the American College of Surgeons 

422 entitled "Hospital and Prehospital Resources for Optimal Care of 

423 the Injured Patient" and published appendices thereto. Standards 

424 specific to pediatric trauma referral centers shall be developed 

4 2 5 in conjunction vvith Children's Hedical Services and adopted by 

Page 17 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



-~~~----

FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

426 

427 

428 

429 

430 

431 

432 

433 

434 

435 

436 

437 

438 

439 

440 

441 

442 

443 

444 

445 

446 

447 

448 

449 

450 

HB 1077 

rule of the department. 

(3) The department may V<ithdraH local or regional agency 

authority, prescribe corrective actions, or use the 

administrative remedies as provided in s. 395.1065 for the 

violation of any provision of this section and ss. 395.4015, 

395.402, 395.4025, 395.403, 395.404 , and 395.4045 or rules 

adopted thereunder. All amounts collected pursuant to this 

subsection shall be deposited into the Emergency Medical 

Services Trust Fund provided in s. 401.34. 

2017 

Section 4. Section 395.4015, Florida Statutes , is amended 

to read: 

395 . 4015 State regional trauma planning ; trauma regions.

(1) The department shall coordinate the development of 

establish a state trauma system plan. As part of the state 

trauma system plan, the department shall establish trauma 

regions that cover all geographical areas of the state and have 

boundaries that are coterminous '.J ith the boundaries of the 

regional domestic security task forces established under s. 

943.0312. These regions may serve as the basis for the 

development of department approved local or regional trauma 

plans. HoHever, the delivery of trauma services by or in 

coordination Hith a trauma agency established before July 1, 

2004, may continue in accordance >Jith public and private 

agreements and operational procedures entered into as provided 

ins. 395.401. 

Page 18 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 

451 (2) The department shall update the state trauma system 

452 plan by December 31 of each odd numbered year. The statewide 

453 trauma system plan shall serve consider the advice and 

2017 

454 recommendations of any affected local or regional trauma agency 

455 in developing the state trauma system plan. 

456 (3) The department shall use the state trauma system plan 

457 as the basis for establishing a statewide inclusive trauma 

458 system . 

459 Section 5 . Section 395 . 402 , Florida Statutes, is repealed . 

460 Section 6 . Sect i on 395 . 4025 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

461 to read : 

462 395 . 4025 Trauma centers ; selection ; quality assurance ; 

4 63 records .-

464 (1) A hospital that has received provisional or verified 

465 status as a trauma center from the department befo r e July 1 , 

466 20 1 6 shall have until July 1 , 2022 , to obta in verification from 

467 a national trauma cente r accreditation body and upon 

468 presentation of such ver i fication shall be designated by the 

469 department . Notwithstanding any other law or s. 120 . 569 , a 

470 hospital that has received provis i onal or verified status as a 

471 trauma center from the department before July 1 , 2016 , shall be 

472 approved to operate in accordance with this section . 

473 (2) The department shall accept an application for the 

474 designation of a hosp i tal as a trauma center which contains the 

475 following information: 

Page 19 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

476 (a) The name and physical address of the hospital seeking 

477 designat i on as a trauma center. 

478 (b) The name , telephone number , and e - mail address o f the 

479 hospital' s chief executive officer , trauma medical director , and 

480 trauma program manager . Level I trauma centers shall include 

481 information for both adult and pediatric services . 

482 (c) A list of all trauma victim- related interfacility 

483 transfer agreements with other designated trauma centers , acute 

484 care hospitals , burn centers , and rehab i l i tation facilities . 

485 (d) A description of the hospital ' s trauma surge capac i ty 

486 in the event of a natural d i saster or mass causal ity event. 

487 (e) A copy of application materials submitted by the 

488 hospital to the nationa l trauma center accreditation body for 

489 verification as a trauma center . 

490 ( f ) A copy of reports and evaluations issued to the 

491 hospita l by the national trauma center accreditation body 

492 re l ating to verification as a trauma center . 

493 (g) The certificate of trauma center verification . 

494 (3) The application for designation as a trauma center may 

495 only be denied by the department if information is missing . 

496 ( 4 ) The department shall designate a hospital as a trauma 

497 center upon receipt of : 

498 (a) A completed application for designation as a trauma 

499 center . 

500 (b) A valid cert i ficate of trauma center verification. 

Page 20 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

501 

502 

503 

504 

505 

506 

507 

508 

509 

510 

511 

512 

513 

514 

515 

516 

517 

518 

519 

520 

521 

522 

523 

524 

525 

HB 1077 201 7 

(5) The department ' s designation of a hospital as a Level 

I , Level II, or pediatric trauma center shall correspond with 

the certificate of trauma center verification. 

(6) The designation of a hospital as a trauma center is 

valid only when the hospital holds a certificate of trauma 

center verification and maintains the standards required to 

obtain verification from the national trauma center 

accreditation body . If a trauma center fails to maintain its 

certification or maintain such standards as determined by the 

department, its subcontractor , or national trauma center 

accreditation body, the department may take corrective actions , 

including revocation of trauma center designation. 

(1) For purposes of developing a system of trauma centers, 

the department shall use the 19 trauma service areas established 

in s . 395.402 . Within each service area and based on the state 

trauma system plan , the local or regional trauma services system 

plan , and recommendations of the local or regional trauma 

agency, the department shall establish the approximate number of 

trauma centers needed to ensure reasonable access to high 

quality trauma services . The department shall select those 

hospitals that are to be reeogni~ed as trauma centers. 

( 2) (a) The department shall annually notify each acute 

care general hospital and each local and each regional trauma 

agency in the state that the department is accepting letters of 

intent from hospitals that are interested in becoming trauma 

Page 21 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

526 centers. In order to be considered by the department, a hospital 

527 that operates within the geographic area of a local or regional 

528 trauma agency must certify that its intent to operate as a 

529 trauma center is consistent with the trauma services plan of the 

530 local or regional trauma agency, as approved by the department, 

531 if such agency eEists. Letters of intent must be postmarked no 

532 later than midnight October 1. 

533 (b) By October 15, the department shall send to all 

534 hospitals that submitted a letter of intent an application 

535 package that will provide the hospitals ',Jith instructions for 

536 submitting information to the department for selection as a 

537 trauma center. The standards for trauma centers provided for in 

53 8 s. 395.401(2), as adopted by rule of the department, shall serve 

539 as the basis for these instructions. 

540 (c) In order to be considered by the department, 

54 1 applications from those hospitals seeking selection as trauma 

542 centers, including those current verified trauma centers that 

543 seek a change or redesignation in approval status as a trauma 

544 center, must be received by the department no later than the 

545 close of business on April 1. The department shall conduct a 

54 6 provisional revie>J of each application for the purpose of 

547 determining that the hospital's application is complete and that 

5 48 the hospital has the critical elements required for a trauma 

54 9 center. This critical review '.vi ll be based on trauma center 

55 0 standards and shall include, but not be limited to, a revievv of 

Page 22 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

55 1 whether the hospital has : 

552 1. Equipment and physical facilities necessary to provide 

553 trauma services. 

554 2 . Personnel in sufficient numbers and ·,Jith proper 

555 qualifications to provide trauma services . 

3. An effective quality assurance process . 556 

557 4. Submitted written confirmation by the local or regional 

558 trauma agency that the hospital applying to become a trauma 

559 center i s consistent with the plan of the local or regional 

560 trauma agency , as approved by the department , if such agency 

561 e:nists . 

562 (d) 1 . Hot '.J ithstanding other provisions in this sect i on , 

563 the department may grant up to an additional 18 months to a 

564 hospita l applicant that is unable to meet all requirements as 

565 provided in paragraph (e) at the time of application if the 

566 number of applicants in the service area i n which the appl i cant 

567 is l ocated is equal to o r less than the service area allocation , 

568 as provided by ru l e of the depa r tment . An applicant that is 

569 granted additional time pursuant to this paragraph shall submit 

570 a plan for departmental approval ·.;hich includes timel i nes and 

571 activi t i es that the applicant proposes to complete in order to 

572 meet application requirements. Any applicant that demonstrates 

573 an ongo i ng effort to complete the activities within the 

574 timelines out l ined in the p l an shall be included in the number 

575 of trauma centers at such time that the department has conducted 

Page 23 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLOR I DA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

576 a provisional revie '.J of the application and has determined that 

577 the application is complete and that the hospital has the 

578 critical elements required for a trauma center. 

5 7 9 2 . Time frames provi ded in subsections ( 1 ) ( 8) shall be 

5 8 0 stayed until the department determine s that the application is 

58 1 complete and that the hospital has the critical elements 

582 required for a trauma center . 

583 (3 ) After ~pril 30 , any hospital that submitted an 

58 4 application found acceptab l e by the department based on 

58 5 provis i onal r e vieH shall be eligible to operate as a provis i onal 

58 6 trauma center. 

58 7 ( 4 ) Bet·.:een Hay 1 and October 1 of each year, the 

588 department shall conduct an in depth evaluation of all 

58 9 a pplications found acceptable in the provisional revi eVJ . The 

590 applications shall be evaluated against criteria enumerated in 

59 1 the application packages as provided to the hospitals by the 

59 2 depa r tment . 

5 93 (5) Beginning October 1 of each year and ending no later 

5 9 4 than June 1 o f the follov;ing year , a review team of out of state 

595 experts assembled by the department shall make onsite visits to 

596 all provisional trauma centers . The department shall develop a 

5 97 survey instrument to be used by the C}{pert team o f revie'.Jers . 

598 The instrument shall include objective criteria and guidel i nes 

5 99 for revi ev;ers b a sed on existing trauma center standards such 

600 that al l trauma centers are assessed equally . The survey 

Page 24 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

601 instrument shall also include a uniform rating system that >Jill 

602 be used by reviev:ers to indicate the degree of compliance of 

603 each trauma center 'dith speci fie standards, and to indicate the 

60 4 quality of care provided by each trauma center as determined 

605 through an audit of patient charts. In addition, hospitals being 

606 considered as provisional trauma centers shall meet all the 

607 requirements of a trauma center and shall be located in a trauma 

608 service area that has a need for such a trauma center. 

609 (6) Based on recommendations from the reviev: team, the 

610 department shall select trauma centers by July 1. An applicant 

611 for designation as a trauma center may request an e;ntension of 

612 its provisional status if it submits a corrective action plan to 

613 the department. The corrective action plan must demonstrate the 

614 ability of the applicant to correct deficiencies noted during 

615 the applicant's onsite review conducted by the department 

616 bet'deen the previous October 1 and June 1. The department may 

617 extend the provisional status of an applicant for designation as 

618 a trauma center through December 31 if the applicant provides a 

619 corrective action plan acceptable to the department. The 

620 department or a team of out of state e2{perts assembled by the 

621 department shall conduct an onsite visit on or before November 1 

622 to confirm that the deficiencies have been corrected. The 

623 provisional trauma center is responsible for all costs 

624 associated vJith the onsite visit in a manner prescribed by rule 

625 of the department. By January 1, the department must approve or 

Page 25 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

626 deny the application of any provisional applicant granted an 

627 eJctension . Each trauma center shall be granted a 7 year approval 

628 period during ·,·hich time it must continue to maintain trauma 

629 center standards and acceptable patient outcomes as determined 

630 by department rule . An approva l, unless sooner suspended o r 

631 revoked , automatically expires 7 years after the date of 

632 issuance and is reneHable upon applicat i on for renc,;al as 

633 prescribed by rule of the department. 

634 ( 7) Any h ospital that r,Jishes to protest a d ec ision made by 

635 the department based on the department ' s preliminary or in depth 

636 revieH of app l ications or on the recommendations of the site 

637 visit revier,r team pursuant to this section shall proceed as 

638 provided in chapter 120. Hearings held under this subsection 

639 shall be conducted in the same manner as p r ovided in so . 120.569 

640 and 120.57 . Cases filed under chapter 120 may combine al l 

641 disputes betHeen parties. 

6 42 (7 )+&+ Notwithstandi ng any provisi o n of chapter 38 1 , a 

643 hospital lice ns e d under ss. 395 . 001 - 395 . 3025 that operates a 

644 trauma center may not terminate or substantially reduce the 

645 availability of t rauma servi ce without providing at least 1 80 

646 days ' notice of its i nten t to terminate such service . Such 

647 notice s hall be given to the department , to a ll affected local 

648 or reg i onal trauma agenc ies , and to all trauma centers , 

649 h ospitals , and emergenc y medical service providers in the trauma 

650 service area . The department shall adopt by rule the procedures 

Page 26 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

651 and process for notification , duration , and ucplanation of the 

652 termination of trauma services . 

653 (8)~ Except as otherwise provided in this subsection , 

654 the department or its agent may co l lect trauma care and registry 

655 data , as prescribed by r ule of the department , from trauma 

656 centers , hospitals , emergency medical service providers , local 

657 or regional trauma agencies , or medical examiners for the 

658 purposes of evaluating trauma system effectiveness , ensuring 

659 compliance with the standards , and monitoring patient outcomes . 

660 A trauma center , hospital , emergency medical service provider , 

661 medica l examiner , or local trauma agency or regiona l trauma 

662 agency , or a panel or committee assembled by such an agency 

663 under s. 395.50(1) ~ may, but is not required to, disclose to the 

664 department patient care quality assurance proceedings , records , 

665 or reports . However , the department may requ i re a local trauma 

666 agency or a regional trauma agency , or a panel or committee 

667 assembled by such an agency~ to disclose to the department 

668 patient care quality assurance proceedings , records , or reports 

669 that the department needs solel y to conduct quality assurance 

670 activities under s . 395 . 4015 , or to ensure compliance with the 

671 quality assurance component of a~ trauma agency agency ' s p l an 

672 approved under s . 395 . 401 . The patient care quality assurance 

673 proceedings , records , or reports that the department may require 

674 for these purposes include , but are not limited to , the 

675 structure , processes , and procedures of the agency ' s quality 

Page 27 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

67 6 

677 

678 

67 9 

680 

681 

682 

assurance activities , and any recommendation for improving o r 

modifying the overall trauma system, if the ident ity of a trauma 

cente r , hospital , emergency medical service provider , med i cal 

examiner , or an individual who provides trauma services is not 

disclosed. 

( 10) Out of state e2cperts assembled by the department to 

conduct onsite visits are agents of the department for the 

683 purposes of s. 395 . 3025 . 7\n out of state e2cpert ·.vho acts as an 

684 agent of the department under this subsection i s not liable for 

68 5 any c i v i l damages as a result of actions taken by him or her , 

686 unless h e or she is found to be operating outside the scope of 

687 the authority and respons ib i lity as s igned by the department. 

688 (9) +±±+ Onsite v i sits by the department or its agent may 

689 be conducted at any reasonable time and ma y include but not be 

690 limited to a review of records in the possession of trauma 

691 centers , hospitals , emergency medical servi ce providers , local 

692 or regional trauma agenc i es , or medical examiners regard i ng the 

693 care , transport , treatment , or examination of trauma patients . 

694 (10)~ Patient care , transport , or treatment records or 

695 reports , or patient care quality assurance proceedings , records , 

696 or reports obtained or made pursuant to this section , s . 

697 395 . 3025(4) (f) , s . 395 . 40 1, s . 395 . 4015 , s . 395 . 402 , s . 395 . 403, 

698 s . 395 .404 , s . 395.4045 , s . 395.405 , s . 395 . 50 , or s . 395 . 51 

699 must be held confidential by the department or its agent and are 

700 exempt from the provis i ons of s . 11 9 . 07(1) Patient care quality 

Page 28 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

701 assurance proceedings , records , or reports obtained or made 

702 pursuant to these sections are not subject to discovery or 

703 introduction into evidence in any civil or administrati v e 

704 action. 

705 ( 11) A hospital that is designated as a trauma center 

706 shall accept all trauma victims that are appropriate for the 

707 facility regardless of race, sex, creed , or ability to pay . 

708 (12) A hospital o r other facility may not hold itself out 

709 as a trauma center unless it has been so designated by the 

710 department. 

711 ( 13) Information supplied by a hospital to any national 

712 trauma center accreditation body, at any time, may not be 

713 withheld from the department. The department may revoke a 

714 h ospital's designat i o n as a trauma center for failure to provide 

715 such information to the department . 

716 (14) The department shall adopt rules t o implement thi s 

717 section . 

718 (13) The department may adopt , by rule, the procedures and 

719 process by Hhich it Hill select trauma centers. Such procedures 

720 and process must be used in annually se l ecting trauma centers 

721 and must be consistent ,,;ith subsections (1 ) (8) except in those 

7 22 situat i ons in '•<hich it is in the best interest of , and mutually 

723 agreed to by, al l applicants Hithin a service area and the 

724 department to reduce the timeframes. 

725 (14) Not\Jithstanding the procedures established pursuant 

Page 29 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

7 2 6 to subsections ( 1) through ( 13) , hospitals located in areas 1Jith 

727 limited access to trauma center services shall be designated by 

728 the department as Level II trauma centers based on documentation 

729 of a valid certificate of trauma center verification from the 

730 American College of Surgeons. Areas Hith limited access to 

731 trauma center services are defined by the follo',.'ing criteria: 

732 (a) The hospital is located in a trauma service area Hith 

733 a population greater than 600,000 persons but a population 

734 density of less than 225 persons per square mile; 

735 (b) The hospital is located in a county 'oo'ith no verified 

7 3 6 trauma center; and 

737 (c) The hospital is located at least 15 miles or 20 

738 minutes travel time by ground transport from the nearest 

739 verified trauma center. 

740 Section 7. Section 395 .4 03 , Florida Statutes, is amended 

7 41 to read: 

742 395.403 Reimbursement of trauma centers.-

743 (1) All trauma centers shall be considered eligible to 

744 receive state funding when state funds are specifically 

745 appropriated for state state sponsored trauma centers in the 

746 General Appropriations Act. Effective July 1, 2010, The 

747 department shall make payments from the Emergency Medical 

748 Services Trust Fund under s. 2 0 .435 to the trauma centers. 

749 Payments shall be in equal amounts for the trauma centers 

750 designated approved by the department as of July 1 of the fiscal 

Page 30 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

751 yea r in which funding is appropriated . In the event a trauma 

752 center does not maintain its status as a trauma center for any 

753 state fiscal yea r in which such funding is appropriated , the 

754 trauma center shall repay the state for the portion of the year 

755 during which it was not a trauma center. 

756 (2) Trauma centers eligible t o receive distributions fr om 

757 the Emergency Medical Services Trust Fund under s . 20 .4 35 i n 

758 accordance with subsection (1) may request that such funds be 

759 used as intergovernmental transfer funds in the Medicaid 

7 60 program . 

761 (3) In order to receive state funding , a hospital shall be 

762 a trauma center and sha l l : 

763 (a) Agree to conform to all departmental requirements as 

764 provided by rule to assure high quality trauma services. 

765 ~+&t Agree to provide information concerning the 

766 provision of trauma services to the department , in a form and 

767 manner prescribed by rule of the department. 

7 68 (b) +et Agree t o accept all trauma patients , regardless of 

769 ability to pay , on a functional space - available basis . 

770 (4) A trauma center that fails to compl y with any of the 

771 condit i ons listed in subsection (3) may or the applicable rules 

772 of the department shall not receive payments under this section 

773 for the period in which it was not in compliance . 

774 Section 8 . Section 395 . 4036 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

775 to read: 

Page 31 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

776 395.4036 Trauma payments.-

777 (1) Recognizing the Legislature's stated intent to provide 

778 financial support to the current verified trauma centers and to 

779 provide incentives for the establishment of additional trauma 

780 centers as part of a system of state sponsored trauma centers, 

781 The department shall expend utilize funds collected under s. 

782 318 .1 8 and deposited into the Emergency Medical Services Trust 

783 Fund of the department to ensure the availability and 

784 accessibility of trauma services throughout the state as 

785 provided in this subsection. 

786 (a) Funds col lected under s . 318.18(15) shall be 

787 distributed as follows: 

788 1. Twenty percent of the total funds collected during the 

789 state fiscal year shall be distributed to verified trauma 

790 centers that have a local funding contribution as of December 

791 31. Distribution of funds under this subparagraph shall be based 

792 on trauma caseload volume for the most recent calendar year 

7 93 available. 

794 2. Forty percent of the total funds collected shall be 

795 d i stributed to verified trauma centers based on trauma caseload 

7 96 volume for the most recent calendar year available. The 

797 determination of caseload volume for distribution of funds under 

79 8 this subparagraph shall be based on the department ' s Trauma 

799 Registry data . 

800 3. Forty percent of the tota l funds collected shall be 

Page 32 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

801 distr i buted to v e rified t r auma centers ba s ed on s everi ty o f 

802 t r a uma pa t ients for the most recent ca l endar year availabl e . The 

803 determination o f severi ty for distribution of funds unde r th i s 

804 subpa r agraph shall be based on the depa rtme n t ' s Internat i onal 

805 Cla s sificat i on In j ury Se veri t y Scores o r another statisticall y 

806 valid and scienti fi cal l y accepted method o f stratifying a t rauma 

807 pat ient ' s severity of injury , risk of mortali t y , and resource 

808 consumption as adopted by t he department by rule , we i gh t ed based 

809 on the costs associated with and incurred by the trauma center 

810 in treating trauma patients . The weighting of scores sha l l be 

811 establi shed by t he department by rule . 

812 (b) Funds collected under s . 318 . 18(5) (c) and (20) shall 

813 be distributed as fo ll ows : 

814 1. Thirty percent of the tota l fu nds collected shall be 

815 distributed to Level II t rauma centers operated by a p ub li c 

816 hospita l governed by an elected board of d irectors as of 

817 Decembe r 31 , 2008 . 

818 2 . Thirty- five pe r cent of the to t al funds col l ected shall 

819 be d i st ributed to ve rified trauma centers based on trauma 

820 caseload volume fo r the most recent calendar year available . The 

821 dete rmination of caseload volume for d i stribution of funds under 

822 this subparagraph shall be based on the department ' s Trauma 

823 Regist r y data . 

824 3. Thirty- five percent of the tota l funds collected shall 

825 be distributed to v e rifi ed trauma centers based on severi ty of 

Page 33 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

826 trauma patients for the most recent ca l endar year available. The 

827 determination of severity for distribution of funds unde r this 

828 subparagraph shall be based on the department ' s International 

829 Class i fication Injury Severity Scores or anothe r statistically 

830 valid and scientifically accepted method of stratifying a trauma 

831 pat i ent ' s severity of injury, risk of mortali ty, and resource 

832 consumption as adopted by the department by rule, weighted based 

833 on the costs associated with and incurred by the trauma center 

834 in treating trauma patients . The weighting of scores shall be 

835 establ i shed by the department by rule. 

836 (2) Funds depos i ted in the department's Emergency Medical 

837 Services Trust Fund for ve ri fied trauma centers may be used to 

838 maximize the receipt of federal funds that may be avai l able for 

839 such trauma centers. Notwithstanding this section and s . 318. 1 4 , 

840 dis t ributions to trauma centers may be adjusted in a manner to 

841 ensure that total payments to trauma centers represent the same 

842 proportional allocation as set forth in this section and s . 

843 318.14. For purposes of this section and s . 318 . 14 , total funds 

844 distributed to trauma centers may include revenue from the 

845 Emergency Medical Services Trust Fund and federal funds for 

846 which revenue from the Administrative Trust Fund is used to meet 

847 state or local matching requirements. Funds collected under ss . 

848 318 . 14 and 318 . 18 and deposited i n the Emergency Medical 

849 Services Trust Fund of the department shall be distributed to 

850 trauma centers on a quarterly basis using the most recent 

Page 34 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 

851 calendar yea r da t a available. Such data shall not be used for 

852 more than four quarterly distributions unless there are 

2017 

853 extenuating circumstances as determined by the department , in 

854 which case the most recent calendar year data available shall 

855 continue to be used and appropriate adjustments shall be made as 

856 soon as the more recent data becomes available. 

857 (3) (a) Any trauma center not subject to audit pursuant to 

858 s . 215 . 97 shall annuall y attest, under penalties of perjury, 

859 that such proceeds were used in compliance with law. The annual 

860 attestation shall be made in a form and format determined by the 

861 department. The annual attestation shall be submitted to the 

862 department for review within 9 months after the end of the 

863 o r ganization ' s fiscal year . 

864 (b) Any trauma center subject to audit pursuant to s . 

865 215 . 97 shal l submit an audit report in accordance with rules 

866 adopted by the Auditor General. 

867 (4) The department , working with the Agency for Health 

868 Care Administration , shall maximize resources for trauma 

869 services wherever possible . 

870 Section 9. Section 395.404, Florida Statutes , is amended 

871 to read: 

872 395 . 404 Review of trauma registry data; report to centra l 

873 registry ; conf i dentiality and limited release.-

87 4 ( 1) (a ) E-a-efi Trauma centers and eente r shall furnish, and, 

875 upon r equest of the department, a ll acute care hospitals shall 

Page 35 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

876 furnish for department revic< trauma registry data as prescribed 

877 by rule of the department for the purpose of monitoring patient 

878 outcomes outcome and ensuring compliance with the standards of 

879 verificat i on publi shed by a national trauma center accreditation 

880 body approval. 

881 (b) Trauma re g i st r y data obtained pursuant to this 

882 subsection and emergency medical service transport and treatment 

883 re cord s of t r auma alert victims obtained pursuant to s. 40 1. 30 

884 are confidential and exempt from the p rovi sions of s . 119 . 07(1) 

885 and s . 24 (a) , Art . I of the State Constitution . However , the 

886 department may p r ovide such trauma r eg i st r y data to the person , 

887 trauma center , hospital , emergency medical service provider , 

888 local o r r egional trauma agency , medical examiner, or o ther 

889 e nti ty from wh i ch the da t a were obtained . The department may 

890 also use or provide trauma registry data for purposes of 

89 1 resea r ch in accordance wi th the provisions of chapter 405. 

892 (2) Each trauma c enter , pediatric trauma center, and acute 

893 care hospi tal shall report to the department 's b r a i n and spinal 

894 cord in jury centra l registry , consistent with the procedures and 

895 timeframes of s . 38 1. 74 , any person who has a moderate-to-severe 

896 bra in or spinal cord injur y , and shall include i n the report the 

897 name, age , residence, and type of d i sabili ty of the individual 

898 and any additiona l i nformat i on that the department finds 

899 

900 

necessary. 

Section 10. Section 395.4045 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

Page 36 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underl ined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

901 to read: 

902 395.4045 Emergency medical service providers; trauma 

903 transport protocols; transport of trauma alert victims to trauma 

904 centers ; interfacility transfer.-

905 (1) Each emergency medical services provider licensed 

906 under chapter 401 shall transport trauma alert victims to 

907 hospitals designated approved as trauma centers, except as may 

908 be provided for either in the department - approved trauma 

909 transport protocol of the trauma agency for the geographical 

910 area in which the emergency medical services licensee provides 

911 services or , if no such department - approved trauma transport 

912 protocol is in effect, as provided for in a department - approved 

913 provider ' s trauma transport protocol. 

914 (2) A trauma agency may develop a uniform trauma transport 

915 protocol that is applicable to the emergency medical services 

916 licensees providing services within the geographical boundaries 

917 of a the trauma agency . Development of a uniform trauma protocol 

918 by a trauma agency shall be through consultation with interested 

919 parties , including , but not limited to , each approved trauma 

920 center ; physicians specializing in trauma care , emergency care , 

921 and surgery in the geographical area served by a trauma agency 

922 region; each trauma system administrator in the geographical 

923 area served by a trauma agency region ; each emergency medical 

924 service provider in the region licensed under chapter 401 , and 

925 such providers ' respective medical directors . 

Page 37 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

926 (3) Trauma alert victims shall be identified through the 

927 use of a trauma scoring system, including adult and pediatric 

928 assessment as specified in rule of the department. The rule 

929 shall also inc lude the requirements of licensed emergency 

930 medical services providers for performing and documenting these 

931 assessments. 

932 ( 4) The department shall spec ify by rule the subjects and 

933 the minimum criteria related to prehospital trauma transport , 

934 trauma center or hospital destination determinations, and 

935 interfacility trauma transfer transport by an emergency medical 

936 services provider to be included in a trauma agency's or 

937 emergency medical service provider ' s trauma transport protocol 

938 and shall approve or disapprove each such protocol. Trauma 

939 transport protocol rules pertaining to the air transportation of 

940 trauma victims shall be consistent with , but not limited to, 

941 applicable Federal Aviation Administration regulation. Emergency 

942 medical services licensees and trauma agencies shall be subject 

943 to monitoring by the department , under ss. 395 . 401(2) 395.401(3) 

944 and 401.31(1) for compl iance with requirements , as applicable , 

945 regarding trauma transport protocols and the transport of trauma 

94 6 vict ims. 

94 7 (5) If there is no department approved trauma agency 

94 8 trauma transport protocol for the geographical area in '.chich the 

949 emergency medical services license applicant intends to provide 

950 services, as provided for in subsection (1 ) , Each applicant for 

Page 38 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions . 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

951 

952 

953 

954 

955 

956 

957 

958 

959 

960 

961 

962 

963 

96 4 

965 

966 

967 

968 

969 

970 

971 

licensure as an emergency medical services provider, under 

chapter 401, must submit and obtain depa rtment approval of a 

trauma transport protocol prior to the department granting a 

lice nse. The department shall prescribe by rule the submission 

and approval process for an applicant ' s trauma transport 

protocols Hhether the applicant '.Jill be using a trauma agency's 

or its oHn trauma transport protocol. 

(6) If an air ambulance service is available in the trauma 

service area in Hhich an emergency medical service provider is 

located, trauma transport protocols shall not provide for 

transport outside of the trauma service area unless otherHise 

provided for by 'dritten mutual agreement . If air ambulance 

service is not available and there is no agreement for 

interagency transport of trauma patients betHeen t\JO adjacent 

local or regional trauma agencies , both of \<hich include at 

least one approved trauma center , then the transport of A trauma 

patient with an immediately life - threatening condition shal l be 

transported to the most appropriate trauma center as defined 

pursuant to trauma transport protocols approved by the 

department . The provisions of this subsection shall apply only 

to those counties with a population in excess of 1 million 

972 residents . 

973 (7) Prior to an interfacility trauma transfer , the 

974 emergency medical services provi der ' s medical di rect o r or his or 

975 her des ignee must agree, pursuant to protocols and procedures in 

Page 39 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

976 the emergency medical services provider's trauma transport 

977 protocol, that the staff of the transport vehicle has the 

978 medical skills, equipment , and resources to provide anticipated 

979 patient care as proposed by the transferring physician. The 

980 emergency medical services provider's medical director or his or 

981 her designee may require appropriate staffing, equipment , and 

982 resources to ensure proper patient care and safety during 

983 transfer. 

984 ( 8) The department shall adopt and enforce all rules 

985 necessa r y to administer this section. The department shall adopt 

986 and enforce rules to specify the submiss i on and approval process 

987 for trauma transport protocols or modifications to trauma 

988 transport protocols by trauma ageneies and licensed emergency 

989 medical services providers . 

990 Section 11 . Sect i on 395 . 405 , Florida Statutes, is amended 

991 to read : 

992 395 . 405 Rulemaking.-The department shall adopt and enforce 

993 

994 

995 

996 

997 

998 

999 

1000 

al l rules necessary to administer ss. 395 . 401 , 395.4015 , 

395.402 , 395 . 4025 , 395 .4 03 , 395 . 404 , and 395 . 4045. 

Section 12. 

to read: 

Section 395 . 50 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

395.50 Quality assurance activities of trauma agencies .

(1) As used in this section , the term "entity" means a 

loeal trauma agency or a regional trauma ageney that performs 

quality assurance act i v ities, o r a panel or committee assembled 

Page 40 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

1001 

1002 

1003 

1004 

1005 

1006 

1007 

1008 

1 009 

1010 

1 011 

1012 

1013 

1014 

1015 

1016 

1017 

1018 

1019 

1020 

1021 

1022 

1 023 

1 024 

1 025 

HB 1077 

to assist a local trauma agency or a regional trauma agency i n 

performi ng qua l ity assurance act i vities in accordance with the 

trauma agency a plan approved under s . 395 .4 01. 

2017 

(2) A hospital or an emergency medical services provider 

shall disclose records and reports of patient care , transport, 

and treatment to an ent ity , and a hospital or an emergency 

medical services provider may disclose to an entit y and to one 

another its own quality assurance proceedings , records , or 

reports. Howeve r, this section does not require a hospital or an 

emergency medical services provider to d isclose to an ent it y its 

own quali ty assu r ance proceedings, reco rds, or reports prepared 

under s. 395.0191 , s . 395 . 0193 , s. 401.265 , s . 401.30 , s . 

401 . 425 , or s . 766 . 101 . 

(3) A local trauma agency or regional trauma agency may 

assemble a panel or committee to assist in performing the tasks 

authorized by an approved plan under s . 395 . 401 . 

(4) The investiga tions, proceedings , records , and reports 

obtained or made by any entity under this section are not 

subject to discovery or introduction i nto evidence in a c i vil or 

administrative action that arises out of a matter that i s the 

subject of evaluation and review by the entity , and a person who 

attends a meet ing of the ent i ty may not testify in any such 

civil or administrative action as to any evidence or other 

matter produced or presented during the proceedings of the 

entity or as to any findings , recommendations , evaluat i ons , 

Page 41 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

1026 

1027 

1028 

1029 

1030 

1031 

1032 

1033 

1 034 

1035 

1036 

1037 

1038 

1039 

1040 

1041 

1042 

1043 

1044 

1045 

1046 

1047 

1048 

1049 

1050 

HB 1077 2017 

opinions , or other actions o f the entity or any members thereof . 

However , i nformation , documents , or records provided to the 

entity from a source external to the entity are not immune from 

discovery or use in a civil or admini strative action, and a 

person who is a member of the entity may testify in such action 

as to matters within his or her knowledge , but may not be asked 

about his or her testimony before the entity or about 

information obtained from or opinions formed by him or her as a 

result of participating in activities conducted by the entity. 

(5) (a) There is no monetary liability on the part of , and 

no cause of action arises against , any person, including a 

person who acts as a witness , incident reporter to, or 

investigator for an entity for any act or proceeding undertaken 

or performed within the scope of the functions of the entity if 

the action is taken without intentional fraud or malice . 

(b) The provisions of this section do not supersede the 

provisions of s. 768.28. 

(6) Except as provided in subsection (4) , this section 

does not confer immunity from liability on a person for services 

pe r formed outside his or her capacity as a member of an entity 

or upon a person who acts as a witness for , incident reporter 

to , or investigator for the entity for any act or proceeding 

underta ken or performed outside the scope of the functions of 

the ent i ty. 

(7) If the defendant prevails in an action brought by a 

Page 42 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions . 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1051 

1052 

1053 

1054 

1055 

1056 

1057 

1058 

1059 

1060 

1061 

1062 

1063 

1064 

1065 

1066 

1067 

1068 

1069 

1070 

1071 

1072 

1073 

1074 

1075 

HB 1077 

person against a person who initiated, participated in, was a 

witness in, or conducted any review as authorized by this 

section , the court shall award reasonable attorney 's fees and 

costs t o the defendant . 

(8) Nothing in this section, so. 395.4001 395.405, or s . 

395 .51 prohibits admitting into evidence patient ca re, 

2017 

transport, or treatment records or reports , or records or 

reports of the department in any civil or administrative action 

brought by or involving the department , excluding the name, 

residence or business address, telephone number , social security 

or other identifying number , or photograph of any person or the 

spouse, relative, o r guardian of sueh person or other patient 

speeifie information that othenJise identifies the patient , 

either directly or indirectly. 

Section 13 . Sect i on 320.0801 , Florida Statutes , is amended 

to read : 

320 . 0801 Additiona l li cense tax on certain vehicles .-

(1) In addition to the license taxes specified in s . 

320 . 08 and in subsection (2) , there is hereby levied and imposed 

an annual license tax o f 1 0 cents for the operation of a motor 

vehic le, as defined in s. 320.01 , and moped , as defined in s . 

316 . 003 , which tax shall be paid t o the department or it s agent 

upon the registration or renewal o f registration of the vehic l e. 

Notwithstanding s. 320 . 20 , revenues collec ted from the tax 

imposed in this subsection shall be depos ited in the Emergency 

Page 43 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1076 

1077 

1078 

1079 

1080 

1081 

1082 

1083 

1084 

1085 

1086 

1 087 

1088 

1089 

1090 

1091 

1092 

1093 

1094 

1095 

1096 

1097 

1098 

1099 

1100 

HB 1077 

Medical Services Trust Fund and used sole l y for the purpose of 

carrying out ss . 395 . 401 , 395 . 4015 , 395 . 4025 , 395 . 404 , and 

395 . 4045 and s . 11 , chapter 87 399 , Laws of Florida . 

2017 

(2) In addition to the license taxes imposed by s . 320.08 

and by subsection (1) , there is imposed an additional surcharge 

of $10 on each commercial motor vehicle hav i ng a gross vehicle 

weight of 10 , 000 pounds or more , which surcharge must be paid to 

the department o r its agent upon the registration or renewal of 

registration of the commercial motor vehic l e . Notwithstanding 

the provisions of s . 320.20 , 50 percent of the revenues 

collected from the surcharge imposed in this subsection shall be 

deposited into the State Transportation Trust Fund , and 50 

percent shall be deposited in the General Revenue Fund . 

Section 14. Paragraph (1 ) of subsection (3) of section 

408 . 036 , Florida Statutes , is amended to read : 

408.036 Projects subject to review ; exemptions . -

(3) EXEMPTIONS .-Upon request , the following projects are 

subject to exemption from the provisions of subsect i on (1): 

(1) For the establishment of : 

1 . A Level II neonatal intensive care unit with at least 

10 beds , upon documentation to the agency that the applicant 

hospital had a minimum of 1 , 500 b i rths during the previous 12 

months ; 

2 . A Level III neonatal intensive care unit with at least 

15 beds , upon documentation to the agency that the applicant 

Page 44 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



---- - - -- --

FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

110 1 

1102 

1103 

1104 

11 05 

1106 

1107 

1108 

1109 

1110 

1111 

1112 

111 3 

1114 

1115 

1116 

1117 

11 1 8 

1119 

1120 

11 21 

1122 

1123 

1124 

1125 

HB 1077 2017 

hospital has a Level II neonata l intensive care unit of at least 

10 beds and had a minimum of 3 , 500 births dur i ng the prev i ous 12 

months ; or 

3. A Level III neonatal i n t e n s i ve care unit wi th at least 

5 beds , upon documentat i on to the agency that the appl i cant 

hospital is a des i gnated ve ri f i ed trauma center p u rsuant to s . 

395 . 4001(17) 395 . 400 1 (1 4) , and has a Level II neonata l intensive 

care unit , 

if the applicant demonstrates that it meets the requi rements f or 

qual i ty of care , nurse staffing , physic ian staffing , physical 

plant , equipment , emergency tra nsportat i on , and data r eporting 

found i n agency ce r t ifi cate - of - need ru l es for Level II and Leve l 

III neonata l i n t ens i v e ca r e un i ts and if the app l icant commi ts 

to the provi sion of services to Medicaid and charity pat i ents at 

a l eve l equal to or greater than t h e d i strict average . Su ch a 

commitment i s subject to s . 408 . 040 . 

Section 15 . Paragraph (a) of subsection (1) of sect i on 

409.975 , Fl or i da Statutes , is amended to read : 

409 . 975 Managed care p l an account abi l ity.-In add i t i on t o 

the r equ i rements of s . 409 . 967 , plans and provide r s 

participating in the managed medical assistance progr am shall 

comply wi th the requ i rements o f th i s sect i on . 

(1) PROVIDER NETWORKS.-Managed care plans must develop and 

maintain provi der netwo r ks t hat meet the medical needs o f their 

Page 45 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

1126 

1127 

1128 

1129 

11 30 

1131 

1132 

1133 

1134 

1135 

1136 

1137 

1138 

1139 

1140 

1141 

1142 

1143 

1144 

1145 

1146 

1147 

1148 

1149 

1150 

HB 1077 

enrollees in accordance with standards established pursuant to 

s . 409.967(2) (c). Except as provided in this section, managed 

care plans may limit the providers in their networks based on 

credentia l s, quality indicators, and price . 

2017 

(a) Plans must include all provi ders in the region that 

are classified by the agency as essential Medicaid providers, 

unless the agency approves, in writing , an alternative 

arrangement for securing the types of services offered by the 

essential providers. Providers are essential for serving 

Medicaid enrollees if they offer servi ces that are not available 

from any other provider within a reasonable access standard, or 

if they provided a substantial share of the total units of a 

particular service used by Medicaid patients within the region 

during the last 3 years and the combined capacity of other 

service providers in the region is insufficient to meet the 

total needs of the Medicaid patients. The agency may not 

classify physicians and other practitioners as essent i al 

providers . The agency , at a minimum, shall determine which 

provi ders in the following categories are essential Medicaid 

providers: 

1 . Federally qualified health centers. 

2. Statutory teaching hospitals as defined in s . 

408 . 07(45). 

3. Hospitals that are trauma centers as defined in s. 

395.4001(17) 395.4001(14). 

Page 46 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

1151 

1152 

1153 

1154 

1155 

1156 

1157 

115 8 

1159 

1160 

1161 

1162 

1163 

1164 

1165 

1166 

1167 

1168 

1169 

1170 

1171 

1172 

1 1 73 

1174 

1175 

HB 1077 

4. Hospitals located at least 25 miles from any other 

hospital with similar services. 

2017 

Managed care plans that have not contracted with all essential 

providers in the region as of the first date of recipient 

enrollment , or with whom an essential provider has terminated 

its contract , must negot iate in good faith with such essent i a l 

providers for 1 year or until an agreement is reached , whichever 

is first. Payments f o r servi ces rendered by a n onparti cipat ing 

essent ial provider shall be made at the applicable Medicaid rate 

as of the first day of the contract between the agency and the 

p lan. A r ate schedule for all essent ial prov i ders shall be 

attached to the contract between the agency and the plan . After 

1 year , managed care plans that are unable to contract with 

essential providers shall notify the agency and propose an 

a lternative arrangement for securing the essential services for 

Medicaid enrollees . The arrangement must rely on contracts with 

other participating providers, regardless of whether those 

providers are l ocated within the same regi on as the 

nonparticipating essent i a l service provider. If the alternative 

arrangement is approved by the agency , payments to 

nonpa r ticipating essential providers a fter the date of the 

agency 's approval shall equal 90 pe r cent o f the applicable 

Medica i d r ate . Except fo r payment for emergency services , if the 

alternati ve arrangement is not approved by the agency , payment 

Page 47 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1077 2017 

11 76 to nonpartic i pating essenti a l p r ov i ders shall equa l 1 10 percen t 

1177 of the appl i cab l e Medi ca i d rate . 

1178 Secti on 16. This act sha l l t ake effec t Jul y 1 , 2017 . 

Page 48 of 48 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1077-00 





HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES STAFF ANALYSIS 

BILL#: HB 1191 Medication Synchronization 
SPONSOR(S): Cruz 
TIED BILLS: IDEN./SIM. BILLS: SB 800 

REFERENCE ACTION ANALYST 

1) Health Innovation Subcommittee Langston 

2) Insurance & Banking Subcommittee 

3) Health & Human Services Committee 

SUMMARY ANALYSIS 

STAFF DIRECTOR or 
BUDGET/POLICY CHIEF 

Poche 

Medication synchronization is the process of a pharmacy coordinating all of a patient's prescription 
medications to fill them on the same date each month. In order to achieve this, some medications may need an 
early or short refill to align all the prescription medications. Recently, several states have enacted laws that 
require health insurance plans to make partial supplies of prescriptions available to consumers at a reduced 
cost-sharing amount for medication synchronization purposes. Currently, Florida does not require health plans 
to make partial supplies of prescriptions available to consumers at a reduced cost-sharing amount for 
medication synchronization . 

HB 1191 requires health insurers and HMOs to approve a partial supply of medication for the purpose of 
syncing an insured's medications and to apply a prorated daily cost-sharing rate. Health insurance policies and 
HMO contracts that provide prescription drug coverage must cover a partial supply of a medication dispensed 
by a network pharmacy at a prorated rate if the prescribing practitioner or pharmacist determines the fill or refill 
to be in the best interests of the insured, and the insured requests or agrees to a partial supply for the purpose 
of synchronizing his or her medications. 

For the purposes of medication synchronization, the health insurance policy or HMO contract must allow a 
network pharmacy to override any denial code indicating that a prescription is being refilled too soon. 
Additionally, the health insurer or HMO must pay the pharmacy in full for each prescription dispensed, 
regardless of any prorated copay for the beneficiary or fee paid for alignment services. 

The bill will have an indeterminate fiscal impact on the State Group Insurance Program and no fiscal impact on 
local governments. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

This document does not reflect the intent or official position of the bill sponsor or House of Representatives. 
STORAGE NAME: h1191.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



FULL ANALYSIS 

I. SUBSTANTIVE ANALYSIS 

A. EFFECT OF PROPOSED CHANGES: 

Current Situation 

Medication Synchronization 

Medication synchronization is the process of a pharmacy coordinating all of a patient's prescription 
medications to fill them on the same date each month. 1 In order to achieve this, some medications may 
need an early or short refill to align all of the patient's prescription medications.2 Without medication 
synchronization, pharmacy workflow operates around patients bringing in new prescriptions, calling for 
medication refills, and picking up their mediations at their convenience, with those who are on multiple 
medications often visiting the pharmacy many times a month, which creates inefficiency for the patient 
and the pharmacy. 3 Medication synchronization programs can reduce the administrative burden on 
patients who take multiple medications by centering all prescription refills to a common monthly or 
quarterly fill date.4 Medication synchronization may also offer pharmacies a mechanism to improve 
workload and inventory control.5 

Medication Synchronization in Other States 

Recently, several states have enacted laws that require health insurance plans to make partial supplies 
of prescriptions available to consumers at a reduced cost-sharing amount for medication 
synchronization purposes. In 2015, Arizona enacted a law that requires pharmacies to dispense an 
early refill or a short fill and to prorate the cost for a refill for less than the standard refill amount if such 
a refill is for medication synchronization6

. It defines medication synchronization as, "the coordination of 
medication refills for a patient taking two or more medications for a chronic condition that are being 
dispensed by a single contracted pharmacy to facilitate the synchronization of the patient's medications 
for the purpose of improving medication adherence." Maine,7 New Mexico,8 and Washington9 enacted 
similar measures in 2015. Kentucki 0 and Oregon 11 also enacted similar measures in 20 15; however, 
they placed limits on which medications were subject to the new laws, prohibiting early and short refills 
of Schedule II and certain Schedule II I controlled substances. 

In 2016, Missouri enacted similar medication synchronization legislation, which also required the health 
insurance carrier or managed care plan to pay a full dispensing fee to the pharmacy for any 
prescription dispensed in a quantity less than the prescribed amount to align prescriptions. 12 Ohio also 
enacted a medication synchronization law in 2016; in addition to prohibitions on Schedule II controlled 

1 National Community Pharmacist Association , Model Legislation: Patient Protection & Medication Synchronization, available at: 
http://www.ncpa.co/pdf/state/med-synch-model-leqislation.pdf (last visited March 25, 2017). 
2 ld . 
3 American Pharmacists Association Foundation , Pharmacy's Appointment Based Model: A prescription synchronization program that 
improves adherence, Jul. 2015, available at: https:l/naspa.us/wp-content/uploads/2015/07/ABMWhitePaper-FINAL-201309233.pdf (last 
visited March 22, 2017). 
4 Academy of Managed Care Pharmacy, Medication Synchronization, 2015, p. 1, available at: 
http://www.amcp.org/WorkArea/DownloadAsset.aspx?id=20019 (last visited March 25, 2017). 
5 National Association of Boards of Pharmacy, Report of the Task Force on Medication Synchronization, 2016, p. 2, available at: 
https://nabp.pharmacy/wp-content/uploads/2016/07/MedSynchTFReport-Final.pdf (last visited March 25, 2017). 
6 Ariz. Rev. Stat. ss. 20-848; 20-1057.15; 20-1376.07; 20-1406.07. 
7 Me. Rev. Stat. tit. 24-A s. 2769. 
8 N.M. Stat. ss. 59A-22-1978; 59A-23-1978. 
9 Wash. Rev. Code ss. 48.43; 41.05. 
1° Ky. Rev. Stat. s. 304.17A-165. 
11 2014 Or. Laws ch. 25, ss. 2; 4. 
12 Mo. Rev. Stat. s. 376.379. 
STORAGE NAME: h1191 .HIS PAGE : 2 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



substances, it also limits the number of times a consumer may synchronize his or her medications to 
once per year. 13 

Federal Health Care Requirements 

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act 

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (PPACA)14 created many new health insurance 
requirements, including required essential health benefits (EHB) and cost-sharing limits. 15 PPACA 
requires insurers and HMOs of qualified health plans (QHPs) to provide coverage of EHBs in at least 
1 0 specified categories, including prescription drugs.16 To be certified as a QHP, the insurer or HMO 
must submit an application, follow established limits on cost sharing, and be certified by the federal 
Health Insurance Marketplace. 17 

QHPs must provide access to prescription drug benefits. An individual or small group health plan 18 

must allow enrollees to obtain prescription drug benefits at in-network retail pharmacies, unless a drug 
is subject to restricted distribution by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration; or requires special 
handling, provider coordination, or patient education that cannot be provided by a retail pharmacy. A 
QHP has the flexibility to charge a lower cost-sharing amount when obtaining the drug at an in-network 
retail pharmaci 9 and only needs to provide enrollees with the option to access drugs that are not 
exempted at a network retail pharmacy. 20 

Federal law does not require health insurers and HMOs to make partial supplies of prescriptions 
available to consumers at a reduced cost-sharing amount for medication synchronization. 

Medicare Part D 

The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 200321 established a 
voluntary, outpatient, prescription drug benefit under Medicare Part D, effective January 1, 2006. 
Medicare Part D provides coverage through private prescription drug plans that offer only drug 
coverage, or through Medicare Advantage prescription drug plans that offer coverage as part of 
broader, managed care plans. 

While federal law does not require medication synchronization by QHPs, beginning in 2014, the 
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services requires health plans administering Medicare Part D plans 
to apply a daily cost-sharing rate to most prescriptions that are dispensed for less than a 30-day 
supply. 22 

13 Oh. Rev. Stat. ss. 1751 .68 and 3923.602. 
14 The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (Pub. L. 111-148) was enacted on March 23, 2010. The Health Care and 
Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (Pub. L. 111-152), which amended and revised several provisions of the Patient Protection and 
Affordable Care Act, was enacted on March 30, 2010. P.L. 111-148. Most of the insurance regulatory provisions in PPACA amend Title 
XXVII of the Public Health Service Act, 42 U.S.C. s. 300gg et seq . 
15 42 U.S.C. s. 18022; 45 CFR s. 156.110 et seq . 
16 ld., see also, Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Information on Essential Health Benefits (EHB) Benchmark Plans, 
available at: https://www.cms.gov/cciio/resources/data-resources/ehb.html (last visited March 23, 2017). 
17 Center for Consumer Information & Insurance Oversight, Qualified Health Plans, available at: https://www.cms.gov/CCIIO/Programs
and-lnitiatives/Health-lnsurance-Marketplaces/qhp.html (last visited March 25, 2017). 
18 The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (Pub. L. 111-148). This regulation does not apply to large group plans, self-insured 
~lans , transitional plans, or grandfathered plans. 
9 45 C.F.R. s. 156.135. 

20 45 C.F.R. s. 156.122(e). 
21 PL 108-173. 
22 Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Medicare Part 0 Overutilization Monitoring System- Updates, (Oct. 25, 2013), 
available at: https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Prescription-Drug-Coveraqe/PrescriptionDruqCovContra/Downloads/MemoMedicare-Part
D-OMS-Updates-1 0-25-13.pdf {last visited March 25, 2017); Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, Copayment!coinsurance in 
drug plans, available at:https://www.medicare.gov/part-d/costs/copayment-coinsurance/drug-plan-copayments.html {last visited March 
25, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1191.HIS PAGE: 3 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Regulation of Insurance in Florida 

Regulation of Health Insurers and Health Maintenance Organizations 

The regulatory oversight of insurance companies is generally reserved to the states. In Florida, the 
Office of Insurance Regulation (OIR) is responsible for all activities concerning insurers and other risk 
bearing entities, as provided under the insurance code. OIR regulates health insurer provider contracts 
under part VI of ch . 627, F.S. and health maintenance organization (HMO) contracts and rates under 
part I of ch. 641, F.S. To operate in Florida, an HMO must obtain a certificate of authority from OIR.23 

The Agency for Health Care Administration (AHCA) regulates the quality of care provided by HMOs 
under part Ill of ch. 641 , F.S. Before receiving a certificate of authority from OIR, an HMO must receive 
a Health Care Provider Certificate from AHCA.24 

The Florida Insurance Code requires health insurers and HMOs to provide an outline of coverage or 
other information describing the benefits, coverages, and limitations of a policy or contract. This may 
include an outline of coverage, including prescription drug coverage, describing the principal exclusions 
and limitations of the policy.25 Section 641.31(4), F.S., requires each contract, certificate, or member 
handbook of an HMO to delineate the services, including prescription drug coverage, for which a 
subscriber is entitled and any limitations under the contract. 

Pharmacy Benefit Managers 

Health insurers and HMOs contract with pharmacy benefit managers (PBMs) to help manage 
prescription drug benefits. PBMs are sometimes referred to as the middlemen in the prescription drug 
market because they act as intermediaries between health plan sponsors and drug manufacturers and 
pharmacies.26 PBMs provide specified services, which may include developing and managing 
pharmacy networks, developing drug formularies, providing mail order and specialty pharmacy 
services, providing support services for physicians and beneficiaries, and processing claims. 27 Their 
contracts with PBMs also establish how pharmacies will be reimbursed for prescriptions they dispense 
to health plan sponsor beneficiaries.28 

State Employees' Prescription Drug Program 

The State Group Insurance Program (SGI Program) was created by s. 110.123, F.S., and is 
administered by the Division of State Group Insurance within the Department of Management Services 
(OMS). The SGI Program is an optional benefit for all state employees including all state agencies, 
state universities, the court system, and the Legislature, and includes health, life, dental, vision, 
disability, and other supplemental insurance benefits. 

As part of the SGI Program, OMS is required to maintain the State Employees' Prescription Drug 
Program (Prescription Drug Plan).29 OMS contracts with CVS/Caremark, a PBM, to administer the 
Prescription Drug Plan.30 A member can receive up to a 30-day supply of prescription medication at a 
retail pharmacy in the Prescription Drug Plan network and up to a 90-day supply at a mail order 
pharmacy or at a participating 90-day retail pharmacy. 

23 S. 641 .21(1) and 641.49, F.S. 
24 S. 641.21(1) and 641.48, F.S . 
25 S. 627.642 , F.S. 
26 Office of Program Policy Analysis & Government Accountability, Legislature Could Consider Options to Address Pharmacy Benefit 
Manager Business Practices, Report No. 07-08 (Feb. 2007), available at: 
http://www.oopaga.state.fl.us/MonitorDocs/Reports/pdf/0708rpt.pdf (last visited March 25, 2017). 
27 ld. 
28 ld. 
29 S. 110.12315, F.S. 
30 Department of Management Services, myFiorida, Prescription Drug Plan, available at: 
http://mybenefits.myflorida .com/health/health insurance plans/prescription drug plan (last visited March 25, 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1191.HIS PAGE: 4 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



Currently, the SGI Program does not allow for the synchronization of medication if it requires an early 
refill. 

Effect of Proposed Changes 

HB 1191 requires certain health insurers and HMOs to approve a partial supply of medication for the 
purpose of syncing an insured's medications and to apply a prorated daily cost-sharing rate for such 
partial refills. 

Health insurance policies and HMO contracts that provide prescription drug coverage must cover a 
partial supply of a medication dispensed by a network pharmacy at a prorated rate if: 

• The prescribing practitioner or pharmacist determines the fill or refill to be in the best interests of 
the insured; and 

• The insured requests or agrees to a partial supply for the purpose of synchronizing his or her 
medications. 

This will allow patients to obtain a partial refill to align all their medications, without incurring any 
additional costs for refilling too soon or having to pay more than the prorated rate for a partial refill. 
Aligning prescription refill dates will necessitate fewer trips to the pharmacy for refills , which may 
reduce gaps in therapies because of improved adherence to prescription medication regimens. 

For the purposes of medication synchronization, the health insurance policy or HMO contract must 
allow a network pharmacy to override any denial code indicating that a prescription is being refilled too 
soon. Additionally, the insurer or HMO must pay the pharmacy in full for each prescription dispensed, 
regardless of any prorated copay for the beneficiary or fee paid for alignment services. Insurers and 
HMOs may have to update their contracts with pharmacies or PBMs to allow network pharmacies to 
override the denial code; insurers and HMOs may also have to update their policies for how they 
reimburse for partial prescription refills to ensure that the pharmacy gets a full dispensing fee when the 
partial refill is for medication synchronization. 

The bill provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

B. SECTION DIRECTORY: 

Section 1: Creates s. 627.64196, F.S., relating to requirements for the partial fill or refill of prescriptions 
for medication synchronization purposes. 

Section 2: Amends s. 641.31 , F.S., relating to health maintenance contracts. 
Section 3: Provides an effective date of July 1, 2017. 

II. FISCAL ANALYSIS & ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT 

A. FISCAL IMPACT ON STATE GOVERNMENT: 

1. Revenues: 

None. 

2. Expenditures: 

For each partial refill made for the purpose of medication synchronization, OMS expects an initial 
low-cost negative fiscal impact to the SGI Program. However OMS anticipates greater member 
adherence to prescription medication regimens for chronic conditions, which should result in overall 
lower medical spending in the SGI Program 

STORAGE NAME: h1191 .HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 5 



DMS will need to make changes to the summary plan description currently used by the SGI 
Program's PBM to allow for prescriptions to be filled at any point for medication synchronization. 31 

DMS would also need to develop and incorporate a proration schedule outlining and creating 
prorated copayment amounts for medication synchronization. 

B. FISCAL IMPACT ON LOCAL GOVERNMENTS: 

1. Revenues: 
None. 

2. Expenditures: 
None. 

C. DIRECT ECONOMIC IMPACT ON PRIVATE SECTOR: 

There may be new administrative costs for insurers and pharmacies to institute daily cost sharing rates 
for partial fills and refills .32 Some insurers may also incur costs to revise their forms to comply with the 
bill. 33 Insurers may have to renegotiate or amend their contracts with PBMs to take into account the 
bill 's requirements. 

D. FISCAL COMMENTS: 

For SGI Program members with a Preferred Provider Organization plan filling maintenance medications 
at a retail pharmacy, any "partial" fill would count as one of their three 30-day fills at retail before being 
required to use 90-day retail refill or 90-day mail order refill. 34 

Ill. COMMENTS 

A. CONSTITUTIONAL ISSUES: 

1. Applicability of Municipality/County Mandates Provision: 

Not applicable. The bill does not appear to affect county or municipal governments. 

2. Other: 

None. 

B. RULE-MAKING AUTHORITY: 

None. 

C. DRAFTING ISSUES OR OTHER COMMENTS: 

The deadline for insurers and HMOs to submit their 2018 rates and forms for products on or off the 
exchange is May 3, 2017. 35 The effective date of the bill is in the middle of the plan year for most health 

31 Department of Management Services, Agency Analysis of 2017 House Bill 1191 (Mar. 12, 2017) (on file with Health Innovation 
Subcommittee staff) . 
32 Office of Insurance Regulation, Agency Analysis of 2017 House Bi/11191 (Mar. 7, 2017) (on file with Health Innovation Subcommittee 
staff). 
33 ld. 
34 Supra , FN 31. 
STORAGE NAME: h1191.HIS PAGE: 6 
DATE: 3/26/2017 



insurance plans . An effective date of January 1, 2018 may allow additional time for health insurers and 
HMOs to implement the provisions of the bill. 

Additionally, s. 11 0.12315(11 ), F.S., may need to be amended to incorporate provisions regarding 
prorated member cost-share for medication synchronization in the Prescription Drug Plan. 

IV. AMENDMENTS/ COMMITTEE SUBSTITUTE CHANGES 

35 Office of Insurance Regulation, Guidance to Insurers, available at: 
http://www.floir.com/sitedocuments/PPACANoticetolndustry201802032017 .pdf {last visited March 25 , 2017). 
STORAGE NAME: h1191.HIS 
DATE: 3/26/2017 

PAGE: 7 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T V E S 

HB 1191 2017 

1 A bill to be entitled 

2 An act relating to medication synchronization ; 

3 creating s . 627 . 64196 , F . S . , and amending s . 641.31 , 

4 F . S .; prohibiting , under certain circumstances , 

5 certain health insurance policies and health 

6 maintenance contrac t s , respectively , from denying 

7 coverage for partia l supplies of med i cat i on dispensed 

8 by network pharmacies ; requiring such policies and 

9 contracts to authorize and apply a prorated daily 

10 cost - sharing rate to certain presc r iptions under 

11 ce rtain circumstances ; r equiring such policies and 

12 contracts to allow network pharmacies to override 

13 denial codes under certain circumstances ; prohibit i ng 

14 such policies and contracts from using payment 

15 structures incorporating prorated dispensing fees ; 

16 providing requirements for dispensing fees for 

17 partially filled o r r efilled prescriptions ; providing 

18 an effective date . 

19 

20 Be It Enacted by the Leg i slature of the State of Florida : 

21 

22 

23 

Section 1 . 

to read : 

Section 627 . 64196 , Florida Statutes , is created 

24 627 . 64196 Requirements fo r the part i al fill or ref i l l of 

25 prescriptions for med i cation synchronization purposes. -

Page 1 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1191-00 



F L 0 R D A H 0 U S E 0 F REPRESENTATIVES 

26 

27 

28 

29 

30 

31 

32 

33 

34 

35 

36 

3 7 

38 

HB 1191 2017 

(1 ) An individual o r group health in s urance policy 

provi ding prescription drug coverage in this state may not deny 

coverage f o r a part i a l supply of medication dispensed by a 

network pharmacy and must authoriz e and apply a prorated daily 

cost - sharing rate to prescriptions that are dispensed by a 

network pha rmac y for the par t i al supply if: 

(a) The prescribing practitioner or p h armacist determines 

the fill o r ref ill to be in the best interest of the insured ; 

and 

(b) The insured requests or agrees to a part ial suppl y f or 

the purpose of synchronizing h i s or he r medi cations . 

(2) An indivi dual or group health insurance policy : 

(a) Must allow , for the purposes of medication 

39 synchronization , a ne t wo rk pharmacy to override any denial code 

40 i ndicat ing that a prescription is being refilled too soon . 

41 (b) May n ot use payment structures incorpo rating prorated 

42 dispensing fees . Dispensing fees for partially filled o r 

43 refi lled prescriptions mus t be paid i n full for each 

44 prescription d i spensed , regardless of any prorated copay for the 

45 benef i c i ary o r fee pa i d f o r alignment services. 

46 Section 2 . Subsect i o n (44) is added to sect i on 641 . 31, 

47 Flor i da Statutes , to read : 

48 641.31 Health maintenance contracts.-

4 9 ( 4 4 ) (a) A health maintenan ce contract providing 

50 prescr i pt i on drug cove r age in thi s state may not deny cove rage 

Page 2 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1191-00 



FLORIDA H 0 U S E 0 F R E P R E S E N T A T I V E S 

HB 1191 

51 for the dispensing of a partial supply of medication by a 

52 network pharmacy and must authorize and apply a prorated daily 

53 cost - sharing rate to prescriptions that are dispensed by a 

54 network pharmacy for the partial supply if: 

55 1. The prescribing practitioner or pharmacist determines 

2017 

56 the fill or ref ill to be in the best interest of the subscriber ; 

57 and 

58 2. The subscriber requests or agrees to a partia l supply 

59 for the purpose of synchronizing h i s or her medications. 

60 (b) A health maintenance contract: 

61 1. Must a ll ow , for the purposes of medication 

62 synchronization, a network pharmacy to override any denial code 

63 indicating that a prescription is being refilled t oo soon. 

64 2 . May not use payment structures incorporating prorated 

65 dispensing fees. Dispens ing fees for partially filled or 

66 refilled prescriptions must be paid in full for each 

67 prescription dispensed, regardless of any prorated copay for the 

68 beneficiary or fee paid for alignment services. 

69 Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1 , 2017 . 

Page 3 of 3 

CODING: Words stricken are deletions; words underlined are additions. 

hb1191-00 



1111111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 1191 (2017) 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE ACTION 

ADOPTED (Y/N) 

ADOPTED AS AMENDED 

ADOPTED W/ 0 OBJECTION 

FAILED TO ADOPT 

WITHDRAWN 

OTHER 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

(Y/N) 

1 Committee / Subcommittee hearing bill: Health Innovation 

2 Subcommittee 

3 Representative Cruz offered the following: 

4 

5 Amendment (with title amendment) 

6 Remove everything after the enacting clause and insert: 

7 Section 1. Section 627.64196, Florida Statutes, is created to 

8 read: 

9 627.64196 Medication synchronization.-An individual or 

10 group health insurance policy issued or delivered in this state 

11 which provides prescription drug coverage shall offer medication 

12 synchronization services to allow an insured to align the refill 

13 dates for prescription drugs covered by the policy at least once 

14 in a plan year. The insurer shall implement a policy for 

15 dispensing prescription drugs to an insured for the purpose of 

16 aligning the refill dates of such drugs, and such medication 

689821 - h1191-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:07:16 PM 

Page 1 of 4 



1111111111 111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 1191 (2017) 

17 s ynchronization shall be a vailable only through a network 

18 pharmacy . A controlled substance, a prescription drug dispensed 

19 in an unbreakable package, or a multi-dose unit of a 

20 prescription drug may not be partially filled for the purpose of 

21 aligning refill dates. The insurer shall pay a full dispensing 

22 fee to the network pharmacy for each partial refill of a covered 

23 prescription drug done for the purpose of aligning refill dates, 

24 unless otherwise agreed to by the plan and the network pharmacy 

25 at the time an insured requests medication s ynchronization. The 

26 insurer shall prorate the cost-sharing obligations of the 

27 insured for each partial refill of a covered prescription drug 

28 done for the purpose of aligning refill dates. This section 

29 applies to policies renewed or entered into on or after January 

30 1, 2018. 

31 Section 2. Subsection (44) is added to section 641.31, 

32 Florida Statutes, to read: 

33 (44) A health maintenance contract issued or delivered in 

34 this state which provides prescription drug coverage shall offer 

35 medication s ynchronization services to allow a subscriber to 

36 align the refill dates for prescription drugs covered by the 

37 contract at least once in a plan year. The health maintenance 

38 organization shall implement a policy for dispensing 

39 prescription drugs to a subscriber for the purpose of aligning 

40 the refill dates of such drugs, and such medication 

41 s ynchronization shall be available only through a network 

689821 - h1191-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:07:16 PM 

Page 2 of 4 



1111111111111111111111111111 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 1191 (2017) 

42 pharmacy. A controlled substance, a prescription drug dispensed 

43 

44 

45 

46 

47 

48 

49 

50 

51 

52 

53 

54 

55 

56 

57 

58 

59 

in an unbreakable package, or a multi-dose unit of a 

prescription drug may not be partially filled for the purpose of 

aligning refill dates. The health maintenance organization shall 

pay a full dispensing fee to the network pharmacy for each 

partial refill of a covered prescription drug done for the 

purpose of aligning refill dates, unless otherwise agreed to by 

the health maintenance organization and the network pharmacy at 

the time a subscriber requests medication synchronization. The 

health maintenance organization shall prorate the cost-sharing 

obligations of the subscriber for each partial refill of a 

covered prescription drug done for the purpose of aligning 

refill dates. This subsection applies to contracts renewed or 

entered into on or after January 1, 2018. 

Section 3. This act shall take effect July 1, 2017. 

T I T L E A M E N D M E N T 

60 Remove lines 4-17 and insert: 

61 F.S.; requiring certain health insurance policies and health 

62 maintenance contracts, respectively, to provide medication 

63 synchronization services to allow an insured or subscriber to 

64 align refill dates of all covered prescription drugs no more 

65 than twice in a plan year; prohibiting a controlled substance, a 

66 prescription drug dispensed in an unbreakable package, or a 

689821 - hll91-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:07:16 PM 

Page 3 of 4 



llllllllllllllllllllllllllll 

Amendment No. 

COMMITTEE / SUBCOMMITTEE AMENDMENT 

Bill No. HB 1191 (2017) 

67 multi-dose unit of a prescription drug from being partially 

68 filled for the purpose of aligning refill dates; requiring a 

69 health insurer or health maintenance organization to pay a full 

70 dispensing fee to a network pharmacy for each partial refill of 

71 a covered prescription drug done for alignment purposes; 

72 providing for prorated cost-sharing obligations for each 

73 partially refilled prescription drug; apply ing the provisions of 

74 the bill to insurance policies and health maintenance contracts 

75 renewed or entered into on or after January 1, 2018 ; prov iding 

689821 - h1191-strike.docx 

Published On: 3 / 24 / 2017 6:07 : 16 PM 

Page 4 of 4 


